Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators

by

Joshua Brummer

B.A., University of Nebraska at Kearney, 2013

M.A., Kansas State University, 2015

AN ABSTRACT OF A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Mathematics College of Arts and Sciences

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2018

Abstract

Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators have received considerable attention due to their applications in obtaining fractional Leibniz rules and the study of various partial differential equations. Generally speaking, fractional Leibniz rules provide a way of estimating the size and smoothness of a product of functions in terms of the size and smoothness of the individual functions themselves. Such rules are helpful in determining well-posedness results for solutions of PDEs modeling a variety of real world phenomena, ranging from Euler and Navier-Stokes equations (which model incompressible fluid flow, such as airflow over a wing) to Korteweg-de Vries equations (which model waves on shallow water surfaces).

Bilinear pseudodifferential operators act to combine two functions using their Fourier transforms and a symbol, which is a function that assigns different weights to the functions' frequency components as they are combined. Thus, Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators serve as a generalization of fractional Leibniz rules by providing estimates on the size and smoothness of some combination of two functions, for which pointwise multiplication is recoverable by choosing a symbol identically equal to one. A variety of function spaces may be used to measure the size and smoothness of functions involved, including Lebesgue spaces, Sobolev spaces, and Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Further, bilinear pseudodifferential operators may be considered in association with different classes of symbols, which is to say that the symbol itself (and possibly its derivatives) will possess certain decay properties.

New Leibniz-type rules in two different settings will be presented in this manuscript. In the first setting, Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators with homogeneous symbols in a certain class are proved, where the sizes of the functions involved are measured using a combination of Lebesgue space norms and norms corresponding to function spaces admitting appropriate molecular decompositions, specifically focusing on the case of homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces. In the second setting, Leibniz-type rules and biparameter counterparts are proved in weighted Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces associated to Coifman-Meyer multiplier operators. All of the new Leibniztype rules proved in the manuscript yield corresponding new fractional Leibniz rules, which are highlighted as appropriate. Various techniques from Fourier analysis serve as important tools in the proofs of these new results, such as obtaining paraproduct decompositions for bilinear pseudodifferential operators and utilizing Littlewood-Paley theory and square function-type estimates. Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators

by

Joshua Brummer

B.A., University of Nebraska at Kearney, 2013

M.A., Kansas State University, 2015

A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Mathematics College of Arts and Sciences

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2018

Approved by:

Major Professor Virginia Naibo

Copyright

© Joshua Brummer 2018.

Abstract

Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators have received considerable attention due to their applications in obtaining fractional Leibniz rules and the study of various partial differential equations. Generally speaking, fractional Leibniz rules provide a way of estimating the size and smoothness of a product of functions in terms of the size and smoothness of the individual functions themselves. Such rules are helpful in determining well-posedness results for solutions of PDEs modeling a variety of real world phenomena, ranging from Euler and Navier-Stokes equations (which model incompressible fluid flow, such as airflow over a wing) to Korteweg-de Vries equations (which model waves on shallow water surfaces).

Bilinear pseudodifferential operators act to combine two functions using their Fourier transforms and a symbol, which is a function that assigns different weights to the functions' frequency components as they are combined. Thus, Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators serve as a generalization of fractional Leibniz rules by providing estimates on the size and smoothness of some combination of two functions, for which pointwise multiplication is recoverable by choosing a symbol identically equal to one. A variety of function spaces may be used to measure the size and smoothness of functions involved, including Lebesgue spaces, Sobolev spaces, and Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Further, bilinear pseudodifferential operators may be considered in association with different classes of symbols, which is to say that the symbol itself (and possibly its derivatives) will possess certain decay properties.

New Leibniz-type rules in two different settings will be presented in this manuscript. In the first setting, Leibniz-type rules associated to bilinear pseudodifferential operators with homogeneous symbols in a certain class are proved, where the sizes of the functions involved are measured using a combination of Lebesgue space norms and norms corresponding to function spaces admitting appropriate molecular decompositions, specifically focusing on the case of homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces. In the second setting, Leibniz-type rules and biparameter counterparts are proved in weighted Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces associated to Coifman-Meyer multiplier operators. All of the new Leibniztype rules proved in the manuscript yield corresponding new fractional Leibniz rules, which are highlighted as appropriate. Various techniques from Fourier analysis serve as important tools in the proofs of these new results, such as obtaining paraproduct decompositions for bilinear pseudodifferential operators and utilizing Littlewood-Paley theory and square function-type estimates.

Table of Contents

Ac	know	vledgem	nents	vii			
De	edicat	ion		viii			
1	An Overview of Leibniz-Type Rules						
2	Leibniz-Type Rules for Bilinear Operators with Homogeneous Symbols and Smooth						
	Molecules						
	2.1	Introduction					
		2.1.1	Class of symbols $\dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$	10			
		2.1.2	The case $\sigma \equiv 1$ and connections to Kato-Ponce inequalities	11			
	2.2	Proof of molecular estimates					
		2.2.1	Construction of paraproduct decomposition	14			
		2.2.2	Representation for derivatives of paraproduct building blocks	17			
		2.2.3	Conclusion for molecular decay properties	20			
	2.3	Setting for Leibniz-type rules					
		2.3.1	Homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces	23			
		2.3.2	Families of smooth synthesis molecules and spaces admitting a molec-				
			ular decomposition	27			
	2.4	Proof of Leibniz-type rules					
	2.5 Remarks on Leibniz-type rules						
3	Weighted Fractional Leibniz-Type Rules for Bilinear Multiplier Operators						
	3.1	3.1 Introduction					

		3.1.1	Coifman-Meyer multipliers	37		
		3.1.2	The case $\sigma \equiv 1$ and connections to Kato-Ponce inequalities \ldots	38		
	3.2	Setting	g for Leibniz-type rules	40		
		3.2.1	Weights and weighted Lebesgue spaces	41		
		3.2.2	Littlewood-Paley operators and square function-type estimates	43		
	3.3	Proof	of weighted fractional Leibniz rules associated to biparameter Coifman-			
		Meyer multipliers				
		3.3.1	Paraproduct decomposition	50		
		3.3.2	Analysis of multipliers	55		
		3.3.3	Norm estimates	57		
	3.4	Proof of weighted fractional Leibniz rules associated to Coifman-Meyer mul-				
		tipliers	3	66		
		3.4.1	Paraproduct decomposition	67		
		3.4.2	Homogeneous estimates	70		
		3.4.3	Inhomogeneous estimates	77		
D:L	1:	1		00		
B10	nogr	apny		90		
А	A G	lossary	for Notation	97		
	A.1	Freque	ently used notation	97		
	A.2	Functi	on spaces	98		
	A.3	Fourie	r analysis background	102		
	A.4	4 Auxiliary functions and associated operators				
	A.5	Pseudo	odifferential operator background	105		
	A.6	Littlev	vood-Paley theory background	106		
D	Haaf	ul Doou	lta	100		
В	USEF	ui Kesu		100		
	В.1	Proofs	of various lemmas	108		
	B.2	Knowr	1 results	113		

Acknowledgments

My deepest gratitude is owed to my major professor, Dr. Virginia Naibo. Her time spent on my behalf means more than I can express, including her dedication to pouring over my results and presentations to provide constructive feedback and supporting me as I have continued to develop in academic maturity. Dr. Naibo has shown me what it means to change someone's life by serving as a mentor, and my thanks to her will be in my best efforts to do the same for students throughout my academic career.

I would also like to thank the other members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Ivan Blank, Dr. Anna Zemlyanova, Dr. Hrant Hakobyan, Dr. Haiyan Wang, and outside chair Dr. Hayder Rasheed, who rearranged their busy schedules and travel plans for me on numerous occasions and who provided me with helpful guidance relating to my dissertation and academia in general. In particular, thank you to Dr. Blank for our many conversations, all of which I found to be very insightful, even those not about math.

To the Department of Mathematics, thank you for the many growth opportunities that were provided to me while serving as a graduate teaching assistant at Kansas State. In particular, thank you to Dr. Andrew Bennett, who served as department chair and who was invaluable in helping me to pursue said opportunities, and thank you to Dr. Sarah Reznikoff, who served as graduate student director during a majority of my time as Kansas State. Thank you to all of my close friends in the department, for the times spent laughing, playing games, and generally distracting ourselves from doing too much math.

And finally, thank you to God and my family, without whose love and support I would not have made it to, let alone through, graduate school. To my parents, in-laws, and wife, your presence at my defense meant more to me than you could imagine.

Dedication

To my family for all of their kind-hearted encouragement,

and especially to my mother and father for raising me to be curious and creative, and to my wife for her constant support and occasional patience when math is brought up, with love.

Chapter 1

An Overview of Leibniz-Type Rules

Our discussion about definitions, motivations, and the history of Leibniz-type rules must begin with some background on fractional Leibniz rules, the type of estimates which serve as a foundation for Leibniz-type rules. As the name suggests, fractional Leibniz rules are closely related to the general Leibniz rule, a formula which gives a representation for partial derivatives of products of functions. Considering the simplest case, the derivative of the product of two differentiable functions defined on \mathbb{R} , we obtain the product rule (fg)' =f'g + fg'. Notice that in this formula, the right-hand side has two terms, one of which has the derivative on f and no derivative on g, while the other has no derivative on f and one derivative on g. In its full generality, the Leibniz rule may be stated for two sufficiently differentiable functions f and g defined on \mathbb{R}^n and any multi-index $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ as

$$\partial^{\alpha}(fg) = \sum_{\beta \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \beta} (\partial^{\beta} f) (\partial^{\alpha-\beta} g) = (\partial^{\alpha} f)g + f(\partial^{\alpha} g) + \dots$$

Again, notice that as a part of this formula, there are two terms on the right-hand side, one of which has all α derivatives on f and no derivatives on g, and another which has no derivates on f and all α derivatives on g. We briefly note that all standard notation is collected in Appendix A, including definitions for the multi-indices mentioned above, along with definitions of function spaces and aspects of Fourier analysis that will be utilized below. Fractional Leibniz rules, also known as Kato-Ponce inequalities (due to the pioneering work done by Kato-Ponce [39]), have the form

$$\|D^{s}(fg)\|_{L^{r}} \lesssim \|D^{s}f\|_{L^{p_{1}}} \|g\|_{L^{q_{1}}} + \|f\|_{L^{p_{2}}} \|D^{s}g\|_{L^{q_{2}}}, \qquad (1.1)$$

$$\|J^{s}(fg)\|_{L^{r}} \lesssim \|J^{s}f\|_{L^{p_{1}}} \|g\|_{L^{q_{1}}} + \|f\|_{L^{p_{2}}} \|J^{s}g\|_{L^{q_{2}}}, \qquad (1.2)$$

which hold for indices satisfying $1 < p_1, p_2, q_1, q_2 \le \infty$, $\frac{1}{2} < r \le \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q_1} = \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{q_2}$, and $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$ or $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$, and for functions f and g in the Schwartz class $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The operators D^s and J^s are as defined below, but should be thought of, in general, as taking s derivatives of a function. Put simply, these fractional Leibniz rules involve measuring the size of s derivatives of a product of functions f and g, then bounding this quantity by the sum of two terms, one of which has all s derivatives on f and none on g, and the other having no derivatives on f and s derivatives on g. In this way, we see a parallel to the simpler notions of the product rule or general Leibniz rule, as discussed above.

For $s \in \mathbb{R}$, define the operator D^s via

$$\widehat{D^s f}(\xi) \coloneqq |\xi|^s \widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

referred to as a homogeneous differentiation operator of order s if s > 0. There is a connection between the operator D^s and the homogeneous Sobolev space $\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which motivates thinking of D^s as taking s derivatives; see Section A.2 for more details. Similarly, define the operator J^s via

$$\widehat{J^s f}(\xi) \coloneqq (1 + |\xi|^2)^{s/2} \widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

which is referred to as an inhomogeneous differentiation operator of order s if s > 0 and which shares a connection with the inhomogeneous Sobolev space $W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Inequalities of the forms (1.1) and (1.2) (and related commutator estimates) have received much attention due to their applicability to problems in partial differential equations. Techniques were initially developed for fractional Leibniz rules to handle the case $1 < r < \infty$. Specifically, estimates similar to (1.2) were studied in Kato-Ponce [39] in relation to the Cauchy problem for the Euler and Navier-Stokes equations (which model incompressible fluid flow, such as airflow over a wing), with previous work in Strichartz [62] for the case $\frac{n}{p} < s < 1$. Further, in both Christ-Weinstein [14] and Kenig-Ponce-Vega [41], estimates along the lines of (1.1) were considered in connection to the Korteweg-de Vries equation (which models waves on shallow water surfaces), and in Gulisashvili-Kon [34], estimates of both forms were studied in relation to smoothing properties of Schrödinger semigroups. In recent years, the range for r has been extended to include $\frac{1}{2} < r \leq 1$, treated in Grafakos-Oh [30] and Muscalu-Schlag [52] (with related work in Koezuka-Tomita [42]), and the case $r = \infty$ was settled in Bourgain-Li [9] (see also Grafakos-Maldonado-Naibo [28] for related results). This is a small selection of previous work done relating to inequalities of the forms (1.1) and (1.2), and more history will be detailed throughout the manuscript once additional necessary concepts have been introduced.

On the left-hand side of inequalities (1.1) and (1.2), the functions f and g are combined via pointwise multiplication. It is natural to consider similar inequalities wherein the functions involved are combined using more versatile methods. In particular, we will combine functions using bilinear pseudodifferential operators.

DEFINITION 1.1. Let $\sigma(x, \xi, \eta)$ be a complex-valued, smooth function defined for $x, \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Define T_{σ} , the bilinear pseudodifferential operator associated to σ , by

$$T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma(x,\xi,\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

In general, σ is referred to as the *symbol* associated with the operator T_{σ} . If σ does not depend on x, then σ is referred to as a *multiplier*, and T_{σ} is known as a **bilinear multiplier operator**.

When discussing bilinear pseudodifferential operators, certain decay estimates will be assumed for the associated symbol σ and its derivatives, which will result in σ lying in various symbol classes. These will be introduced in subsequent chapters as necessary. See Section A.5 for some simple examples of bilinear pseudodifferential operators, along with a remark on the connection between such operators and their linear counterparts.

Our main focus in this manuscript is proving various Leibniz-type rules, which are reminiscent of the Kato-Ponce inequalities introduced in (1.1) and (1.2), and which will often serve as complements and extensions of said equations. Leibniz-type rules are inequalitites of the form

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{X} \lesssim \|f\|_{Y_{1}} \|g\|_{Z_{1}} + \|f\|_{Y_{2}} \|g\|_{Z_{2}}, \qquad (1.3)$$

where T_{σ} is a bilinear pseudodifferential operator as in Definition 1.1 and X, Y_1 , Y_2 , Z_1 , and Z_2 are function spaces measuring some sense of smoothness of the functions involved. In fact, since $T_{\sigma}(f,g) = fg$ for $\sigma \equiv 1$, we see that (1.1) and (1.2) may be regarded as Leibniz-type rules with $\sigma \equiv 1$ and X, Y_1 , Y_2 , Z_1 , and Z_2 various Lebesgue spaces and homogeneous/inhomogeneous Sobolev spaces. The history given above for the development of (1.1) and (1.2) gives some background for Leibniz-type rules, but more can be said in general. Additional results of the form (1.3) in the case $\sigma \equiv 1$ with X, Y₁, and Z₂ Besov or Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and Y_2 and Z_1 Lebesgue spaces, along with applications to partial differential equations, may be found in Bahouri-Chemin-Danchin [2], Chae [12], and Runst-Sickel [59], while estimates of the form (1.3) with $\sigma \equiv 1$ involving weighted or variable exponent spaces were obtained in Cruz-Uribe-Naibo [17]. We give more history on the development of results of the form (1.3) for σ in certain bilinear homogeneous symbol classes in Chapter 2, and for σ in Coifman-Meyer or biparameter Coifman-Meyer multiplier classes in Chapter 3. Below, we state the main Leibniz-type rule results proved in Chapters 2 and 3, reserving technical definitions for the respective chapters. We note that the main results of Chapter 2 were originally published in Brummer-Naibo [11], while those of Chapter 3 are to appear in Brummer-Naibo [10].

In Chapter 2, we will present a unifying approach towards establishing Leibniz-type rules of the form (1.3) where T_{σ} is a bilinear pseudodifferential operator with bilinear symbol σ in the homogeneous symbol class $\dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$ for some $m \in \mathbb{R}$, and where Z_1 and Y_2 are standard Lebesgue spaces and X, Y_1 , and Z_2 are function spaces admitting a molecular decomposition in the sense of Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25]. We demonstrate this unifying approach by proving explicit Leibniz-type rule results in the case where X, Y_1 , and Z_2 are homogeneous Besovtype or Triebel-Lizorkin-type function spaces, denoted $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$, respectively:

Theorem 1.2. Let $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma \in BS_{1,1}^m$. If $0 < p, q \leq \infty$, $s_p < s < \infty$, and $0 \leq \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{s-s_p}{n}$, it holds that

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\dot{B}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}}, \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$

If $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, $s_{p,q} < s < \infty$, and $0 \le \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{s - s_{p,q}}{n}$, it holds that

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\dot{F}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}}, \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$

Note that s_p and $s_{p,q}$ are as in (2.19). We also note that there are homogeneous differentiation operators implicit in the results of Theorem 1.2, making them reminiscent of (1.1). Specifically, this is seen through the norm equivalences $\|D^s f\|_{\dot{B}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}} \sim \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}}$ and $\|D^s f\|_{\dot{F}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}} \sim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}}$ (see Yang-Yuan [69, Proposition 3.5]). The proof of Theorem 1.2 is detailed in Section 2.4, utilizing as a primary tool Theorem 2.1. Theorem 2.1 establishes decay properties for certain families of functions relating to $T_{\sigma}(f,g)$, allowing us to utilize established theory for spaces admitting molecular decompositions based on the pioneering work of Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25] and therefore obtain the Leibniz-type rule results given in Theorem 1.2. Said results may be considered as bilinear counterparts to Grafakos-Torres [31, Theorems 1.1 and 1.2, wherein boundedness properties in homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces were addressed for linear pseudodifferential operators (and where such boundedness properties were extended to the setting of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces in Sawano-Yang-Yuan [61], again for linear pseudodifferential operators). In Subsection 2.1.2, we will discuss connections between Theorem 1.2 and Kato-Ponce inequalities in Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, and in Subsection 2.3.1, we detail a number of spaces which may be realized as particular cases of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces so that Theorem 1.2 will yield Leibniz-type rules and associated fractional Leibniz rules in such spaces.

In Chapter 3, one of our goals will be to prove Leibniz-type rules of the form (1.3) where T_{σ} is a bilinear multiplier operator with symbol σ a Coifman-Meyer multiplier, and where X, Y₁, Y₂, Z₁, and Z₂ are a combination of weighted Lebesgue spaces and weighted homogeneous/inhomogeneous Sobolev spaces:

Theorem 1.3. Let $\sigma(\xi, \eta)$, $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, satisfy (3.1) and consider $1 < p, q \leq \infty$, $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$, and $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$ or $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$. If $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then for all $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\|D^{s}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \|D^{s}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} + \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|D^{s}g\|_{L^{q}(w)}, \qquad (1.4)$$

$$\left\|J^{s}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \left\|J^{s}f\right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{q}(w)} + \left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \left\|J^{s}g\right\|_{L^{q}(w)},$$
(1.5)

where the implicit constant depends on p, q, s, $[v]_{A_p}$, $[w]_{A_q}$, and σ . If v = w, different choices of p and q are allowed in each term on the right-hand side of (1.4) and (1.5).

Estimates of the forms (1.4) and (1.5) for $\sigma \equiv 1$ and finite p and q were proved in Cruz-Uribe-Naibo [17], along with related weighted commutator estimates. Additionally, unweighted estimates in the spirit of (1.4) were proved in Hart-Torres-Wu [35] for certain multipliers with minimal smoothness assumptions, and estimates similar to (1.4) are proved in Naibo-Thomson [56] for A_{∞} weights in the scales of weighted Besov/Triebel-Lizorkin and weighted Hardy spaces. Also in Chapter 3, we prove Leibniz-type rules relating to biparameter counterparts of the homogeneous differentiation operator D^s . For $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n = n_1 + n_2$, define the operators D_1^s and D_2^s via

$$\widehat{D_{\ell}^s f}(\xi) \coloneqq |\xi_{\ell}|^s \widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}, f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), \ell = 1, 2,$$

referred to as partial homogeneous s-th differentiation operators if s > 0, and thought of as taking s partial derivatives in some subspace of \mathbb{R}^n . The Leibniz-type rules we prove relating to partial homogeneous differentiation operators are of the following form, where the symbol σ is a biparameter Coifman-Meyer multiplier: **Theorem 1.4.** Let $n = n_1 + n_2$ for $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2), \eta = (\eta_1, \eta_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$. Assume $\sigma(\xi, \eta)$ satisfies (3.2) and consider $1 < p, q < \infty$, $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$, and $s_{\ell} > \max\{0, n_{\ell}(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}, \ell = 1, 2$. If $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ and $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, then for all $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\begin{split} \|D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} &\lesssim \|D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} + \|D_{1}^{s_{1}}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|D_{2}^{s_{2}}g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \\ &+ \|D_{2}^{s_{2}}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|D_{1}^{s_{1}}g\|_{L^{q}(w)} + \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \,, \end{split}$$
(1.6)

where the implicit constant depends on p, q, s_1 , s_2 , $[v]'_{A_p}$, $[w]'_{A_q}$, and σ . If v = w, different choices of p and q are allowed in each term on the right-hand side of (1.6).

For $\sigma \equiv 1$, biparameter results of the form (1.6) for $n_1 = n_2 = 2$ were studied in Muscalu-Pipher-Tao-Thiele [50] and for the general case $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n_1 = n_2$ in Grafakos-Oh [30], while applications of (1.6) were studied in Kenig [40] in relation to local wellposedness results for the KP-I equation, which models capillary gravity waves. We detail the proofs of Theorem 1.3 and Theorem 1.4 in Section 3.4 and Section 3.3, respectively, following a similar procedure for each. Briefly, the shared procedure involves obtaining paraproduct decompositions for $T_{\sigma}(f, g)$, followed by analyzing multipliers associated with said decompositions and applying various square function-type estimates.

Chapter 2

Leibniz-Type Rules for Bilinear Operators with Homogeneous Symbols and Smooth Molecules

2.1 Introduction

Our main goal in this chapter will be to prove the Leibniz-type rules presented in Theorem 1.2. As a result, we obtain a process for proving general Leibniz-type rules of the form (1.3) involving function spaces which admit a molecular decomposition in the sense of Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25]. The main tool for proving such results is Theorem 2.1, which provides estimates necessary for verifying that certain families of functions associated to T_{σ} are families of smooth synthesis molecules:

Theorem 2.1. Given $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, there exist $\sigma^1, \sigma^2 \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$ with $T_{\sigma} = T_{\sigma^1} + T_{\sigma^2}$ and such that if $1 \leq r \leq \infty$, $0 < M < \infty$, $\Lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\widehat{\Lambda}$ supported in $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} < |\xi| < 2\}$, and $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, it holds that

$$\left|\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)\right| \lesssim \frac{2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu(m+|\gamma|)} 2^{\frac{\nu n}{r}}}{(1+|2^{\nu}x-k|)^{M}} \|g\|_{L^{r}}, \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$
(2.1)

and

$$|\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{2}}(f, \Lambda_{\nu, k})(x)| \lesssim \frac{2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu (m + |\gamma|)} 2^{\frac{\nu n}{r}}}{(1 + |2^{\nu} x - k|)^{M}} \|f\|_{L^{r}}, \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$
(2.2)

for every $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and where $\Lambda_{\nu,k}(x) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \Lambda(2^{\nu}x - k)$.

With the decay properties given in Theorem 2.1, we are able to show that, up to multiplicative constants, we have families of smooth synthesis molecules in the settings of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces given by

$$\left\{\frac{T_{\sigma^1}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)}{2^{\nu m} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}}}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{\frac{T_{\sigma^2}(f,\Lambda_{\nu,k})}{2^{\nu m} \|f\|_{L^{\infty}}}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$$

where the implicit constants are uniform in $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The proof of Theorem 1.2 utilizes the molecular decomposition theory pioneered by Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25] in association with these families of smooth synthesis molecules to obtain the desired Leibniz-type rule results. Further, because smooth synthesis molecules also serve as building blocks for a variety of other function spaces, the procedures outlined in the proofs of Theorems 2.1 and 1.2 will apply to such spaces as well.

The outline for Chapter 2 is as follows: Subsection 2.1.1 details the bilinear homogeneous class of symbols $BS_{1,1}^m$ appearing in the statement of Theorem 1.2, followed by Subsection 2.1.2, which examines Kato-Ponce inequalities relating to Theorem 1.2. In Section 2.2, we give the proof for Theorem 2.1, the main tool used in the proof of Theorem 1.2. We provide the necessary background for Theorem 1.2 in Section 2.3, wherein we introduce full definitions for the function spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$ and the relevant material associated to families of smooth synthesis molecules and spaces admitting a molecular decomposition in the sense of Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25], along with examples of such spaces. Section 2.4 contains the proof of Theorem 1.2, and we conclude the chapter with some remarks in Section 2.5, including one about the situations where $s \leq s_p$ and $s \leq s_{p,q}$ (in which case analogous results may be obtained if some additional hypotheses are imposed upon the first adjoint of T_{σ^1} and the second adjoint of T_{σ^2}), and another which gives a version of the Leibniz-type rule results of Theorem 1.2 involving $L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norms of f and g instead of their $L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norms.

2.1.1 Class of symbols $\vec{BS}_{1,1}^m$

The class of bilinear symbols associated to results in this chapter are defined below, followed by two concrete examples of bilinear symbols relating to said class.

DEFINITION 2.2. Let $\sigma(x,\xi,\eta) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \{0\})$ and $m \in \mathbb{R}$. σ is in the bilinear class of symbols $\dot{BS}^m_{1,1}$ if, for all $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}^n_0$, there exists $C_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} > 0$ such that

$$\left|\partial_x^{\gamma}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}\sigma(x,\xi,\eta)\right| \leq \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha+\beta|-|\gamma|-m}}, \quad \forall (x,\xi,\eta) \neq (0,0,0).$$

$$(2.3)$$

The infimum over all such viable $C_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ is denoted as $\|\sigma\|_{\gamma,\alpha,\beta}$.

As examples, we consider two classes of symbols closely related to those defined in Definition 2.2. First, setting m = 0, we have that the *x*-independent symbols in $BS_{1,1}^0$ correspond exactly with the class of Coifman-Meyer multipliers, defined later in Definition 3.1. Coifman-Meyer multipliers are introduced in Subsection 3.1.1, and boundedness results for bilinear pseudodifferential operators associated with this class of symbols are well-understood, due in large part to their categorization as bilinear Calderón-Zygmund operators (for a definition and treatment of such operators, see Grafakos-Torres [33]). As a second example, we consider a class which lacks some of the nice Lebesgue space boundedness properties exhibited by Coifman-Meyer multiplier operators and is a particular instance of a family of inhomogeneous classes of symbols closely related to those given in Definition 2.2, which we define next.

DEFINITION 2.3. Let $\sigma(x,\xi,\eta) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \{0\})$, $0 \leq \delta \leq \rho \leq 1$, and $m \in \mathbb{R}$. σ is in the bilinear Hörmander class of symbols $BS^m_{\rho,\delta}$ if, for all $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}^n_0$, there exists $C_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} > 0$ such that

$$\left|\partial_x^{\gamma}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}\sigma(x,\xi,\eta)\right| \leq \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}}{(1+|\xi|+|\eta|)^{\rho|\alpha+\beta|-\delta|\gamma|-m}}, \quad \forall (x,\xi,\eta) \neq (0,0,0).$$

Specifically, we consider $BS_{1,1}^0$ for our second example, the so-called bilinear forbidden class of symbols. The relationship between symbols in $BS_{1,1}^0$ and $\dot{BS}_{1,1}^0$ comes from the fact that, given $\sigma \in BS_{1,1}^0$, we can decompose σ as a sum of one symbol which is supported within

 $\{(x,\xi,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}^{3n}: |\xi|+|\eta|\leq 1\}$ (and is therefore well-behaved and smoothing) and another symbol which is in $\dot{BS}_{1,1}^0$. For pioneering work related to $BS_{1,1}^0$, see Coifman-Meyer [15] (and the references it contains). Symbols in the forbidden class $BS_{1,1}^0$ are known to produce bilinear pseudodifferential operators with a bilinear Calderón-Zygmund kernel, but they are not, in general, bilinear Calderón-Zygmund operators themselves, as they do not always possess mapping properties of the form $L^p \times L^q \to L^r$ for $1 < p, q \le \infty$ with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r} > 0$ (for an explicit example, the construction of a symbol in $BS_{1,1}^0$ which fails to map $L^2 \times L^2$ into L^1 may be found in Bényi-Torres [7]). However, mapping properties (including those of type (1.3)) for bilinear pseudodifferential operators with symbols in $BS_{1,1}^0$ have been established in various other settings, including Sobolev spaces (see Bényi-Torres [7] and Bényi-Nahmod-Torres [6]) and Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces (see Bényi [3], Naibo [53], and Koezuka-Tomita [42]). In general, much attention has been given to studying bilinear pseudodifferential operators with symbols in $BS^m_{\rho,\delta}$ for $0 \leq \rho \leq \delta \leq 1$ and $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and related classes; see Bényi-Bernicot-Maldonado-Naibo-Torres [4], Bényi-Maldonado-Naibo-Torres [5], Bényi-Torres [7; 8], Herbert-Naibo [36; 37], Koezuka-Tomita [42], Michalowski-Rule-Staubach [46], Miyachi-Tomita [47–49], Naibo [53; 54], Naibo-Thomson [55], Rodríguez-López-Staubach [58], and references therein.

2.1.2 The case $\sigma \equiv 1$ and connections to Kato-Ponce inequalities

Considering the case $\sigma \equiv 1$ in Theorem 1.2, we obtain Kato-Ponce inequalities for Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, as highlighted in the following corollary:

Corollary 2.4. If $0 < p, q \le \infty$, $s_p < s < \infty$, and $0 \le \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{s - s_p}{n}$, it holds that

$$\|fg\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}}, \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

If $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, $s_{p,q} < s < \infty$, and $0 \le \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{s - s_{p,q}}{n}$, it holds that

$$\|fg\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}}, \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

As will be discussed in Subsection 2.3.1, homogeneous Sobolev spaces may be realized as particular cases of Besov-type or Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces. Thus, we may recover (1.1) in the case $q_1 = p_2 = \infty$ directly from Corollary 2.4.

The proof of Theorem 1.2 may be regarded as a procedure for proving Leibniz-type rules relating to function spaces which admit a molecular decomposition as introduced in Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25]. Subsequently, the results of Corollary 2.4 yield the following type of estimates in a given function space X which measures smoothness in some sense and admits a molecular decomposition:

$$\|fg\|_X \lesssim \|f\|_X \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_X.$$
(2.4)

Chapter 1 details the historical development of results similar to (2.4) in the settings where X is the homogeneous Sobolev space $\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with s > 0 and $1 (in which case the <math>\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm is defined via $\|D^s \cdot\|_{L^p}$), and where X is the inhomogeneous Sobolev space $W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for the same range of parameters (in which case the $W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm is defined via $\|J^s \cdot\|_{L^p}$).

2.2 Proof of molecular estimates

In this section, we present a proof of Theorem 2.1, which we break into a few steps. We begin by obtaining a paraproduct decomposition for $T_{\sigma}(f,g)$, with T_{σ} a bilinear pseudodifferential operator as defined in Definition 1.1 having symbol $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$ as in Definition 2.2. Lemma 2.5 below will provide such a decomposition suited for our purposes and is proved in Subsection 2.2.1 (with ideas inspired by Coifman-Meyer [15]). We then procure formulas for the derivatives of the building blocks within the paraproduct decomposition for $T_{\sigma}(f,g)$, appropriately evaluated as in Theorem 2.1. Said formulas are stated in Lemma 2.6, which is proved in Subsection 2.2.2. Finally, we pull together the results of the lemmas in Subsection 2.2.3 to prove Theorem 2.1.

Throughout this section, we will make use of $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (A.5) and (A.6) and

 $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ defined via (A.7), along with functions $\psi, \phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as defined in (A.9) and (A.10) for which $\Psi = \psi \Psi$ and $\Phi = \phi \Phi$. We also note (A.3) and (A.4), which set notation for certain families of operators associated to the Ψ and Φ : Briefly, for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we define $\widehat{\Delta_j^{\Psi} f}(\xi) \coloneqq \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)$ and $\widehat{S_j^{\Phi} f}(\xi) \coloneqq \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)$

Finally, before beginning to state and prove lemmas, we give a decomposition for the symbol σ that will be used throughout the section. Let $\theta \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ be real-valued with

$$\operatorname{supp}(\theta) \subseteq (-2,2) \quad \text{and} \quad \theta(t) + \theta\left(\frac{1}{t}\right) = 1, \quad \forall t > 0.$$
 (2.5)

For $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, $m \in \mathbb{R}$, we define

$$\sigma^{1}(x,\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sigma(x,\xi,\eta)\theta\left(\frac{|\eta|}{|\xi|}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \sigma^{2}(x,\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sigma(x,\xi,\eta)\theta\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right), \quad \forall x,\xi,\eta \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

so that $\sigma = \sigma^1 + \sigma^2$, and therefore,

$$T_{\sigma}(f,g) = T_{\sigma^1}(f,g) + T_{\sigma^2}(f,g), \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

As shown in Lemma B.1, $\sigma^1, \sigma^2 \in \dot{BS}^m_{1,1}$, and we see by following the proof that

$$\left\|\sigma^{1}\right\|_{\gamma,\alpha,\beta}, \left\|\sigma^{2}\right\|_{\gamma,\alpha,\beta} \lesssim \sup_{\bar{\alpha} \leq \alpha, \bar{\beta} \leq \beta} \left\|\sigma\right\|_{\gamma,\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}}, \quad \forall \alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n},$$

where the implicit constant depends only on α , β , γ , and θ . Also, by endowing $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the topology inherited from $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, a standard argument using integration by parts allows us to conclude that T_{σ^1} is continuous from $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and T_{σ^2} is continuous from $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. With this decomposition for σ in mind, we may proceed with the proof of Theorem 2.1.

2.2.1 Construction of paraproduct decomposition

In this subsection, we state and prove Lemma 2.5, which gives a suitable paraproduct decomposition for the operators T_{σ^1} and T_{σ^2} with the symbols σ^1 and σ^2 as defined above, along with decay estimates for coefficients associated with the decompositions.

Lemma 2.5. Let $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$. With the notation introduced above and given N > n, there exist sequences of functions $\{C^1[j](x, u, v)\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and $\{C^2[j](x, u, v)\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ defined for $x, u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that if $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, then

$$\sup_{x,u,v\in\mathbb{R}^n} \left|\partial_x^{\gamma} \mathcal{C}^{\ell}[j](x,u,v)\right| \lesssim 2^{j(m+|\gamma|)}, \quad \forall j\in\mathbb{Z}, \ell=1,2,$$
(2.6)

and if $f \in \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, it holds that

$$T_{\sigma^{1}}(f,g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x,u,v)[\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u}\Psi}f](x)[S_{j}^{\tau_{v}\Phi}g](x)\frac{du\,dv}{(1+|u|^{2}+|v|^{2})^{N}}$$
(2.7)

and

$$T_{\sigma^2}(g,f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^2[j](x,u,v) [S_j^{\tau_u \Phi} g](x) [\Delta_j^{\tau_v \Psi} f](x) \frac{du \, dv}{(1+|u|^2+|v|^2)^N}, \tag{2.8}$$

where $\widehat{\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u}\Psi}f}(\xi) = \widehat{\tau_{u}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)$ and $\widehat{S_{j}^{\tau_{v}\Phi}g}(\xi) = \widehat{\tau_{v}\Phi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{g}(\xi).$

We will restrict our proof to verifying (2.7) and (2.6) in the case $\ell = 1$, for the other results in the lemma follow analogously. We will consider

$$T_{\sigma^1}(f,g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma^1(x,\xi,\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} d\xi \, d\eta.$$

Taking into account (A.5), (A.8), and the fact that σ^1 is supported within $\{(x,\xi,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}^{3n}:$ $|\eta|\leq 2|\xi|\}$ by definition, it is easily verified that $\widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j-6}\eta)$ is equal to 1 within the support of $\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\sigma^1(x,\xi,\eta)$. To simplify notation, we will denote $\widehat{\Phi}(2^{-6}\cdot)$ as simply $\widehat{\Phi}$ going forward, as the only features that $\widehat{\Phi}$ possesses which are of importance are its membership in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and its compact support in a ball centered at the origin, both of which $\widehat{\Phi}(2^{-6}\cdot)$ possesses as well. Thus, we see that

$$\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\sigma^1(x,\xi,\eta) = \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta)\sigma^1(x,\xi,\eta), \quad \forall x,\xi,\eta \in \mathbb{R}^n, j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

By also considering (A.6) and the facts that $\Psi = \psi \Psi$ and $\Phi = \phi \Phi$, we have

$$T_{\sigma^{1}}(f,g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \right) \sigma^{1}(x,\xi,\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} d\xi d\eta$$

$$= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta) \sigma^{1}(x,\xi,\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} d\xi d\eta$$

$$= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma^{1}[j](x,2^{-j}\xi,2^{-j}\eta) \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} d\xi d\eta,$$

where $\sigma^1[j](x,\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sigma^1(x,2^j\xi,2^j\eta)\psi(\xi)\phi(\eta).$

We now analyze $\sigma^1[j]$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. For any multi-indices $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, an application of the Leibniz rule implies that $\partial_x^{\gamma} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} \sigma^1[j](x,\xi,\eta)$ can be written as a linear combination of terms of the form

$$\partial^{\alpha_1}\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\partial^{\beta_1}\widehat{\phi}(\eta)[\partial_x^{\gamma}\partial_\xi^{\alpha_2}\partial_\eta^{\beta_2}\sigma^1](x,2^j\xi,2^j\eta)2^{j|\alpha_2+\beta_2|},\quad \alpha_1+\alpha_2=\alpha,\beta_1+\beta_2=\beta.$$

As mentioned in the introduction of Section 2.2, $\sigma^1 \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, so the absolute value of each term above is bounded by

$$2^{j|\alpha_{2}+\beta_{2}|} \left| \partial^{\alpha_{1}}\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\partial^{\beta_{1}}\widehat{\phi}(\eta) \right| \cdot \left| \left[\partial^{\gamma}_{x}\partial^{\alpha_{2}}_{\xi}\partial^{\beta_{2}}_{\eta}\sigma^{1} \right](x,2^{j}\xi,2^{j}\eta) \right|$$

$$\lesssim 2^{j|\alpha_{2}+\beta_{2}|} \frac{\left| \partial^{\alpha_{1}}\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\partial^{\beta_{1}}\widehat{\phi}(\eta) \right|}{(|2^{j}\xi|+|2^{j}\eta|)^{|\alpha_{2}+\beta_{2}|-|\gamma|-m}} = 2^{j(m+|\gamma|)} \frac{\left| \partial^{\alpha_{1}}\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\partial^{\beta_{1}}\widehat{\phi}(\eta) \right|}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha_{2}+\beta_{2}|-|\gamma|-m}} \lesssim 2^{j(m+|\gamma|)},$$

$$(2.9)$$

where all implicit constants are independent of $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, and in the first inequality we have used (2.3) for σ^1 , and in the last inequality we have used that $\psi(\xi)\phi(\eta)$ is supported in $\{(\xi,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}^{2n}: \frac{1}{2}\leq |\xi|+|\eta|\leq \frac{9}{4}\},$ so that

$$\frac{\left|\partial^{\alpha_1}\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\partial^{\beta_1}\widehat{\phi}(\eta)\right|}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha_2+\beta_2|-|\gamma|-m}} \leq \frac{\left\|\partial^{\alpha_1}\widehat{\psi}\right\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\min\left\{\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{|\alpha_2+\beta_2|-|\gamma|-m}, \left(\frac{9}{4}\right)^{|\alpha_2+\beta_2|-|\gamma|-m}\right\}}$$

We now define coefficients in our paraproduct decomposition using $\sigma^1[j]$. For $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$, set

$$\mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x, u, v) \coloneqq (1 + |u|^{2} + |v|^{2})^{N} \mathcal{F}[\sigma^{1}[j](x, \cdot, \cdot)](u, v),$$

where by $\mathcal{F}[\sigma^1[j](x,\cdot,\cdot)](u,v)$, we mean to take the Fourier transform of $\sigma^1[j](x,\xi,\eta)$ with respect to $(\xi,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ and evaluate at $(u,v) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. Define the operator $1 - \Delta_{\xi,\eta}$ as the identity minus the standard Laplacian operator with respect to both ξ and η , that is, $[1 - \Delta_{\xi,\eta}](f) \coloneqq f - \sum_{j=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \xi_j^2} + \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \eta_j^2}\right)$. Since $[1 - \Delta_{\xi,\eta}](e^{-2\pi i(u\cdot\xi+v\cdot\eta)}) = (1 + 4\pi^2 |u|^2 + 4\pi^2 |v|^2)e^{-2\pi i(u\cdot\xi+v\cdot\eta)}$, we have that

$$\begin{split} \left|\partial_x^{\gamma} \mathcal{C}^1[j](x,u,v)\right| &= \left|\partial_x^{\gamma} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} (1+|u|^2+|v|^2)^N \sigma^1[j](x,\xi,\eta) e^{-2\pi i (u\cdot\xi+v\cdot\eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta\right]\right| \\ &\sim \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \partial_x^{\gamma} \sigma^1[j](x,\xi,\eta) [1-\Delta_{\xi,\eta}]^N (e^{-2\pi i (u\cdot\xi+v\cdot\eta)}) \, d\xi \, d\eta\right| \\ &= \left|\int_{\frac{1}{2} < |\xi|+|\eta| < \frac{9}{4}} [1-\Delta_{\xi,\eta}]^N (\partial_x^{\gamma} \sigma^1[j])(x,\xi,\eta) e^{-2\pi i (u\cdot\xi+v\cdot\eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta\right| \\ &\leq \int_{\frac{1}{2} < |\xi|+|\eta| < \frac{9}{4}} \left| [1-\Delta_{\xi,\eta}]^N (\partial_x^{\gamma} \sigma^1[j])(x,\xi,\eta) \right| \, d\xi \, d\eta \\ &\lesssim 2^{j(m+|\gamma|)}, \end{split}$$

where in the third line we have taken into consideration the support of $\sigma^1[j]$ and done integration by parts, and in the last line we are using the fact that a finite sum of functions uniformly bounded, up to a constant, by $2^{j(m+|\gamma|)}$ (see (2.9)) integrated over a compact set is itself bounded by $2^{j(m+|\gamma|)}$.

Finally, considering the Fourier inversion formula with $\sigma^{1}[j]$, we obtain

$$\sigma^{1}[j](x, 2^{-j}\xi, 2^{-j}\eta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x, u, v) e^{2\pi i (u \cdot 2^{-j}\xi + v \cdot 2^{-j}\eta)} \frac{du \, dv}{(1 + |u|^{2} + |v|^{2})^{N}}.$$

By substituting back into the formula for T_{σ^1} and using property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform, we obtain

$$\begin{split} T_{\sigma^{1}}(f,g)(x) &= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x,u,v) e^{2\pi i (u \cdot 2^{-j}\xi + v \cdot 2^{-j}\eta)} \frac{du \, dv}{(1 + |u|^{2} + |v|^{2})^{N}} \right] \\ &\quad \times \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi + \eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta, \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x,u,v) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{2\pi i u \cdot 2^{-j}\xi} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi \right] \\ &\quad \times \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{2\pi i v \cdot 2^{-j}\eta} \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta) \widehat{g}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \eta} \, d\eta \right] \frac{du \, dv}{(1 + |u|^{2} + |v|^{2})^{N}}, \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x,u,v) [\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u}\Psi} f](x) [S_{j}^{\tau_{v}\Phi} g](x) \frac{du \, dv}{(1 + |u|^{2} + |v|^{2})^{N}}, \end{split}$$

thus completing the proof of the lemma.

2.2.2 Representation for derivatives of paraproduct building blocks

We now state and prove Lemma 2.6, which leads to pointwise estimates relating to the building blocks within the paraproduct decomposition established in Lemma 2.5. First, we set some notation by defining, for $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\sigma^{1}[u,v](x,\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[j](x,u,v)\widehat{\tau_{u}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{v}\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta),$$

so that $T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(f,g)(x) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^1[j](x,u,v) \Delta_j^{\tau_u \Psi} f(x) S_j^{\tau_v \Phi} g(x)$ and

$$T_{\sigma^{1}}(f,g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(f,g)(x) \frac{du \, dv}{(1+|u|^{2}+|v|^{2})^{N}}.$$
(2.10)

Similarly define $\sigma^2[u, v]$. The following lemma deals with derivatives of $T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}$ and $T_{\sigma^2[u,v]}$ evaluated at certain functions in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as required for Theorem 2.1:

Lemma 2.6. If $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $g, \Lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $supp(\widehat{\Lambda}) \subseteq \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

 $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} \le |\xi| \le 2\}, \text{ then }$

$$\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \sum_{\substack{\delta = -1\\\gamma_{1} + \gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3} = \gamma}}^{1} 2^{\nu|\gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3}|} C_{\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2},\gamma_{3}} \partial_{x}^{\gamma_{1}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[\nu - \delta](x,u,v) \times \Upsilon[\delta,\gamma_{2}](2^{\nu}x - k + 2^{\delta}u) \cdot [\Theta[\delta,\gamma_{3}] * g(2^{-\nu}\cdot)](2^{\nu}x + 2^{\delta}v),$$

where $\Upsilon[\delta, \gamma_2], \Theta[\delta, \gamma_3] \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are independent of ν , k, u, v, and g, and $\Lambda_{\nu,k}(x) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \Lambda(2^{\nu}x - k)$. *k*). An analogous formula holds for $\partial^{\gamma}T_{\sigma^2[u,v]}(f, \Lambda_{\nu,k})$ with $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We are interested in studying derivatives of

$$T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x) = \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^1[j](x,u,v)\Delta_j^{\tau_u\Psi}\Lambda_{\nu,k}(x)S_j^{\tau_v\Phi}g(x).$$
(2.11)

By properties (A.3.3) and (A.3.4) of the Fourier transform, we have

$$\widehat{\Lambda_{\nu,k}}(\xi) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \mathcal{F}[\Lambda(2^{\nu} \cdot -k)](\xi) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} e^{2\pi i (-2^{-\nu}k) \cdot \xi} \widehat{\Lambda(2^{\nu} \cdot)}(\xi) = 2^{-\frac{\nu n}{2}} e^{2\pi i (-2^{-\nu}k) \cdot \xi} \widehat{\Lambda}(2^{-\nu}\xi), \quad (2.12)$$

so the support of $\Lambda_{\nu,k}$ coincides with the support of $\widehat{\Lambda}(2^{-\nu}\cdot)$, which is contained within $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 2^{\nu-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{\nu+1}\}$. Since $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\cdot)) \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 2^{j-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{j+1}\}$, we may verify that $\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\Lambda_{\nu,k}}(\xi)$ is zero whenever $j < \nu - 1$ or $j > \nu + 1$. Thus, we simplify our sum over $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ in (2.11) to only run over $\nu - 1 \leq j \leq \nu + 1$, or equivalently, we consider

$$T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x) = \sum_{\delta=-1}^{1} \mathcal{C}^1[\nu-\delta](x,u,v)[(\Delta_{\nu-\delta}^{\tau_u\Psi}\Lambda_{\nu,k})\cdot(S_{\nu-\delta}^{\tau_v\Phi}g)](x).$$

Using the Fourier inversion formula, we have

$$\Delta_{\nu-\delta}^{\tau_u\Psi}\Lambda_{\nu,k}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \widehat{\tau_u\Psi}(2^{-(\nu-\delta)}\xi)\widehat{\Lambda_{\nu,k}}(\xi)e^{2\pi ix\cdot\xi}\,d\xi,$$
$$S_{\nu-\delta}^{\tau_v\Phi}g(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \widehat{\tau_v\Phi}(2^{-(\nu-\delta)}\eta)\widehat{g}(\eta)e^{2\pi ix\cdot\eta}\,d\eta.$$

We make these replacements in the representation for $T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)$ obtained above, along with using (2.12) and changes of variables $\xi \mapsto 2^{\nu}\xi$ and $\eta \mapsto 2^{\nu}\eta$, to reach a form for $T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)$ given by

$$\sum_{\delta=-1}^{1} \mathcal{C}^{1}[\nu-\delta](x,u,v) \left(2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \widehat{\tau_{u}\Psi}(2^{\delta}\xi) \widehat{\Lambda}(\xi) e^{2\pi i (2^{\nu}x-k)\cdot\xi} d\xi\right) \left(2^{\nu n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \widehat{\tau_{v}\Phi}(2^{\delta}\eta) \widehat{g}(2^{\nu}\eta) e^{2\pi i (2^{\nu}x)\cdot\eta} d\eta\right)$$

With this representation for $T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)$ in mind, we define

$$G_{\delta}[u, v, \nu, k](x) \coloneqq \mathcal{C}^{1}[\nu - \delta](x, u, v) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \widehat{\tau_{u}\Psi}(2^{\delta}\xi)\widehat{\Lambda}(\xi)e^{2\pi i(2^{\nu}x - k)\cdot\xi} d\xi \right) \\ \times \left(2^{\nu n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \widehat{\tau_{v}\Phi}(2^{\delta}\eta)\widehat{g}(2^{\nu}\eta)e^{2\pi i(2^{\nu}x)\cdot\eta} d\eta \right),$$

so that for any multi-index $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$,

$$\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \sum_{\delta=-1}^{1} \partial^{\gamma} G_{\delta}[u,v,\nu,k](x).$$

We conclude the proof by analyzing $\partial^{\gamma} G_{\delta}[u, v, \nu, k](x)$, which by an application of the Leibniz rule, may be written as a linear combination of terms having the form

$$C_{\gamma_1,\gamma_2,\gamma_3}\partial_x^{\gamma_1}\mathcal{C}^1[\nu-\delta](x,u,v)\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}\widehat{\tau_u\Psi}(2^{\delta}\xi)\widehat{\Lambda}(\xi)[(2\pi i2^{\nu}\xi)^{\gamma_2}e^{2\pi i(2^{\nu}x-k)\cdot\xi}]\,d\xi\right)$$
$$\times\left(2^{\nu n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}\widehat{\tau_v\Phi}(2^{\delta}\eta)\widehat{g}(2^{\nu}\eta)[(2\pi i2^{\nu}\eta)^{\gamma_3}e^{2\pi i(2^{\nu}x)\cdot\eta}]\,d\eta\right),\quad\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\gamma$$

By associating the $(2\pi i)^{\gamma_2}$ and $(2\pi i)^{\gamma_3}$ terms with the constant $C_{\gamma_1,\gamma_2,\gamma_3}$ and using property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform, we see that each term above may be expressed as

$$2^{\nu|\gamma_{2}+\gamma_{3}|}C_{\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2},\gamma_{3}}\partial_{x}^{\gamma_{1}}\mathcal{C}^{1}[\nu-\delta](x,u,v)\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\xi^{\gamma_{2}}\widehat{\Psi}(2^{\delta}\xi)\widehat{\Lambda}(\xi)e^{2\pi i(2^{\nu}x-k+2^{\delta}u)\cdot\xi}\,d\xi\right)$$
$$\times\left(2^{\nu n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\eta^{\gamma_{3}}\widehat{\Phi}(2^{\delta}\eta)\widehat{g}(2^{\nu}\eta)e^{2\pi i(2^{\nu}x+2^{\delta}v)\cdot\eta}\,d\eta\right).$$

Finally, utilizing properties (A.3.2) and (A.3.4) of the Fourier transform, we put everything

together to obtain the desired result, that is

$$\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \sum_{\substack{\delta = -1\\\gamma_{1} + \gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3} = \gamma}}^{1} 2^{\nu|\gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3}|} C_{\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2},\gamma_{3}} \partial_{x}^{\gamma_{1}} \mathcal{C}^{1}[\nu - \delta](x,u,v) \times \Upsilon[\delta,\gamma_{2}](2^{\nu}x - k + 2^{\delta}u) \cdot [\Theta[\delta,\gamma_{3}] * g(2^{-\nu}\cdot)](2^{\nu}x + 2^{\delta}v),$$

where $\Upsilon[\delta, \gamma_2], \Theta[\delta, \gamma_3] \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are defined via

$$\widehat{\Upsilon[\delta,\gamma_2]}(\xi) \coloneqq \xi^{\gamma_2} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{\delta}\xi) \widehat{\Lambda}(\xi) \quad \text{ and } \quad \widehat{\Theta[\delta,\gamma_3]}(\eta) \coloneqq \eta^{\gamma_3} \widehat{\Phi}(2^{\delta}\eta).$$

By swapping the u and v variables, and replacing g with f, we obtain essentially the same result for $\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{2}[u,v]}(f, \Lambda_{\nu,k})(x)$.

2.2.3 Conclusion for molecular decay properties

We now pull together Lemmas 2.5 and 2.6 to complete the proof of Theorem 2.1. Let $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, $1 \leq r \leq \infty$, $0 < M < \infty$, $\Lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\widehat{\Lambda}$ is supported within $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} \leq |\xi| \leq 2\}$, and $g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By Lemma 2.6, we see that $|\partial^{\gamma}T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)|$ is bounded by

$$2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \sum_{\substack{\delta = -1\\\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + \gamma_3 = \gamma}}^{1} 2^{\nu|\gamma_2 + \gamma_3|} C_{\gamma_1,\gamma_2,\gamma_3} \left| \partial_x^{\gamma_1} \mathcal{C}^1[\nu - \delta](x, u, v) \right| \\ \times \left| \Upsilon[\delta, \gamma_2] (2^{\nu}x - k + 2^{\delta}u) \right| \cdot \left\| \Theta[\delta, \gamma_3] * g(2^{-\nu} \cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

By (2.6), we know $|\partial_x^{\gamma_1} \mathcal{C}^1[\nu - \delta](x, u, v)| \lesssim 2^{(\nu - \delta)(m + |\gamma_1|)}$. Using this identity and Young's inequality (see Section B.2), we bound $|\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^1[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k}, g)(x)|$ further by

$$2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu(m+|\gamma|)} \sum_{\substack{\delta=-1\\\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\gamma}}^{1} 2^{-\delta(m+|\gamma_1|)} C_{\gamma_1,\gamma_2,\gamma_3} \left\| \Theta[\delta,\gamma_3] \right\|_{L^{r'}} \cdot \left\| g(2^{-\nu} \cdot) \right\|_{L^r} \cdot \left| \Upsilon[\delta,\gamma_2](2^{\nu}x-k+2^{\delta}u) \right|,$$

where $1 \le r' \le \infty$ satisfies $\frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{r'} = 1$. We note that

$$2^{-\delta(m+|\gamma_1|)} \leq 2^{|m|+|\gamma|}, \qquad C_{\gamma_1,\gamma_2,\gamma_3} \leq \max_{\substack{\widetilde{\gamma_1}+\widetilde{\gamma_2}+\widetilde{\gamma_3}=\gamma\\\widetilde{\gamma_1}+\widetilde{\gamma_2}+\widetilde{\gamma_3}=\gamma}} \{C_{\widetilde{\gamma_1},\widetilde{\gamma_2},\widetilde{\gamma_3}}\}, \\ \|\Theta[\delta,\gamma_3]\|_{L^{r'}} \leq \max_{\substack{\widetilde{\delta}=-1,0,1\\\widetilde{\gamma}\leq\gamma}} \left\{ \left\|\Theta[\widetilde{\delta},\widetilde{\gamma}]\right\|_{L^{r'}} \right\}, \qquad \|g(2^{-\nu}\cdot)\|_{L^r} = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{r}} \|g\|_{L^r},$$

so that we have

$$\left|\partial^{\gamma}T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)\right| \lesssim 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu(m+|\gamma|)} 2^{\frac{\nu n}{r}} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{r}} \sum_{\substack{\delta=-1\\\widetilde{\gamma}\leq\gamma}}^{1} \left|\Upsilon[\delta,\widetilde{\gamma}](2^{\nu}x-k+2^{\delta}u)\right|,$$

where the implicit constant depends on m and γ , but not on ν , k, u, v, or g. Finally, we use (A.2) to obtain the bound

$$\left|\Upsilon[\delta,\widetilde{\gamma}](2^{\nu}x-k+2^{\delta}u)\right| \lesssim \frac{(1+|2^{\delta}u|)^M}{(1+|2^{\nu}x-k|)^M},$$

where the implicit constant depends on $\Upsilon[\delta, \tilde{\gamma}]$ and M, but we may take the max of such constants over $\delta = -1, 0, 1$ and $\tilde{\gamma} \leq \gamma$ so that the implicit constant depends only on γ and M. Therefore, we see that

$$\left|\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)\right| \lesssim \frac{2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu(m+|\gamma|)} 2^{\frac{\nu n}{r}}}{(1+|2^{\nu}x-k|)^{M}} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{r}} \left(\sum_{\delta=-1}^{1} (1+|2^{\delta}u|)^{M}\right),$$

Plugging this result back into (2.10), we see that

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x)| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \left| \partial^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^{1}[u,v]}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)(x) \right| \frac{du \, dv}{(1+|u|^{2}+|v|^{2})^{N}} \\ &\lesssim \frac{2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu(m+|\gamma|)} 2^{\frac{\nu n}{r}}}{(1+|2^{\nu}x-k|)^{M}} \, \|g\|_{L^{r}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{\sum_{\delta=-1}^{1} (1+|2^{\delta}u|)^{M}}{(1+|u|^{2}+|v|^{2})^{N}} \, du \, dv \right). \end{aligned}$$

Finally, letting N > 0 be large enough so that the integral converges yields the desired result for $T_{\sigma^1}(\Lambda_{\nu,k}, g)(x)$. The $T_{\sigma^2}(f, \Lambda_{\nu,k})(x)$ case follows by very similar calculations, thus completing the proof of Theorem 2.1.

2.3 Setting for Leibniz-type rules

In this section, we define a number of function spaces relevant to the Leibniz-type rule estimates stated in Theorem 1.2. We begin by introducing homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces in Subsection 2.3.1, which are the settings in which Theorem 1.2 is stated. Additionally, we give a number of special cases of such spaces, so that Theorem 1.2 will imply Leibniz-type rules in many familiar function spaces. In Subsection 2.3.2, we give details on the general class of function spaces for which the procedures outlined in the proofs of Theorems 2.1 and 1.2 may be utilized to obtain Leibniz-type rule estimates, with the class of interest being spaces which admit a molecular decomposition in the sense of Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25].

Before we start defining spaces, we set some notation, beginning with the following definition:

DEFINITION 2.7. We denote by \mathcal{D} the collection of dyadic cubes in \mathbb{R}^n . That is, $\mathcal{D} := \{Q_{\nu,k}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$, where

$$Q_{\nu,k} := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : k_j \le 2^{\nu} x_j < k_j + 1, j = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

Additionally, for any $Q \in \mathcal{D}$, we denote its *edge length* by l(Q) and its *volume* by |Q|, so that $l(Q_{\nu,k}) = 2^{-\nu}$ and $|Q_{\nu,k}| = 2^{-\nu n}$. Also, for $Q = Q_{\nu,k}$, we denote $x_Q = x_{\nu,k} \coloneqq 2^{-\nu}k$, the *"lower-left" corner* of the cube.

In the following subsections, we will require functions $\lambda, \Lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying some or all of the following properties:

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\lambda}), \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Lambda}) \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} < |\xi| < 2\},$$
(2.13)

$$\left|\widehat{\lambda}(\xi)\right|, \left|\widehat{\Lambda}(\xi)\right| > c \quad \text{for all } \xi \text{ such that } \frac{3}{5} < |\xi| < \frac{5}{3} \text{ and some } c > 0,$$
 (2.14)

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\widehat{\lambda}(2^{-j}\xi)} \widehat{\Lambda}(2^{-j}\xi) = 1 \quad \text{for } \xi \neq 0.$$
(2.15)

We may construct such a pair by considering real-valued $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (A.5), (A.6), and (2.14), then setting $\lambda = \Lambda = \Psi^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

2.3.1 Homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces

For the definitions below, we fix $\lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (2.13) and (2.14). In Definition 2.10, the primary definition of this subsection, we define Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, the settings in which we obtain results in Theorem 1.2. But first, we define a few other important function spaces, which will help establish some context for the function spaces in Definition 2.10.

Homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, as presented in Definition 2.8, serve to unify many well-known classical function spaces, including Lebesgue spaces, Sobolev spaces, Hardy spaces, and $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For a comprehensive overview of the aforementioned function spaces and some historical context on the development of homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, see Triebel [63–65] and references therein.

DEFINITION 2.8. Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 < q \leq \infty$.

(a) For $0 , the homogeneous Besov space, denoted <math>\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \left\|\Delta^{\lambda}_{j}f\right\|_{L^{p}}^{q}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty.$$

(b) For $0 , the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin space, denoted <math>\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, is the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^s_{p,q}} \coloneqq \left\| \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} (2^{js} \left| \Delta^{\lambda}_j f \right|)^q \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p} < \infty.$$

In the case $p=\infty$, $\dot{F}^s_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined as the set of all $f\in\mathcal{S}_0'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{\infty,q}} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \left\{ \frac{1}{|P|} \int_{P} \sum_{j=-\log_2(l(P))}^{\infty} (2^{js} \left|\Delta_j^{\lambda} f\right|)^q dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty$$

We note that the spaces in Definition 2.8 are independent of the choice of the function λ (see, for example, Triebel [65]). Also, these spaces are in general quasi-Banach spaces, and in the case where $p, q \geq 1$, are Banach spaces, having $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as a dense subspace if p and q are finite.

Somewhat more recently, there has been growing interest in a new family of function spaces called Q-spaces. Originally introduced in Aulaskari et al. [1] as Q_s , 0 < s < 1, to be a Banach space of analytic functions in the unit disk satisfying

$$\sup_{w \in B(0,1)} \int_{B(0,1)} |f'(z)|^2 g(z,w)^s \, dz \le \infty,$$

where $g(z, w) := \left| \frac{\log(1 - \bar{w}z)}{w - z} \right|$ is the Green's function of B(0, 1), these spaces were further developed in Euclidean spaces in Essén et al. [21] and shown to constitute a nested family of nontrivial subspaces of $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (for 0 < s < 1 if $n \ge 2$, or for $0 < s \le \frac{1}{2}$ if n = 1). Stated in full generality, we make the following definition:

DEFINITION 2.9. Let 0 < s < 1, $0 , and <math>1 \le q < \infty$. The Q-space, denoted $Q_p^{s,q}$, is the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that f(x) - f(y) is measurable on $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and

$$\|f\|_{Q_p^{s,q}} \coloneqq \sup_{I} |I|^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}} \left\{ \int_{I} \int_{I} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{q}}{|x - y|^{n + qs}} \, dy \, dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty,$$

where I ranges over all cubes in \mathbb{R}^n with dyadic edge lengths.

As shown in Essén et al. [21], Q_s coincides with $Q_{\frac{n}{s}}^{s,2}$, and such spaces have applications in the study of Navier-Stokes equations (see Xiao [66; 67]).

We are now able to motivate the definition of our primary function spaces of interest. Homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, defined below in Definition 2.10, were introduced and studied in Sawano-Yang-Yuan [61] and Yang-Yuan [68; 69] as natural spaces which extend and unify the scales of homogeneous Besov spaces, homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, and Q-spaces, all as defined above, and therefore unify scales of many familiar function spaces obtained as particular cases, as detailed following Definition 2.10.

DEFINITION 2.10. Let $s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 < q \leq \infty$.

(a) For 0 , the**homogeneous Besov-type space** $, denoted <math>\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=-\log_2(l(P))}^{\infty} \left[\int_P (2^{js} \left| \Delta_j^{\lambda} f(x) \right|)^p dx \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty.$$

(b) For $0 , the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin-type space, denoted <math>\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$||f||_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{j=-\log_2(l(P))}^{\infty} (2^{js} \left| \Delta_j^{\lambda} f(x) \right|)^q \right]^{\frac{p}{q}} dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

From these definitions, it is easily seen that, for $s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 , <math>\dot{B}_{p,p}^{s,\tau} = \dot{F}_{p,p}^{s,\tau}$. Also, as in the case with Definition 2.8, we note that the spaces in Definition 2.10 are independent of the choice of λ (see Yang-Yuan [69, Corollary 3.1]). As in [69], we will use $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote either $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, excluding $p = \infty$ in the latter case. Additionally, for ease of notation we will often refer to $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}}$ as a norm throughout the remainder of the chapter, despite the fact that it is only a norm if $p, q \geq 1$ and is otherwise a quasi-norm.

Special cases of $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We refer the reader to Yang-Yuan [68, Section 3] and [69, Proposition 3.1] regarding the following statements about particular cases and unification properties of $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Whenever we say that two spaces coincide, we mean to say they are comprised of the same set of functions and their function space norms are equivalent.

(i) Let $0 < p, q \leq \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. If $\infty < \tau < 0$, then $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$
denotes the set of all polynomials on \mathbb{R}^n . If $0 \leq \tau < \infty$, then $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a quasi-Banach space with $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) \subseteq \dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

- (ii) If $0 < p, q \le \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\dot{B}^{s,0}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with the homogeneous Besov space $\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.
- (iii) If $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, and $s \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\dot{F}^{s,0}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $\dot{F}^0_{p,2}$ coinciding with the Hardy space $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Further, if $1 , then <math>\dot{F}^s_{p,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with the homogeneous Sobolev space $\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\dot{F}^0_{p,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see Theorem A.3).
- (iv) If $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, and $s \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\frac{1}{p}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}_{\infty,q}^s$. In particular, $\dot{F}_{p,2}^{0,\frac{1}{p}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$.
- (v) If $0 , <math>1 \le q < \infty$, and 0 < s < 1, then $\dot{F}_{q,q}^{s,\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with the *Q*-space $Q_p^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In particular, $\dot{F}_{2,2}^{s,\frac{1}{2}-\frac{s}{n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with $Q_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$.
- (vi) Further special cases of the spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ involving homogeneous Besov-Morrey and Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey spaces (along with definitions of said spaces) can be found in Sawano-Yang-Yuan [61, Theorem 1.1].

We make particular note of the new Leibniz-type rules obtained by realizing Q-spaces as particular cases of Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces. Theorem 1.2 yields the following immediate corollary providing Leibniz-type rules for Q-spaces:

Corollary 2.11. Let $s, s + m \in (0, 1)$ and $\sigma \in BS_{1,1}^m$. If $1 \le q \le p \le \infty$ and $q \ne \infty$, it holds that

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{Q_{p}^{s,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{Q_{p}^{s+m,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{Q_{p}^{s+m,q}}, \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

In addition, by considering the case $\sigma \equiv 1$, Corollary 2.11 yields fractional Leibniz rules for Q-spaces.

2.3.2 Families of smooth synthesis molecules and spaces admitting a molecular decomposition

The ideas in this subsection are based on the pioneering work done in Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25], with specific results as they relate to homogeneous Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces studied in Yang-Yuan [69].

We begin this subsection with a type of wavelet decomposition for functions in a variety of spaces. Fix $\lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (2.13) and (2.14), and define

$$\lambda_{\nu,k}(x) \coloneqq 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \lambda(2^{\nu} x - k) = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \lambda(2^{\nu} (x - x_{\nu,k})), \qquad (2.16)$$

where we note that $\|\lambda\|_{L^2} = \|\lambda_{\nu,k}\|_{L^2}$. Given $\Lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (2.13), (2.14), and (2.15), the following wavelet-type decomposition holds:

$$f = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \langle f, \lambda_{\nu, k} \rangle \Lambda_{\nu, k}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where the series converges for $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the topology of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for $f \in \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the topology of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and for $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the the topology of $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ modulo polynomials (see Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25] for details). Note that the notation $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard inner product for complex-valued functions.

For some needed results relating to the wavelet decomposition given in (2.17), we require sequence space analogs to Definition 2.10:

DEFINITION 2.12. Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 \le \tau < \infty$, and $0 < q \le \infty$.

(a) For $0 , define the sequence space <math>\dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to be the collection of all sequences $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \subset \mathbb{C}$ indexed by the dyadic cubes such that

$$\|t\|_{\dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=-\log_2(l(P))}^{\infty} \left[\int_P \left(\sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} |Q|^{-\frac{s}{n}-\frac{1}{2}} |t_Q| \,\chi_Q(x) \right)^p \, dx \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty.$$

(b) For $0 , define the sequence space <math>\dot{f}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to be the collection of all sequences $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \subset \mathbb{C}$ indexed by the dyadic cubes such that

$$\|t\|_{\dot{f}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{Q \subset P} (|Q|^{-\frac{s}{n} - \frac{1}{2}} |t_Q| \, \chi_Q(x))^q \right]^{\frac{p}{q}} \, dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

As in the case of $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we will use $\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote either $\dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{f}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, excluding $p = \infty$ in the latter case. A direct connection between the function spaces $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the sequence spaces $\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ was established in Yang-Yuan [69, Theorem 3.1], wherein it was shown that the two spaces are related in the following way: If $0 < p, q \leq \infty, s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 \leq \tau < \infty, f \in \mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies (2.13) and (2.14), then

$$\|f\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \sim \|\{\langle f, \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle\}_{\nu,k}\|_{\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}}.$$
(2.18)

For our proof of Theorem 1.2, we will make use of (2.18), along with one additional norm comparison property relating $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ stated below as (2.20), for which we require a few additional definitions.

In Frazier-Jawerth [24; 25], the authors study sequence spaces characterizing homogeneous Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, obtaining norm relationships akin to (2.18) and (2.20), with the latter requiring a notion of families of smooth synthesis molecules in $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Such families are related to almost-diagonal operators, another notion defined in [24; 25] which contributes to verifying boundedness properties similar to (2.20). In Definition 2.13 below, we give an analogous characterization for families of smooth synthesis molecules in $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, as presented in Yang-Yuan [69, Definition 4.2]. First, for $s \in \mathbb{R}$, define $s^* \coloneqq s - \lfloor s \rfloor$, where $\lfloor s \rfloor$ denotes the largest integer smaller than or equal to s. Also define

$$s_{p} \coloneqq n \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1,p\}} - 1\right), \qquad J \coloneqq \begin{cases} s_{p} + n & \text{if } \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \\ s_{p,q} \coloneqq n \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1,p,q\}} - 1\right), & J \coloneqq \begin{cases} s_{p} + n & \text{if } \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}). \end{cases}$$
(2.19)

DEFINITION 2.13. Let $0 < p, q \leq \infty$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 \leq \tau < \infty$, and $Q \in \mathcal{D}$. A function $m_Q : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ is a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if there exist δ and M satisfying

$$\max\{s^*, (s+n\tau)^*\} < \delta \le 1 \text{ and } J < M < \infty,$$

such that the conditions given below hold for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$:

(i) For $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| \le \max\{\lfloor J - n - s \rfloor, -1\}$, m_Q satisfies a vanishing moment condition given by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m_Q(z) z^\gamma \, dz = 0$$

(ii) m_Q satisfies a size estimate given by

$$|m_Q(x)| \le \frac{|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{(1+l(Q)^{-1}|x-x_Q|)^{\max\{M,M-s\}}}$$

(iii) For $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| \leq \lfloor s + n\tau \rfloor$,

$$|\partial^{\gamma} m_Q(x)| \le \frac{|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n}}}{(1 + l(Q)^{-1} |x - x_Q|)^M}.$$

(iv) For $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| = \lfloor s + n\tau \rfloor$,

$$|\partial^{\gamma} m_Q(x) - \partial^{\gamma} m_Q(y)| \le \sup_{|z| \le |x-y|} \frac{|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n} - \frac{\delta}{n}} |x-y|^{\delta}}{(1 + l(Q)^{-1} |x-z-x_Q|)^M}$$

A collection $\{m_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ indexed by the dyadic cubes is called a **family of smooth synthesis** molecules for $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if each m_Q is a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

For a smooth synthesis molecule m_Q , property (i) of Definition 2.13 states that \widehat{m}_Q and sufficiently many of its derivatives must be zero at the origin, since property (A.3.5) of the Fourier transform implies that, for any $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$,

$$\partial^{\gamma} \widehat{m_Q}(0) \sim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} m_Q(x) e^{-2\pi i 0 \cdot x} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} m_Q(x) \, dx.$$

The remainder of the properties imply that m_Q and sufficiently many of its derivatives decay away from the dyadic cube Q by which the function is indexed, where said decay is enough to verify a so-called almost-diagonal condition on certain operators associated with families of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Below, we conclude the subsection with two remarks: Remark 2.3.1 shows that any m_Q which satisfies property (iii) of Definition 2.13 for all $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| \leq \lfloor s + n\tau \rfloor + 1$ necessarily satisfies property (iv) with $\delta = 1$, and Remark 2.3.2 verifies that $\{\lambda_{\nu,k}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$ and $\{\Lambda_{\nu,k}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$ (as defined in (2.16)) are families of smooth synthesis molecules for any $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with parameters s, τ, p , and q as in Definition 2.13, $\delta = 1$, and any M > J.

In the proof of Theorem 1.2, we will make use of Theorem 2.14 below, which gives certain norm comparisons associated with families of smooth synthesis molecules on $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and is proved in Yang-Yuan [69, Theorem 4.2] by analogous ideas on almost-diagonal operators used to prove Frazier-Jawerth [25, Theorem 3.5].

Theorem 2.14. Let $0 < p, q \leq \infty$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, and $0 \leq \tau < \mathcal{T}$, where if $\max\{\lfloor J - n - s \rfloor, -1\} \geq 0$,

$$\mathcal{T} \coloneqq \min\left\{\frac{1}{p} + \frac{M-J}{2n}, \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1-(J-s)^*}{n}\right\},\,$$

or if $\max\{\lfloor J - n - s \rfloor, -1\} < 0$,

$$\mathcal{T} \coloneqq \min\left\{\frac{1}{p} + \frac{M-J}{2n}, \frac{1}{p} + \frac{s+n-J}{n}\right\}.$$

If $\{m_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is a family of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with parameters δ and M satisfying $\max\{s^*, (s+n\tau)^*\} < \delta \leq 1$ and $J < M < \infty$, then

$$\left\| \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} t_Q m_Q \right\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}}, \quad \forall t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \in \dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n), \tag{2.20}$$

where the implicit constant does not depend on the family of molecules.

Remark 2.3.1. Suppose $m_Q : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfies property (iii) of Definition 2.13 for some M > J and all $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| \leq \lfloor s + n\tau \rfloor + 1$. We will see that m_Q also satisfies property (iv)

with $\delta = 1$. Indeed, let $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| = \lfloor s + n\tau \rfloor$. Then, for any $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the Mean Value Theorem implies the existence of some $t \in (0, 1)$ with $z_{x,y} = tx + (1 - t)y$ and

$$\nabla \partial^{\gamma} m_Q(z_{x,y}) = \frac{\partial^{\gamma} m_Q(x) - \partial^{\gamma} m_Q(y)}{x - y}$$

Note that $|\nabla \partial^{\gamma} m_Q(z_{x,y})| \leq \sum_{j=1}^n |\partial^{\gamma+e_j} m_Q(z_{x,y})|$ with $|\gamma+e_j| = \lfloor s+n\tau \rfloor + 1$, so that by property (iii), we see

$$|\partial^{\gamma} m_Q(x) - \partial^{\gamma} m_Q(y)| \le \sum_{j=1}^n |\partial^{\gamma+e_j} m_Q(z_{x,y})| \cdot |x-y| \le n \cdot \sup_{|z| \le |x-y|} \frac{|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|+1}{n}} |x-y|}{(1+l(Q)^{-1} |x-z-x_Q|)^M}$$

where we have used that $z_{x,y} = x - z$ for some $z \in B(0, |x - y|)$. Therefore, property (iv) is satisfied, as desired.

Remark 2.3.2. Let p, q, s, and τ be as in Definition 2.13, and fix $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $\lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (2.13). We will show that $\lambda_{\nu,k}$, as defined in (2.16), is a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$ with parameters $\delta = 1$ and any M > J. Considering the arguments made following Definition 2.13, we see that $\lambda_{\nu,k}$ satisfies property (i) since $\widehat{\lambda_{\nu,k}}$ has the same support as $\widehat{\lambda}(2^{-\nu}\cdot)$ (see (2.12)), which is compactly supported away from the origin. Next, let $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$. Since

$$\partial^{\gamma} \lambda_{\nu,k}(x) = \partial^{\gamma} [2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} \lambda (2^{\nu} (x - x_{\nu,k}))] = 2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} [\partial^{\gamma} \lambda] (2^{\nu} (x - x_{\nu,k})) 2^{\nu |\gamma|},$$

we use Definition 2.7 and (A.1) (since $\partial^{\gamma} \lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$) to see that property (iii) holds for any $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ (and subsequently, property (iv) holds as reasoned in Remark 2.3.1, as does property (ii) by taking $\gamma = 0$ and $N = \max\{M, M - s\}$ in (A.1)).

2.4 Proof of Leibniz-type rules

We proceed with the proof of Theorem 1.2. Fix $\lambda, \Lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (2.13), (2.14), and (2.15). We will consider only $T_{\sigma^1}(f,g)$; analogous steps apply to $T_{\sigma^2}(f,g)$. For $f,g \in \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

$$T_{\sigma^1}(f,g) = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \langle f, \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle T_{\sigma^1}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g),$$

with convergence in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and where we have used that T_{σ^1} is continuous from $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, that (2.17) converges in $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and the linearity of T_{σ^1} .

Theorem 2.1 implies that, for a constant c_1 implicit in inequality (2.1), we have that

$$\left\{\frac{c_1 2^{-\nu m} T_{\sigma^1}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)}{\|g\|_{L^{\infty}}}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$$

is a family of smooth synthesis molecules for any $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if $0 < p, q \leq \infty, s > J - n$, and $0 \leq \tau < \infty$ (with $\delta = 1$ and any M > J). Indeed, property (i) of Definition 2.13 is vacuously satisfied since $\lfloor J - n - s \rfloor < 0$. Further, by Theorem 2.1, we have for any $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$,

$$\left|\partial^{\gamma} \left[\frac{c_1 2^{-\nu m} T_{\sigma^1}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)}{\|g\|_{L^{\infty}}} \right](x) \right| \lesssim \frac{2^{\frac{\nu n}{2}} 2^{\nu|\gamma|}}{(1+|2^{\nu}x-k|)^M} = \frac{|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |Q|^{-\frac{|\gamma|}{n}}}{(1+l(Q)^{-1}|x-x_Q|)^M}$$

where we have used Definition 2.7. Since the above holds for all $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, we see that properties (ii), (iii), and (iv) hold (for (ii), consider $\gamma = 0$, keeping in mind that the result of Theorem 2.1 holds for any $0 < M < \infty$, that is, it holds for max{M, M - s}; for (iv), see Remark 2.3.1).

We will apply (2.18) without any restrictions below, but to apply (2.20), we require that $0 \le \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{s+n-J}{n}$, so as to satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 2.14 (we may choose any M > J, so we let M be large enough so that the minimum in the expression for \mathcal{T} in

Theorem 2.14 equals $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{s+n-J}{n}$). Considering $T_{\sigma^1}(f,g)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|T_{\sigma^{1}}(f,g)\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} &= \left\|\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \langle f, \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle T_{\sigma^{1}}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)\right\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \\ &\sim \left\|\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left(2^{\nu m} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} \langle f, \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle\right) \left(\frac{c_{1}2^{-\nu m}T_{\sigma^{1}}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)}{\|g\|_{L^{\infty}}}\right)\right\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \\ &\lesssim \|\{2^{\nu m} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} \langle f, \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle\}_{\nu,k}\|_{\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \\ &= \|\{\langle f, \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle\}_{\nu,k}\|_{\dot{a}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\sim \|f\|_{\dot{A}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} \,, \end{split}$$

where in the first line we have used the decomposition for $T_{\sigma^1}(f,g)$ given above, in the third line we have used Theorem 2.14 and the fact that the piece in parentheses in the second line is a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, in the fourth line we have used that, if $Q = Q_{\nu,k}$, then

$$|Q|^{-\frac{s}{n}} 2^{\nu m} = 2^{\nu s} 2^{\nu m} = 2^{\nu(m+s)} = |Q|^{-\frac{s+m}{n}}$$

(see Definition 2.12), and in the final line we have used (2.18). Following the above calculations, we obtain an analogous result for $T_{\sigma^2}(f,g)$, namely that $||T_{\sigma^2}(f,g)||_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim ||f||_{L^{\infty}} ||g||_{\dot{A}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}}$. Since $T_{\sigma}(f,g) = T_{\sigma^1}(f,g) + T_{\sigma^2}(f,g)$, we use the subadditivity (or quasi-subadditivity, if por q is less than 1) of the $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm to obtain the desired result.

2.5 Remarks on Leibniz-type rules

We conclude this chapter with a few remarks regarding extensions of Theorem 1.2. Remark 2.5.1 below gives analogous results for the cases $s \leq s_p$ and $s \leq s_{p,q}$ by assuming some additional cancellation conditions on operators T_{σ^1} and T_{σ^2} , and Remark 2.5.2 discusses how the proof of Theorem 1.2 could be altered slightly to give results involving the $L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm of functions, $1 \leq r < \infty$, instead of the $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm of functions. Finally, Remark 2.5.3 examines how the implicit constants in Theorems 2.1 and 1.2 depend on the symbol σ . Remark 2.5.1. Let $m \in \mathbb{R}$, $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, and $0 < p, q \leq \infty$, as in the hypotheses for Theorem 1.2. Unlike the statement of Theorem 1.2, let $s \leq J - n$. The proof of Theorem 1.2 in Section 2.4 nearly works exactly in this case, with the only difference being that property (i) of Definition 2.13 is no longer vacuously true. By imposing some cancellation conditions on T_{σ^1} and T_{σ^2} , we will see that property (i) of Definition 2.13 is satisfied, which then implies the results of Theorem 1.2 in the case where $s \leq J - n$ and $0 \leq \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1-(J-s)^*}{n}$. The cancellation conditions we require are as follows:

$$T_{\sigma^1}^{*1}(x^{\gamma},g) = T_{\sigma^2}^{*2}(f,x^{\gamma}) = 0, \quad \forall f,g \in \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n), \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n \text{ with } |\gamma| \le \lfloor J - n - s \rfloor,$$

where T^{*1} and T^{*2} denote the adjoint operators of a bilinear operator T. Specifically, if T is continuous from $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then T^{*1} and T^{*2} , which map from $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and from $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, respectively, are defined as

$$\langle h, T(f,g) \rangle = \langle T^{*1}(h,g), f \rangle = \langle T^{*2}(f,h), g \rangle.$$

The cancellation conditions above imply, for $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\gamma| \leq \lfloor J - n - s \rfloor$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} T_{\sigma^1}(\lambda_{\nu,k}, g)(x) \, dx = \langle x^{\gamma}, T_{\sigma^1}(\lambda_{\nu,k}, g) \rangle = \langle T_{\sigma^1}^{*1}(x^{\gamma}, g), \lambda_{\nu,k} \rangle = 0, \quad \forall g \in \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

and similarly for $T_{\sigma^2}(f, \lambda_{\nu,k})$. Thus, the families of functions indexed over dyadic cubes defined in Section 2.4 satisfy Definition 2.13 as families of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$, so the proof given in Section 2.4 applies directly in this case.

Remark 2.5.2. Let m, σ, p, q, s , and τ be as in the hypotheses of Theorem 1.2 or Remark 2.5.1, and let $1 \le r < \infty$. Since the families

$$\left\{\frac{c_1 2^{-\nu m} 2^{-\frac{\nu n}{r}} T_{\sigma^1}(\Lambda_{\nu,k},g)}{\|g\|_{L^r}}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{\frac{c_2 2^{-\nu m} 2^{-\frac{\nu n}{r}} T_{\sigma^2}(f,\Lambda_{\nu,k})}{\|f\|_{L^r}}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$$

are also families of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we may follow the reasoning in Section 2.4 to obtain

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{A}^{s+m+\frac{n}{r},\tau}_{p,q}} \|g\|_{L^{r}} + \|f\|_{L^{r}} \|g\|_{\dot{A}^{s+m+\frac{n}{r},\tau}_{p,q}}.$$

Remark 2.5.3. By carefully following the proofs of Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 1.2, we may verify that the implicit constants in the results of the theorems depend linearly on $\|\sigma\|_{K,L}$ for some $K, L \in \mathbb{N}$, where

$$\|\sigma\|_{K,L} \coloneqq \max_{|\gamma| \le K, |\alpha+\beta| \le L} \|\sigma\|_{\gamma,\alpha,\beta},$$

and $\|\sigma\|_{\gamma,\alpha,\beta}$ is as in Definition 2.2. We omit the careful tracking of constants here, but we may find that the implicit constants in the inequalities of Theorem 2.1 are multiples of $\|\sigma\|_{|\gamma|,2N}$ with $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that N > M + n, and where γ and M are as in the statement of the theorem. In turn, this implies that the implicit constants in Theorem 1.2 can be taken to be multiples of $\|\sigma\|_{\lfloor s+n\tau \rfloor+1,2N}$ with $N > \max\{J+n,2(s+n)-J+n\}$. The latter is also true for the inequalities from Remark 2.5.1 with $N > J + n + 2(1 - (J - s)^*)$.

Chapter 3

Weighted Fractional Leibniz-Type Rules for Bilinear Multiplier Operators

3.1 Introduction

Our objective in this chapter is to prove the weighted Leibniz-type rules presented in Theorem 1.3 and Theorem 1.4. In Subsection 3.1.1, we introduce the classes of multipliers appearing in the statements of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4, along with a history of the development of boundedness properties for associated multiplier operators. Then, in Subsection 3.1.2, we highlight new Kato-Ponce inequalities relating to Theorems 1.3 and 1.4. We give the rest of the background for Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 in Section 3.2, including definitions and notation relating to weighted Lebesgue spaces and a number of lemmas containing square function-type estimates for weighted Lebesgue spaces which will be useful in proving the main Leibniz-type rule results. We conclude the chapter with Sections 3.3 and 3.4, wherein we prove Theorems 1.4 and 1.3, respectively.

3.1.1 Coifman-Meyer multipliers

In this section we introduce the classes of multipliers considered in Theorems 1.3 and 1.4. DEFINITION 3.1. Let $\sigma(\xi, \eta) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ be smooth away from the origin.

(a) σ is a **Coifman-Meyer multiplier** if, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, there exists $C_{\alpha,\beta} > 0$ such that

$$\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}\sigma(\xi,\eta)\right| \leq \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta}}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha|+|\beta|}}, \quad \forall (\xi,\eta) \neq (0,0).$$

$$(3.1)$$

(b) Let $n = n_1 + n_2$ for $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2), \eta = (\eta_1, \eta_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$. σ is a **biparameter Coifman-Meyer multiplier** if, for all $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2), \beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2) \in \mathbb{N}_0^{n_1} \times \mathbb{N}_0^{n_2}$, there exists $C_{\alpha,\beta} > 0$ such that

$$\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}\sigma(\xi,\eta)\right| \leq \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta}}{(|\xi_{1}|+|\eta_{1}|)^{|\alpha_{1}|+|\beta_{1}|}(|\xi_{2}|+|\eta_{2}|)^{|\alpha_{2}|+|\beta_{2}|}}, \quad \forall (\xi,\eta) \neq (0,0).$$
(3.2)

We note that symbols which satisfy (3.1) necessarily satisfy (3.2). As outlined in Subsection 2.1.1, the class of Coifman-Meyer multipliers coincides exactly with the *x*-independent symbols in $BS_{1,1}^0$.

Boundedness properties associated to a general bilinear pseudodifferential operator T_{σ} have the following form in the setting of Lebesgue spaces:

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{p}} \|g\|_{L^{q}}.$$
(3.3)

When σ is a Coifman-Meyer multiplier, such estimates have been extensively studied; in particular, (3.3) holds for $1 < p, q < \infty$ and r such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$. See Coifman-Meyer [15] for the introduction of Coifman-Meyer multipliers and the study of their boundedness properties on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and see David-Journé [18] and Grafakos-Torres [33] for further work. Also relating to Coifman-Meyer multipliers, estimates similar to (3.3) in the context of weighted Lebesgue spaces are considered in Grafakos-Torres [32], with further development of results in Lerner et al. [45], wherein the authors prove weighted boundedness results for a more general class of operators, the class of bilinear Calderón-Zygmund operators. Analogous estimates relating to biparameter Coifman-Meyer multipliers have also been studied. In particular, boundedness properties for T_{σ} with σ satisfying (3.2) with $n_1 = n_2$ were proved in the unweighted setting in Muscalu et al. [50; 51] and Lacey-Metcalfe [44] (see also Journé [38] for some earlier specific case results) and in the weighted setting in Chen-Lu [13].

Remark 3.1.1. There is a natural connection between studying fractional Leibniz rules and Coifman-Meyer multipliers. For example, in studying (1.1), we may obtain a decomposition given by

$$D^{s}(fg)(x) = T_{\sigma^{1}}(D^{s}f,g)(x) + T_{\sigma^{2}}(f,D^{s}g)(x) + T_{\sigma^{3}}(D^{s}f,g)(x),$$

where σ^1 and σ^2 are Coifman-Meyer multipliers for s > 0, while σ^3 is a Coifman-Meyer multiplier if $s \ge 2n + 1$ or $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$. Since boundedness properties relating to Coifman-Meyer multipliers are well-understood (based upon the works mentioned above), we may readily obtain bounds for some pieces of the decomposition above; the T_{σ^3} piece requires further analysis for s < 2n + 1, in which case σ^3 is not, in general, a Coifman-Meyer multiplier, nor does it belong to any class of symbols for which boundedness properties in the setting of Lebesgue spaces are known to hold. A similar connection may be drawn in relation to (1.2) by decomposing $J^s(fg)(x)$ as a sum of two Coifman-Meyer multipliers and a third multiplier operator requiring additional analysis, and in relation to fractional Leibniz rules associated to $D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}(fg)$ by utilizing a decomposition involving biparameter Coifman-Meyer multipliers and other multiplier operators for which further analysis is needed.

3.1.2 The case $\sigma \equiv 1$ and connections to Kato-Ponce inequalitites

Restricting to the case $\sigma \equiv 1$ in Theorems 1.3 and 1.4, we obtain weighted counterparts to the fractional Leibniz rules, or Kato-Ponce inequalitites, introduced in Chapter 1. Even in this simplest case, where $T_{\sigma}(f,g)$ is replaced by the pointwise product fg, Theorem 1.3 and Theorem 1.4 yield new estimates, highlighted in Corollary 3.2 and Corollary 3.3 below. Specifically, the estimates in Corollary 3.2 are new for the cases $p = \infty$ or $q = \infty$ (for $1 < p, q < \infty$, see Cruz-Uribe-Naibo [17]), and the results in Corollary 3.3 are new. **Corollary 3.2.** Let $1 < p, q \le \infty$, $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$, and $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$ or $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$. If $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then for all $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\begin{split} \|D^{s}(fg)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} &\lesssim \|D^{s}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} + \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|D^{s}g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \,, \\ \|J^{s}(fg)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} &\lesssim \|J^{s}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} + \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|J^{s}g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \,, \end{split}$$

where the implicit constant depends on p, q, s, $[v]_{A_p}$, $[w]_{A_q}$, and σ . If v = w, different choices of p and q are allowed in each term on the right-hand side of the above inequalities.

Corollary 3.3. Let $n = n_1 + n_2$ for $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2), \eta = (\eta_1, \eta_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$. Further, let $1 < p, q < \infty$, $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$, and $s_\ell > \max\{0, n_\ell(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$, $\ell = 1, 2$. If $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ and $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, then for all $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\begin{split} \|D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2}(fg)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}} w^{\frac{r}{q}})} &\lesssim \|D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f\|_{L^p(v)} \|g\|_{L^q(w)} + \|D_1^{s_1} f\|_{L^p(v)} \|D_2^{s_2} g\|_{L^q(w)} \\ &+ \|D_2^{s_2} f\|_{L^p(v)} \|D_1^{s_1} g\|_{L^q(w)} + \|f\|_{L^p(v)} \|D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} g\|_{L^q(w)} \end{split}$$

,

where the implicit constant depends on p, q, s_1 , s_2 , $[v]'_{A_p}$, $[w]'_{A_q}$, and σ . If v = w, different choices of p and q are allowed in each term on the right-hand side of the above inequality.

Notice that, by considering weights identically equal to 1, the results of Corollary 3.2 recover (1.1) and (1.2), while the results of Corollary 3.3 would yield biparameter Kato-Ponce inequalities, as studied in [30; 50]. It is also worth noting that the assumptions on s, s_1 , and s_2 in the corollaries above (and therefore in the main theorems) are sharp; the estimates do not necessarily hold if $s \leq \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r}-1)\}$ in Corollary 3.2 or if $s_{\ell} \leq \max\{0, n_{\ell}(\frac{1}{r}-1)\}$ for $\ell = 1$ or $\ell = 2$ in Corollary 3.3. This was shown in the unweighted case in Grafakos-Oh [30].

3.2 Setting for Leibniz-type rules

In this section, we will introduce weighted Lebesgue spaces, the class of function spaces with which the main results of the chapter are concerned. Some background is needed first, beginning with the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator:

DEFINITION 3.4. For a locally integrable function f defined on \mathbb{R}^n , define the **Hardy-Littlewood** maximal operator through its action on f given by

$$\mathcal{M}(f)(x) \coloneqq \sup_{Q \ni x} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} |f(y)| \, dy, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ containing x.

We will also require biparameter versions of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator:

DEFINITION 3.5. Fix $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n = n_1 + n_2$. Define the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operators $\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1$ and $\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2$ by their actions on certain f defined on \mathbb{R}^n as follows: If $f(\cdot, x_2)$ is locally integrable as a function on \mathbb{R}^{n_1} for a.e. $x_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$, then

$$\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1(f)(x_1, x_2) \coloneqq \sup_{Q_1 \ni x_1} \frac{1}{|Q_1|} \int_{Q_1} |f(y_1, x_2)| \, dy_1, \quad \forall (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2},$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_1}$ containing x_1 . If $f(x_1, \cdot)$ is locally integrable as a function on \mathbb{R}^{n_2} for a.e $x_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1}$, then

$$\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2(f)(x_1, x_2) \coloneqq \sup_{Q_2 \ni x_2} \frac{1}{|Q_2|} \int_{Q_2} |f(x_1, y_2)| \, dy_2, \quad \forall (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2},$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$ containing x_2 .

Many of the results referenced throughout the paper pertaining to \mathcal{M} will have biparameter analogs associated to $\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1$ and $\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2$, which will be detailed as necessary.

We next highlight a pointwise inequality in terms of \mathcal{M} that will be useful throughout

the chapter. Fix $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and begin with the pointwise inequality

$$\sup_{t>0} \left| \frac{1}{t^n} \varphi\left(\frac{\cdot}{t}\right) * f(x) \right| \le \|\tilde{\varphi}\|_{L^1} \mathcal{M}f(x), \quad \text{a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(3.4)

where $\tilde{\varphi}$ is an integrable radially-decreasing majorant of φ (for a proof, see Grafakos [26, Theorem 2.1.10]). Considering a translation of φ in the above inequality, we obtain the following estimate involving $\tau_u \varphi \coloneqq \varphi(\cdot + u)$ and \mathcal{M} :

$$\sup_{t>0} \left| \frac{1}{t^n} \tau_u \varphi\left(\frac{\cdot}{t}\right) * f(x) \right| \lesssim (1+|u|)^{n+1} \mathcal{M}f(x), \quad \text{a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(3.5)

This comes as a result of (A.2), which implies the existence of an integrable radiallydecreasing majorant given by $|\tau_u \varphi(x)| \leq \frac{(1+|u|)^{n+1}}{(1+|x|)^{n+1}}$, where the implicit constant depends only on n and φ . Thus,

$$\left|\frac{(1+|u|)^{n+1}}{(1+|\cdot|)^{n+1}}\right\|_{L^1} = (1+|u|)^{n+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{dx}{(1+|x|)^{n+1}} \lesssim (1+|u|)^{n+1},$$

where the implicit constant depends only on the dimension n.

3.2.1 Weights and weighted Lebesgue spaces

We begin by defining the weighted analogs to standard Lebesgue spaces, which essentially allow us to assign more or less weight to different regions of \mathbb{R}^n when measuring size via integration:

DEFINITION 3.6. A weight on \mathbb{R}^n is a nonnegative locally integrable function defined on \mathbb{R}^n . Given a weight w on \mathbb{R}^n and $0 , define the weighted Lebesgue space <math>L^p(w)$ as the class of measurable functions defined on \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$\|f\|_{L^p(w)} \coloneqq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p w(x) \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

We define $L^{\infty}(w) \coloneqq L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Note that for $w \equiv 1$, $L^p(w)$ is simply the standard Lebesgue space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The hypotheses of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 reference the Muckenhoupt classes $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the product Muckenhoupt classes $A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, collections of weights which are well-studied since they characterize boundedness properties of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator in weighted Lebesgue spaces. In particular, for 1 ,

$$w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n) \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \|\mathcal{M}f\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w)}, \, \forall f \in L^p(w).$$
(3.6)

Classically, $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined as follows, which is equivalent to (3.6) (see, for example, Grafakos [26, Theorem 7.1.9]):

DEFINITION 3.7. If 1 , the**Muckenhoupt class** $<math>A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is comprised of all weights w on \mathbb{R}^n satisfying

$$[w]_{A_p} \coloneqq \sup_Q \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q w(x) \, dx\right) \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q w(x)^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} \, dx\right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. We define $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \coloneqq \bigcup_{p>1} A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The biparameter analogs to these standard Muckenhoupt classes are then defined as follows: DEFINITION 3.8. Fix $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n = n_1 + n_2$. If 1 , the**product Muckenhoupt class** $<math>A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ is comprised of all weights w on \mathbb{R}^n satisfying

$$[w]'_{A_p} \coloneqq \sup_{R} \left(\frac{1}{|R|} \int_{R} w(x) \, dx \right) \left(\frac{1}{|R|} \int_{R} w(x)^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} \, dx \right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all sets $R = Q_1 \times Q_2$, with cubes $Q_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_1}$ and $Q_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$. We define $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}) \coloneqq \bigcup_{p>1} A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$.

It is worth noting that, if $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, then $w(\cdot, x_2) \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1})$ for a.e. $x_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$, and $w(x_1, \cdot) \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ for a.e. $x_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1}$, with constants uniform in x_1 and x_2 (specifically, $[w(\cdot, x_2)]_{A_p}$ and $[w(x_1, \cdot)]_{A_p}$ are bounded uniformly in x_1 and x_2). Consequently, the operators $\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1$ and $\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2$ are bounded from $L^p(w)$ to $L^p(w)$, which can be seen by iterating norms. For example,

$$\left\|\mathcal{M}_{n_{1}}^{1}f\right\|_{L^{p}(w)}^{p} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n_{2}}} \left\|\mathcal{M}_{n_{1}}^{1}f(\cdot, x_{2})\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{1}}, w(\cdot, x_{2}))}^{p} dx_{2} \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n_{2}}} \left\|f(\cdot, x_{2})\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{1}}, w(\cdot, x_{2}))}^{p} dx_{2} = \left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}(w)}^{p} dx_{2}$$

where we denote $||f(\cdot, x_2)||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1}, w(\cdot, x_2))} \coloneqq (\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n_1}} |f(y_1, x_2)|^p w(y_1, x_2) \, dy_1)^{\overline{p}}$ (and similarly for $\mathcal{M}^2_{n_2}$).

Remark 3.2.1. The process of iterating norms used above to verify biparameter results will be a common tool in proving many results in subsequent sections. The same reasoning may be applied, so long as the result corresponding to $\|\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1f(\cdot, x_2)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1}, w(\cdot, x_2))} \lesssim$ $\|f(\cdot, x_2)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1}, w(\cdot, x_2))}$ from above is uniform with respect to the necessary parameters (which will often result from the fact that $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ implies $[w(\cdot, x_2)]_{A_p}$ and $[w(x_1, \cdot)]_{A_p}$ are bounded uniformly in x_1 and x_2).

3.2.2 Littlewood-Paley operators and square function-type estimates

The following square function-type estimate, known as the weighted Fefferman-Stein maximal inequality (introduced in Fefferman-Stein [22]), is a vector-valued version of boundedness properties relating to the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator: If $1 < p, q < \infty$ and $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then for all sequences $\{f_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of locally integrable functions defined on \mathbb{R}^n , it holds that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\mathcal{M}(f_j)|^q \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |f_j|^q \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^p(w)}, \tag{3.7}$$

where the implicit constant depends on p, q, and $[w]_{A_p}$. By iterating norms just as we did in showing that $\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1$ was a bounded operator (see Remark 3.2.1), we obtain that (3.7) is valid if \mathcal{M} is replaced by either $\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1$ or $\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2$, a result which we will use while considering norm estimates in Subsection 3.3.3. Additionally, throughout the proofs of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4, many weighted estimates in the spirit of (3.7) which involve various Littlewood-Paley operators or other generalized operators will be needed. Here, we set notation for said Littlewood-Paley operators and state a number of lemmas providing the necessary estimates.

We begin by defining families of operators analogous to those defined in (A.3) and (A.4), but which will be useful to us in the biparameter setting. Given functions $\Psi_1 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1})$ and $\Psi_2 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ whose Fourier transforms are supported in annuli of \mathbb{R}^{n_1} and \mathbb{R}^{n_2} , respectively, define families of operators $\{\Delta_j^{\Psi_\ell}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ by

$$\widehat{\Delta_j^{\Psi_\ell}f}(\xi) \coloneqq \widehat{\Psi_\ell}(2^{-j}\xi_\ell)\widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}, \ell = 1, 2, \tag{3.8}$$

where $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Similarly, given $\Phi_1 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1})$ and $\Phi_2 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ whose Fourier transforms do not vanish at the origin and are supported in a ball centered at the origin in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} and \mathbb{R}^{n_2} , respectively, define families of operators $\{S_j^{\Phi_\ell}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ by

$$\widehat{S_j^{\Phi_\ell}f}(\xi) \coloneqq \widehat{\Phi_\ell}(2^{-j}\xi_\ell)\widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}, \ell = 1, 2.$$
(3.9)

Many of the lemmas that will be stated below involve $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying one or both properties (A.5) and (A.6). Some lemmas also involve functions which satisfy biparameter versions of said properties. Specifically, we will consider $\Psi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}}), \ \ell = 1, 2$, which satisfy one or both of the following properties:

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}) \subseteq \{\xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} : \frac{1}{2} < |\xi_{\ell}| < 2\},$$
(3.10)

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j}\xi_{\ell}) = 1, \quad \xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} \setminus \{0\}.$$
(3.11)

We defer to Section B.1 for the proofs or proof references of all of the following lemmas. We note that all lemmas stated below hold for slightly more general functions. In place of properties (A.5) and (3.10), it would suffice to have the Fourier transform of the functions supported in any annulus, and in place of properties (A.6) and (3.11), it would suffice for the sum to equal any constant (uniform in $\xi \neq 0$), not necessarily 1. The lemmas as stated here will be sufficient for our purposes.

The first lemma we will utilize gives a characterization of weighted Lebesgue spaces

associated to weights in the Muckenhoupt classes in terms of square-function operators.

Lemma 3.9. *Let* 1*.*

(a) Let $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (A.5) and (A.6). If $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(w)} \sim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j}^{\Psi} f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^{p}(w),$$
(3.12)

where the implicit constant depends on p, Ψ , and $[w]_{A_p}$.

(b) For $\ell = 1, 2$, let $\Psi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ satisfy (3.10) and (3.11). If $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, it holds that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(w)} \sim \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{1} \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j_{2} \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_{1}}^{\Psi_{1}} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{\Psi_{2}} f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^{p}(w), \quad (3.13)$$

where the implicit constant depends on p, Ψ_1 , Ψ_2 , and $[w]'_{A_p}$.

Notice in the statement of Lemma 3.9 that the result holds for weights in a specific Muckenhoupt class $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ relating to the weighted Lebesgue space $L^p(w)$ in which the associated functions lie. By relaxing this condition and allowing the weights to be in any Muckenhoupt class (that is, in $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$), we may obtain results similar to (3.12) and (3.13) with the loss of one direction of norm comparability, as the following lemma states.

Lemma 3.10. *Let* 0*.*

(a) Let $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (A.5) and (A.6). If $w \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(w)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j}^{\Psi} f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

(b) For $\ell = 1, 2$, let $\Psi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ satisfy (3.10) and (3.11). If $w \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, it holds that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(w)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{1} \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j_{2} \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_{1}}^{\Psi_{1}} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{\Psi_{2}} f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$

In proving Theorems 1.3 and 1.4, there will be situations where operators as defined in (A.3) and (3.8) will appear, but with a translation associated to the multiplier function, that is to say operators of the form $\Delta_j^{\tau_u \Psi}$ where $\tau_u \Psi(x) := \Psi(x+u)$ and u may depend on j. The following lemma says that one of the inequalities given in (3.12) and (3.13) holds for such operators with constants uniform with respect to the translations.

Lemma 3.11. Let 1 .

(a) Let $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (A.5). Given a sequence $\bar{z} = \{z_{j,a}\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, a \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, define $\Psi_{j,a}^{\bar{z}}(x) \coloneqq \Psi(x + z_{j,a})$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $a \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. If $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that $\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{\Psi_{j,a}^{\bar{z}}} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{\mathbb{T}^n} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(w),$

where the implicit constant depends on Ψ , p, and $[w]_{A_p}$ but is independent of a and \bar{z} .

(b) For $\ell = 1, 2$, let $\Psi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ satisfy (3.10). Given sequences $\bar{z}^{\ell} = \{z_{j,a}^{\ell}\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}, a \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}}$, define $\Psi_{j,a}^{\bar{z}^{\ell}}(x) \coloneqq \Psi_{\ell}(x + z_{j,a}^{\ell})$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}}$, $a \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}$, and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. If $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, it holds that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_{j_1, a_1}^{\bar{z}}} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_{j_2, a_2}^{\bar{z}^2}} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(w),$$

where the implicit constant may depend on Ψ_1 , Ψ_2 , p, and $[w]'_{A_p}$ but is independent of a_1, a_2, \bar{z}^1 , and \bar{z}^2 .

Next, we state two lemmas which give weighted square function-type estimates involving more general families of operators. Specifically, we detail Lemma 3.12 (which will be useful in the proofs of Lemmas 3.13 and 3.15 and Theorem 1.3) and Lemma 3.13 (which is utilized in the proofs of Lemmas 3.9 and 3.11).

Lemma 3.12. Let $1 < r < \infty$ and assume $\{T_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is a family of operators acting on

functions defined on \mathbb{R}^n such that if $w \in A_r(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_k(f)|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^r(w)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^r(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^r(w),$$

$$(3.14)$$

where the implicit constant may depend on r and $[w]_{A_r}$. If $1 and <math>w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_k(f_j)|^2 \right)^{\frac{r}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |f_j|^r \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\|_{L^p(w)},$$

with the implicit constant depending on p, r, and $[w]_{A_p}$.

Lemma 3.13. Let $1 and <math>n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, and assume $\{T_j^1\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and $\{T_j^2\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ are families of operators defined for functions on \mathbb{R}^{n_1} and \mathbb{R}^{n_2} , respectively, such that if $w_1 \in A_2(\mathbb{R}^{n_1})$ and $w_2 \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, it holds that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| T_j^1(f) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^2(w_1)} \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{L^2(w_1)}, \quad \forall f \in L^2(w_1), \tag{3.15}$$

where the implicit constant may depend on $[w_1]_{A_2}$, and

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| T_j^2(f) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w_2)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w_2)}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(w_2), \tag{3.16}$$

where the implicit constant may depend on p and $[w_2]_{A_p}$. If $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$, we have

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| T_{j_1}^1 T_{j_2}^2(f) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(w),$$

with the implicit constant depending on p and $[w]'_{A_p}$.

We conclude the section with two final lemmas giving weighted square function-type estimates relating to certain families of Littlewood-Paley-type operators whose associated multipliers have a translation and depend on the summation variable $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Lemma 3.15 requires Lemma 3.14 for its proof, and both lemmas will be utilized in the proof of Theorem 1.3.

Lemma 3.14. Let $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (A.5). Given $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$, define $J_j^s \Psi$ via $\widehat{J_j^s \Psi}(\xi) \coloneqq (2^{-2j} + |\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\Psi}(\xi)$ for $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If $1 and <math>w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_u J_j^s \Psi} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w)}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(w), \, u \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where the implicit constant depends on Ψ and $[w]_{A_p}$.

Lemma 3.15. Let $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (A.5). Given $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$, define $J_j^s \Psi$ via $\widehat{J_j^s \Psi}(\xi) \coloneqq (2^{-2j} + |\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\Psi}(\xi)$ for $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If $1 < p, r < \infty$ and $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it holds that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_u J_j^s \Psi} f_k \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{r}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| f_k \right|^r \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\|_{L^p(w)}$$

where the implicit constant may depend on p, r, and $[w]_{A_p}$, but is independent of $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\{f_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$.

3.3 Proof of weighted fractional Leibniz rules associated to biparameter Coifman-Meyer multipliers

In this section, we prove Theorem 1.4, which we will divide into a few pieces. In Subsection 3.3.1, we establish a biparaproduct decomposition of T_{σ} , similar to the ideas introduced in Subsection 2.2.1. In Subsection 3.3.2, we do some analysis on the multipliers associated with the decomposition, and we conclude by applying various norm estimates (primarily from Subsection 3.2.2) to obtain the desired results in Subsection 3.3.3.

Before beginning the proof of Theorem 1.4, we set some notation that will be used

throughout the section. Let $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n = n_1 + n_2$. For $\ell = 1, 2$, fix $\Psi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ satisfying (3.10) and (3.11). Define $\Phi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ via

$$\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell}) \coloneqq \begin{cases} 1, & \xi_{\ell} = 0, \\\\ \sum_{j < -2} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j}\xi_{\ell}), & \xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} \setminus \{0\}. \end{cases}$$

From this definition, we may conclude that for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\Phi_{\ell}(2^{-k}\xi_{\ell}) = \sum_{j < k-2} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j}\xi_{\ell}), \quad \forall \xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} \setminus \{0\}.$$
(3.17)

Additional properties satisfied by Φ_{ℓ} include

$$\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}\Big|_{B(0,\frac{1}{16})} \equiv 1, \qquad \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}) \subset \{\xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} : |\xi_{\ell}| < \frac{1}{4}\}.$$
(3.18)

Throughout the chapter, we will also require auxiliary functions $\psi_{\ell}, \phi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\widehat{\psi}_{\ell}$ and $\widehat{\phi}_{\ell}$ have slightly larger supports than $\widehat{\Psi}_{\ell}$ and $\widehat{\Phi}_{\ell}$, respectively, and

$$\left. \widehat{\psi_{\ell}} \right|_{\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}})} \equiv 1, \qquad \left. \widehat{\phi_{\ell}} \right|_{\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}})} \equiv 1.$$
(3.19)

We may without loss of generality choose $\psi_{\ell}, \phi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}_{\ell}) \subseteq \{\xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} : \frac{1}{2} < |\xi_{\ell}| < 2\}, \quad \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\phi}_{\ell}) \subseteq \{\xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} : |\xi_{\ell}| < \frac{1}{4}\}.$$
(3.20)

3.3.1 Paraproduct decomposition

Let σ be a biparameter Coifman-Meyer multiplier as in Definition 3.1. By (3.11), we have

$$\begin{split} T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma(\xi,\eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma(\xi,\eta) \left(\sum_{j_1,k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}\xi_1) \widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-k_1}\eta_1) \right) \left(\sum_{j_2,k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}\xi_2) \widehat{\Psi_2}(2^{-k_2}\eta_2) \right) \\ &\quad \times \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta \\ &=: \sum_{t_1,t_2=1}^3 \Pi_{t_1,t_2}(f,g)(x), \end{split}$$

where for $t_1, t_2 \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, Π_{t_1, t_2} are bilinear multiplier operators with corresponding multipliers given by

$$\sigma_{t_1,t_2}(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sigma(\xi,\eta) M_1^{t_1}(\xi_1,\eta_1) M_2^{t_2}(\xi_2,\eta_2),$$

where

$$\begin{split} M^1_{\ell}(\xi_{\ell},\eta_{\ell}) &\coloneqq \sum_{\substack{j_{\ell},k_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}\\k_{\ell}< j_{\ell}-2}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-k_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}) = \sum_{j_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}),\\ M^2_{\ell}(\xi_{\ell},\eta_{\ell}) &\coloneqq \sum_{\substack{j_{\ell},k_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}\\j_{\ell}< k_{\ell}-2}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-k_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}) = \sum_{k_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-k_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-k_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}),\\ M^3_{\ell}(\xi_{\ell},\eta_{\ell}) &\coloneqq \sum_{j_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}). \end{split}$$

Technically, the actual form of M_ℓ^3 is given by

$$\sum_{\delta=-2}^{2} \left[\sum_{j_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}} (2^{-j_{\ell}} \xi_{\ell}) \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}} (2^{-(j_{\ell}+\delta)} \eta_{\ell}) \right].$$

However, carrying the finite sum in δ throughout the proof does not affect the results, it merely changes some of the constants obtained in inequalities. We will not track the specific values of such constants, so for ease of notation, we will restrict to the case $\delta = 0$ (as done in the definition above for M_{ℓ}^3). Note that, due to the supports of $\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}$ and $\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}$, we have that $M_{\ell}^1(\xi_{\ell},\eta_{\ell})$ is supported where $|\eta_{\ell}| \leq \frac{1}{2} |\xi_{\ell}|, M_{\ell}^2(\xi_{\ell},\eta_{\ell})$ is supported where $|\xi_{\ell}| \leq \frac{1}{2} |\eta_{\ell}|$, and $M_{\ell}^3(\xi_{\ell},\eta_{\ell})$ is supported where $|\xi_{\ell}| \sim |\eta_{\ell}|$.

It will suffice to prove the desired boundedness result for each Π_{t_1,t_2} , $t_1, t_2 \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. In fact, due to similarities in arguments, we may restrict our analysis to $\Pi_{1,1}$ (also representing the process for $\Pi_{2,2}$), $\Pi_{1,2}$ (representing $\Pi_{2,1}$), $\Pi_{1,3}$ (representing $\Pi_{2,3}$, $\Pi_{3,1}$, and $\Pi_{3,2}$), and $\Pi_{3,3}$. In saying that we are representing the process for another operator, we mean that some functions' roles are interchanged initially, but by following the same steps outlined here, we obtain a different acceptable boundedness result for that piece. For example, $\Pi_{1,1}$ is a bilinear multiplier operator with associated multiplier

$$\sigma_{1,1}(\xi,\eta) = \sigma(\xi,\eta) \left(\sum_{j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}\xi_1) \widehat{\Phi_1}(2^{-j_1}\eta_1) \right) \left(\sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}\xi_2) \widehat{\Phi_2}(2^{-j_2}\eta_2) \right)$$

Ultimately, we will obtain a bound associated with $\Pi_{1,1}$ of the form

$$\left\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)\right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \left\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\right\|_{L^p(v)} \left\|g\right\|_{L^q(w)}$$

On the other hand, $\Pi_{2,2}$ is a bilinear multiplier operator with associated multiplier

$$\sigma_{2,2}(\xi,\eta) = \sigma(\xi,\eta) \left(\sum_{j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Phi_1}(2^{-j_1}\xi_1) \widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}\eta_1) \right) \left(\sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Phi_2}(2^{-j_2}\xi_2) \widehat{\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}\eta_2) \right).$$

Notice that $\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}$ and $\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}$, $\ell = 1, 2$, are taking inputs ξ_{ℓ} and η_{ℓ} in the opposite way compared to the multiplier associated with $\Pi_{1,1}$. The result, by following the same procedure we use for $\Pi_{1,1}$, is a boundedness estimate of the form

$$\left\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{2,2}(f,g)\right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(v)} \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}g\|_{L^q(w)}$$

Similar arguments may be made with other multiplier operators representing multiple cases.

First, we consider $\sigma_{1,1}$, the multiplier associated with $\Pi_{1,1}$. By (3.19), we have for $\ell = 1, 2$

that $\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}} = \widehat{\psi_{\ell}}\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}$ and $\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}} = \widehat{\phi_{\ell}}\widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}$, so we may rewrite $\sigma_{1,1}(\xi,\eta)$ as

$$\sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}}\sigma[j_1,j_2](2^{-j_1}\xi_1,2^{-j_2}\xi_2,2^{-j_1}\eta_1,2^{-j_2}\eta_2)\widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}\xi_1)\widehat{\Phi_1}(2^{-j_1}\eta_1)\widehat{\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}\xi_2)\widehat{\Phi_2}(2^{-j_2}\eta_2),$$

where

$$\sigma[j_1, j_2](\xi, \eta) \coloneqq \sigma(2^{j_1}\xi_1, 2^{j_2}\xi_2, 2^{j_1}\eta_1, 2^{j_2}\eta_2)\Gamma_{1,1}(\xi, \eta)$$

and $\Gamma_{1,1}(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \widehat{\psi_1}(\xi_1)\widehat{\phi_1}(\eta_1)\widehat{\psi_2}(\xi_2)\widehat{\phi_2}(\eta_2)$. For multi-indices $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2), \beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2) \in \mathbb{N}_0^{n_1} \times \mathbb{N}_0^{n_2}$, we have that $\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}[\sigma(2^{j_1}\xi_1, 2^{j_2}\xi_2, 2^{j_1}\eta_1, 2^{j_2}\eta_2)]\right|$ is bounded by

$$2^{j_1(|\alpha_1+\beta_1|)+j_2(|\alpha_2+\beta_2|)} \left| \left[\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} \sigma \right] (2^{j_1} \xi_1, 2^{j_2} \xi_2, 2^{j_1} \eta_1, 2^{j_2} \eta_2) \right|$$

$$\lesssim \left(\frac{2^{j_1}}{(|2^{j_1} \xi_1| + |2^{j_1} \eta_1|)} \right)^{|\alpha_1+\beta_1|} \left(\frac{2^{j_2}}{(|2^{j_2} \xi_2| + |2^{j_2} \eta_2|)} \right)^{|\alpha_2+\beta_2|}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(|\xi_1| + |\eta_1|)^{|\alpha_1+\beta_1|}} \frac{1}{(|\xi_2| + |\eta_2|)^{|\alpha_2+\beta_2|}},$$

where we have used that σ satisfies (3.2). Since $\Gamma_{1,1} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$, we see that $\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\gamma}\partial_{\eta}^{\delta}\Gamma_{1,1}(\xi,\eta)\right| \leq C_{\gamma,\delta}$ for any $\gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}$. Further, due to the supports of the functions which comprise $\Gamma_{1,1}$ (see (3.20)), it holds that

$$\operatorname{supp}(\Gamma_{1,1}) \subseteq \{(\xi,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} : c_1 < |\xi_1| + |\eta_1| < C_1\} \cap \{(\xi,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} : c_2 < |\xi_2| + |\eta_2| < C_2\},\$$

where in the specific case of $\Gamma_{1,1}$, $c_1 = c_2 = \frac{1}{2}$ and $C_1 = C_2 = \frac{9}{4}$. Due to the lower bounds on $|\xi_1| + |\eta_1|$ and $|\xi_2| + |\eta_2|$ within the support of $\Gamma_{1,1}$, we may conclude that $\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} \sigma[j_1, j_2]$ is bounded uniformly in $j_1, j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Since $\sigma[j_1, j_2]$ is compactly supported (with support independent of j_1 and j_2), we may consider the Fourier series expansion of a periodic extension of $\sigma[j_1, j_2]$ (see Section A.3). Let $H = \left[-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}\right]^{2n}$, where h is large enough so that $\operatorname{supp}(\sigma[j_1, j_2]) \subseteq H$, then

$$\sigma[j_1, j_2](2^{-j_1}\xi_1, 2^{-j_2}\xi_2, 2^{-j_1}\eta_1, 2^{-j_2}\eta_2) = (3.21)$$

$$\left(\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} c[j_1, j_2, a, b] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a,b)\cdot(2^{-j_1}\xi_1, 2^{-j_2}\xi_2, 2^{-j_1}\eta_1, 2^{-j_2}\eta_2)}\right) \chi_H(2^{-j_1}\xi_1, 2^{-j_2}\xi_2, 2^{-j_1}\eta_1, 2^{-j_2}\eta_2),$$

where

$$c[j_1, j_2, a, b] = \frac{1}{h^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma[j_1, j_2](\xi, \eta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a \cdot \xi + b \cdot \eta)} d\xi \, d\eta.$$

Fix $N \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large (where we specify the necessary size for N in Subsection 3.3.3). Define

$$C[j_1, j_2, a, b] \coloneqq (1 + |a|^2 + |b|^2)^N c[j_1, j_2, a, b]$$

Since $[1 - \Delta_{\xi,\eta}](e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a\cdot\xi + b\cdot\eta)}) = (1 + \frac{4\pi^2}{h^2}|a|^2 + \frac{4\pi^2}{h^2}|b|^2)e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a\cdot\xi + b\cdot\eta)}$, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{C}[j_{1}, j_{2}, a, b]| &= \frac{1}{h^{2n}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} (1 + |a|^{2} + |b|^{2})^{N} \sigma[j_{1}, j_{2}](\xi, \eta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a \cdot \xi + b \cdot \eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta \right| \\ &\sim \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma[j_{1}, j_{2}](\xi, \eta) [1 - \Delta_{\xi, \eta}]^{N} (e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a \cdot \xi + b \cdot \eta)}) \, d\xi \, d\eta \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\substack{c_{1} < |\xi_{1}| + |\eta_{1}| < C_{1} \\ c_{2} < |\xi_{2}| + |\eta_{2}| < C_{2}}} [1 - \Delta_{\xi, \eta}]^{N} (\sigma[j_{1}, j_{2}])(\xi, \eta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}(a \cdot \xi + b \cdot \eta)} \, d\xi \, d\eta \right| \\ &\leq \int_{\substack{c_{1} < |\xi_{1}| + |\eta_{1}| < C_{1} \\ c_{2} < |\xi_{2}| + |\eta_{2}| < C_{2}}} \left| [1 - \Delta_{\xi, \eta}]^{N} (\sigma[j_{1}, j_{2}])(\xi, \eta) \right| \, d\xi \, d\eta, \end{aligned}$$

where in the third line we have done integration by parts and taken into consideration the support of $\sigma[j_1, j_2]$. Considering the last line and using the fact that a finite sum of uniformly bounded functions integrated over a compact set is itself bounded, we have that $|\mathcal{C}[j_1, j_2, a, b]| \leq 1$, where the implicit constant is independent of $j_1, j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. We obtain a paraproduct representation for $\Pi_{1,1}(f, g)$ by substituting (3.21) back into the formula for $\sigma_{1,1}$ (and dropping the χ_H piece, which is redundant due to the supports of Ψ_ℓ and Φ_ℓ , $\ell = 1, 2$, in the formula for $\sigma_{1,1}$). By also using property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform, the result is a paraproduct representation for $\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)(x)$ given by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b][\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}\Psi_2} f](x)[S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}\Phi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}\Phi_2} g](x), \quad (3.22)$$

where $a = (a_1, a_2), b = (b_1, b_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{Z}^{n_2}$ and $\tau_u F(\cdot) = F(\cdot + \frac{u}{h})$. In fact, throughout the remainder of our arguments, our translation operators will always implicitly divide the shift by h, but we relax this notation since the division by h in the shift is negligible.

Obtaining paraproduct representations for $\Pi_{1,2}$, $\Pi_{1,3}$, and $\Pi_{3,3}$ involves exactly the same steps used in considering the multiplier associated with $\Pi_{1,1}$, with a few slight adjustments. First, $\Gamma_{1,1}$ is replaced by a product of appropriate auxiliary functions, where

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{1,2}(\xi,\eta) &\coloneqq \widehat{\psi_1}(\xi_1)\widehat{\phi_1}(\eta_1)\widehat{\phi_2}(\xi_2)\widehat{\psi_2}(\eta_2), \\ \Gamma_{1,3}(\xi,\eta) &\coloneqq \widehat{\psi_1}(\xi_1)\widehat{\phi_1}(\eta_1)\widehat{\psi_2}(\xi_2)\widehat{\psi_2}(\eta_2), \\ \Gamma_{3,3}(\xi,\eta) &\coloneqq \widehat{\psi_1}(\xi_1)\widehat{\psi_1}(\eta_1)\widehat{\psi_2}(\xi_2)\widehat{\psi_2}(\eta_2), \end{split}$$

corresponding to $\Pi_{1,2}$, $\Pi_{1,3}$, and $\Pi_{3,3}$, respectively. The other differences in these cases from that of $\Pi_{1,1}$ are the specific values of c_{ℓ} and C_{ℓ} , $\ell = 1, 2$. However, $c_1, c_2 > 0$ and $C_1, C_2 < \infty$, which is all that is necessary for the analysis. Finally, we obtain the following paraproduct decompositions:

$$\Pi_{1,2}(f,g)(x) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b][\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}\Phi_2} f](x)[S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}\Phi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}\Psi_2} g](x),$$

$$\Pi_{1,3}(f,g)(x) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b][\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}\Psi_2} f](x)[S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}\Phi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}\Psi_2} g](x),$$

$$\Pi_{3,3}(f,g)(x) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b][\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}\Psi_2} f](x)[\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}\Psi_2} g](x)$$

where the coefficients $C[j_1, j_2, a, b]$ are defined slightly differently in each line but are nonetheless uniformly bounded in $j_1, j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

3.3.2 Analysis of multipliers

The following functions will be integral components of the multipliers we will come across in applying the norm estimates in Subsection 3.3.3:

$$\begin{split} N^{1}_{\ell}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) &\coloneqq |\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \,\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}), \\ N^{2}_{\ell}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) &\coloneqq |\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \,\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}), \\ N^{3}_{\ell}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) &\coloneqq |\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \,\widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}), \end{split}$$

for $\ell = 1, 2, j_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}$. In this section, we do some preparatory analysis on the above functions.

We first consider $N_{\ell}^{1}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell})$. Notice that

$$\begin{split} N_{\ell}^{1}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) \\ &= |\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}) \\ &= |\xi_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \left[\left| 2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}) \right|^{s_{\ell}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell})) \right] \left[\left| 2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell} \right|^{-s_{\ell}} \widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell}) \right] \widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}) \\ &= |\xi_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell})) \mathcal{F}[D^{-s_{\ell}}\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}). \end{split}$$

We consider the Fourier series expansion of a periodic extension of the compactly supported function $\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}]$ (whose support is identical to that of $\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}$). Let $H_{\ell} = [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}]^{n_{\ell}}$ with $\operatorname{supp}(\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}]) \subseteq H_{\ell}$, then

$$\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\omega) = \left[\sum_{m_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}} c^{s_{\ell}}[m_{\ell}]e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}2^{-j_{\ell}}\omega\cdot m_{\ell}}\right]\chi_{H_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\omega),$$

where

$$c^{s_{\ell}}[m_{\ell}] = \frac{1}{h^{n_{\ell}}} \int_{H_{\ell}} |\zeta|^{s_{\ell}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h} \zeta \cdot m_{\ell}} d\zeta,$$

with $c^{s_{\ell}}[m_{\ell}] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |m_{\ell}|)^{-K})$ for any K > 0 by (A.1) (replace $m_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}$ by a continuous variable so we regard $c^{s_{\ell}}$ as a continuous function defined on $\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}}$; then $c^{s_{\ell}} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ is the

inverse Fourier transform of $|\cdot|^{s_{\ell}} \widehat{\Psi_{\ell}}$, which is in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ since $\widehat{\Psi_{\ell}} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ is supported away from the origin). Substituting in this Fourier series expansion formula for $\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\cdot)$ and using property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform, we obtain a final representation given by

$$N_{\ell}^{1}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) = |\xi_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \sum_{m_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}} c^{s_{\ell}}[m_{\ell}] \mathcal{F}[D^{-s_{\ell}}\tau_{a_{\ell}+m_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell}) \mathcal{F}[\tau_{b_{\ell}+m_{\ell}}\Phi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}).$$
(3.23)

By the same process, we may obtain a representation for $N_{\ell}^2[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell})$ given by

$$N_{\ell}^{2}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) = |\eta_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \sum_{m_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}} c^{s_{\ell}}[m_{\ell}] \mathcal{F}[\tau_{a_{\ell}+m_{\ell}} \Phi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell}) \mathcal{F}[D^{-s_{\ell}}\tau_{b_{\ell}+m_{\ell}} \Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}),$$
(3.24)

where the coefficients $c^{s_{\ell}}[m_{\ell}]$ are defined slightly differently, but satisfy the same decay estimate.

Next, we consider $N_{\ell}^{3}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell})$. Define $\varphi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}})$ via $\widehat{\varphi_{\ell}} \coloneqq \widehat{\Phi_{\ell}}(2^{-6}\cdot)$, so that $\widehat{\varphi_{\ell}}$ is identically 1 on $\{\xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} : |\xi_{\ell}| \leq 4\}$ and is supported within $\{\xi_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{\ell}} : |\xi_{\ell}| \leq 16\}$ by (3.18). It is easily verified that $\widehat{\varphi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}))$ equals 1 within the support of $N_{\ell}^{3}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell})$, so we have

$$\begin{split} N_{\ell}^{3}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) \\ &= |\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \,\widehat{\varphi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell})\widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}) \\ &= |\xi_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \left[\left| 2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell}) \right|^{s_{\ell}} \,\widehat{\varphi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell})) \right] \left[\left| 2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell} \right|^{-s_{\ell}} \widehat{\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell}) \right] \widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}) \\ &= |\xi_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \,\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\varphi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}(\xi_{\ell} + \eta_{\ell})) \mathcal{F}[D^{-s_{\ell}}\tau_{a_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\xi_{\ell}) \widehat{\tau_{b_{\ell}}\Psi_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\eta_{\ell}). \end{split}$$

We consider the Fourier series expansion of a periodic extension of the compactly supported function $\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\varphi_{\ell}]$. This results in

$$\mathcal{F}[D^{s_{\ell}}\varphi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}}\omega) = \left[\sum_{m_{\ell}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}}\widetilde{c^{s_{\ell}}}[m_{\ell}]e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}2^{-j_{\ell}}\omega\cdot m_{\ell}}\right]\chi_{H_{\ell}}(2^{-j_{\ell}}\omega),$$

where

$$\widetilde{c^{s_{\ell}}}[m_{\ell}] = \frac{1}{h^{n_{\ell}}} \int_{H_{\ell}} |\zeta|^{s_{\ell}} \varphi_{\ell}(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}\zeta \cdot m_{\ell}} d\zeta$$

with $\widetilde{c^{s_{\ell}}}[m_{\ell}] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |m_{\ell}|)^{-n_{\ell}-s_{\ell}})$ (see Grafakos-Oh [30, Lemma 1]). We substitute this Fourier series expansion back into the formula found above for $N_{\ell}^{3}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell})$ to obtain a final representation given by

$$N_{\ell}^{3}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}](\xi_{\ell}, \eta_{\ell}) = |\xi_{\ell}|^{s_{\ell}} \sum_{m_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{\ell}}} \widetilde{c^{s_{\ell}}}[m_{\ell}] \mathcal{F}[D^{-s_{\ell}} \tau_{a_{\ell}+m_{\ell}} \Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}} \xi_{\ell}) \mathcal{F}[\tau_{b_{\ell}+m_{\ell}} \Psi_{\ell}](2^{-j_{\ell}} \eta_{\ell}).$$
(3.25)

3.3.3 Norm estimates

In this subsection, we consider $||D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))||_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}$ and obtain the desired boundedness results, recalling that the indices p, q, r, s_1, s_2 , and the weights v and w are as in the statement of Theorem 1.4. Before beginning, define $r^* := \min\{1, r\}$, and note that $v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}} \in A_{\max\{p,q\}}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2}) \subset A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ (see Lemma B.2 with $\theta_1 = \frac{r}{p}$ and $\theta_2 = \frac{r}{q}$; the same reasoning holds for product Muckenhoupt weight classes). Following the first line of inequalities in Subsection 3.3.1, we see that

$$\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \sum_{t_1,t_2=1}^3 \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{t_1,t_2}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}.$$

As reasoned in Subsection 3.3.1, we need only obtain the desired results for the pieces associated with $\Pi_{1,1}$, $\Pi_{1,2}$, $\Pi_{1,3}$, and $\Pi_{3,3}$.

We begin with the $\Pi_{1,1}$ term. By Lemma 3.10, we have

$$\left\|D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} \lesssim \left\|\left(\sum_{j_{1},j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\Delta_{j_{1}}^{\Psi_{1}}\Delta_{j_{2}}^{\Psi_{2}}D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}}.$$
 (3.26)

By recalling the paraproduct representation obtained for $\Pi_{1,1}$ in (3.22), we see that $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,1}$

is a bilinear multiplier operator with associated multiplier given by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{\tilde{j}_1,\tilde{j}_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[\tilde{j}_1,\tilde{j}_2,a,b] \\ \times |\xi_1+\eta_1|^{s_1} \widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}(\xi_1+\eta_1))\widehat{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1}(2^{-\tilde{j}_1}\xi_1)\widehat{\tau_{b_1}\Phi_1}(2^{-\tilde{j}_1}\eta_1) \\ \times |\xi_2+\eta_2|^{s_2} \widehat{\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}(\xi_2+\eta_2))\widehat{\tau_{a_2}\Psi_2}(2^{-\tilde{j}_2}\xi_2)\widehat{\tau_{b_2}\Phi_2}(2^{-\tilde{j}_2}\eta_2).$$

By considering the supports of Ψ_{ℓ} and Φ_{ℓ} for $\ell = 1, 2$, it may easily be verified that for each fixed $j_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}$, the sum in $\tilde{j}_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Z}$ actually need only run over $j_{\ell} - 3 \leq \tilde{j}_{\ell} \leq j_{\ell} + 3$. This simplies the form of the multiplier associated to $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,1}$ to be as follows:

$$\sum_{\delta_{1},\delta_{2}=-3}^{3} \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \mathcal{C}[j_{1}+\delta_{1},j_{2}+\delta_{2},a,b]$$

$$\times |\xi_{1}+\eta_{1}|^{s_{1}} \widehat{\Psi_{1}}(2^{-j_{1}}(\xi_{1}+\eta_{1}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{1}}\Psi_{1}}(2^{-j_{1}-\delta_{1}}\xi_{1})\widehat{\tau_{b_{1}}\Phi_{1}}(2^{-j_{1}-\delta_{1}}\eta_{1})$$

$$\times |\xi_{2}+\eta_{2}|^{s_{2}} \widehat{\Psi_{2}}(2^{-j_{2}}(\xi_{2}+\eta_{2}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{2}}\Psi_{2}}(2^{-j_{2}-\delta_{2}}\xi_{2})\widehat{\tau_{b_{2}}\Phi_{2}}(2^{-j_{2}-\delta_{2}}\eta_{2}).$$

The next step would be to split the ℓ^2 -norm and weighted L^r -norm in (3.26) across the sum in $\delta_1, \delta_2 = -3, \ldots, 3$. Since the analysis works in the same way for all δ_ℓ cases, we simplify notation by only considering the case $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 0$, a case which yields the following form for the multiplier associated to $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,1}$:

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b]}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} N_1^1[j_1,a_1,b_1](\xi_1,\eta_1)N_2^1[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2)$$

where $N_{\ell}^{1}[j_{\ell}, a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}]$ for $\ell = 1, 2$ is as defined in Subsection 3.3.2. With this multiplier in mind, (3.23) implies that $\Delta_{j_{1}}^{\Psi_{1}} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{\Psi_{2}} D_{1}^{s_{1}} D_{2}^{s_{2}} \Pi_{1,1}(f,g)(x)$ has the form

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b]}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} c^{s_1}[m_1]c^{s_2}[m_2] \\ \times \left[(\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f) \cdot (S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Phi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Phi_2} g) \right] (x).$$

Substituting this into (3.26), and taking into account that $C[j_1, j_2, a, b]$ are uniformly bounded, we see that $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^{Nr^*}} \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} |c^{s_1}[m_1]|^{r^*} |c^{s_2}[m_2]|^{r^*} \times \left\| \left(\sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| [\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f] \cdot [S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Phi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Phi_2} g] \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*},$$

where we have used Minkowski's integral inequality (see Section B.2). Recall that we may choose N > 0 as large as we wish, which only would have affected the definition of the $C[j_1, j_2, a, b]$, but not their uniform boundedness property. Also recall the decay properties of the coefficients $c^{s_\ell}[m_\ell]$, for which $c^{s_\ell}[m_\ell] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |m_\ell|)^{-K})$ for any K > 0. We will see that, if we can obtain some $\tilde{K} > 0$ for which the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece above is bounded by something of the form

$$(1+|a|+|b|+|m|)^{\tilde{K}} \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)} \|g\|_{L^q(w)},$$

where $a = (a_1, a_2), b = (b_1, b_2), m = (m_1, m_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_1} \times \mathbb{Z}^{n_2}$, our work will be complete, for if we were able to do so, that would imply that $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b,m\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \left(\frac{(1+|a|+|b|+|m|)^{\tilde{K}}}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N(1+|m_1|)^K(1+|m_2|)^K} \right)^{r^*} \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}.$$

Choosing K, N > 0 large enough would allow the above summation in $a, b, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ to converge, so that we would conclude the desired result, namely

$$\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,1}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} \lesssim \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}.$$

With this goal in mind, we use (3.5) to obtain a pointwise bound (uniform in $j_1, j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$)

given by

$$\left| \left[S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1+m_1}\Phi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2+m_2}\Phi_2} g \right](x) \right| \lesssim (1+|b_1|+|m_1|)^{n_1+1} (1+|b_2|+|m_2|)^{n_2+1} \mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1 \mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2 g(x).$$

Using this pointwise bound and an application of Hölder's inequality on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece of interest, we obtain the following bound for the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm term:

$$(1+|b_1|+|m_1|)^{n_1+1}(1+|b_2|+|m_2|)^{n_2+1} \left\| \mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1 \mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2 g \right\|_{L^q(w)} \\ \times \left\| \left(\sum_{j_1,j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \left[\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \right\|_{L^p(v)}$$

Finally, an application of Lemma 3.11 on the $L^p(v)$ -norm term, along with the facts that $\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1$ and $\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2$ are bounded operators on $L^q(w)$ (as discussed in Subsection 3.2.1) and $(1 + |b_1| + |m_1|)^{n_1+1}(1 + |b_2| + |m_2|)^{n_2+1} \leq (1 + |a| + |b| + |m|)^{n+2}$, concludes the case for $\Pi_{1,1}$.

We now move on to the $\Pi_{1,2}$ term, which will be handled very similarly to the $\Pi_{1,1}$ term. We again begin with an application of Lemma 3.10 to obtain

$$\left\|D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}\Pi_{1,2}(f,g)\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} \lesssim \left\|\left(\sum_{j_{1},j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\Delta_{j_{1}}^{\Psi_{1}}\Delta_{j_{2}}^{\Psi_{2}}D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}\Pi_{1,2}(f,g)\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}}.$$
 (3.27)

Following the arguments in the $\Pi_{1,1}$ case, we see that we must examine $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,2}$, a bilinear multiplier operator with associated multiplier given by

$$\sum_{\delta_{1},\delta_{2}=-3}^{3} \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \mathcal{C}[j_{1}+\delta_{1},j_{2}+\delta_{2},a,b]$$

$$\times |\xi_{1}+\eta_{1}|^{s_{1}} \widehat{\Psi_{1}}(2^{-j_{1}}(\xi_{1}+\eta_{1}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{1}}\Psi_{1}}(2^{-j_{1}-\delta_{1}}\xi_{1})\widehat{\tau_{b_{1}}\Phi_{1}}(2^{-j_{1}-\delta_{1}}\eta_{1})$$

$$\times |\xi_{2}+\eta_{2}|^{s_{2}} \widehat{\Psi_{2}}(2^{-j_{2}}(\xi_{2}+\eta_{2}))\widehat{\tau_{a_{2}}\Phi_{2}}(2^{-j_{2}-\delta_{2}}\xi_{2})\widehat{\tau_{b_{2}}\Psi_{2}}(2^{-j_{2}-\delta_{2}}\eta_{2})$$

As reasoned in the $\Pi_{1,1}$ case, we may disregard the sums in δ_1 and δ_2 . By utilizing the functions studied in Subsection 3.3.2, we see that the multiplier associated with $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,2}$ has the form

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b]}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} N_1^1[j_1,a_1,b_1](\xi_1,\eta_1)N_2^2[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2).$$

Thus, we may expand the multiplier using (3.23) and (3.24) to see that $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,2}(f,g)(x)$ has the form

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b]}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} c^{s_1}[m_1]c^{s_2}[m_2] \\ \times \left[(\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Phi_2} D_1^{s_1}f) \cdot (S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Phi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_2^{s_2}g) \right] (x).$$

As in the $\Pi_{1,1}$ case, we now substitute back into (3.27) to see that $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,2}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^{Nr^*}} \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} |c^{s_1}[m_1]|^{r^*} |c^{s_2}[m_2]|^{r^*} \times \left\| \left(\sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| [\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Phi_2} D_1^{s_1} f] \cdot [S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Phi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_2^{s_2} g] \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$$

Thus, if there exists some $\tilde{K} > 0$ for which the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece above is bounded by something of the form $(1 + |a| + |b| + |m|)^{\tilde{K}} \|D_1^{s_1}f\|_{L^p(v)} \|D_2^{s_2}g\|_{L^q(w)}$, the $\Pi_{1,2}$ case will be complete, as it would imply $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,2}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} \lesssim \|D_1^{s_1}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|D_2^{s_2}g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}$, again as reasoned in the $\Pi_{1,1}$ case. First, note that by (3.5), we have the following pointwise bounds (uniform in j_2 and j_1 , respectively):

$$\left| \left[\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} S_{j_2}^{\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Phi_2} D_1^{s_1} f \right](x) \right| \lesssim (1+|a_2|+|m_2|)^{n_2+1} \left| \left[\mathcal{M}_{n_2}^2 \Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} D_1^{s_1} f \right](x) \right|,$$
$$\left| \left[S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Phi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_2^{s_2} g \right](x) \right| \lesssim (1+|b_1|+|m_1|)^{n_1+1} \left| \left[\mathcal{M}_{n_1}^1 \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_2^{s_2} g \right](x) \right|.$$

With these pointwise bounds in mind, we may use them with the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece above, followed by Hölder's inequality on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm, to obtain a bound for the
$L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm term given by

$$(1+|a_{2}|+|m_{2}|)^{n_{2}+1} \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{1}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \mathcal{M}_{n_{2}}^{2} \Delta_{j_{1}}^{D^{-s_{1}}\tau_{a_{1}+m_{1}}\Psi_{1}} D_{1}^{s_{1}} f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ \times (1+|b_{1}|+|m_{1}|)^{n_{1}+1} \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \mathcal{M}_{n_{1}}^{1} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{D^{-s_{2}}\tau_{b_{2}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}} D_{2}^{s_{2}} g \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{q}(w)}.$$

Finally, applications of the weighted Fefferman-Stein inequality (3.7) followed by Lemma 3.11 on each weighted term (applying part (a) while iterating norms; see Remark 3.2.1) yield the desired result, thus concluding the $\Pi_{1,2}$ case.

We now consider the $\Pi_{1,3}$ term. In this case, we apply Lemma 3.10 while iterating norms (see Remark 3.2.1) to obtain

$$\left\|D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}\Pi_{1,3}(f,g)\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} \lesssim \left\|\left(\sum_{j_{1}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\Delta_{j_{1}}^{\Psi_{1}}D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}\Pi_{1,3}(f,g)\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}}.$$
(3.28)

Using the paraproduct representation obtained for $\Pi_{1,3}$ in Subsection 3.3.1, we see that the bilinear multiplier operator $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,3}$ has an associated multiplier given by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{\tilde{j_1},\tilde{j_2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[\tilde{j_1},\tilde{j_2},a,b] \\ \times |\xi_1+\eta_1|^{s_1} \widehat{\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}(\xi_1+\eta_1))\widehat{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1}(2^{-\tilde{j_1}}\xi_1)\widehat{\tau_{b_1}\Phi_1}(2^{-\tilde{j_1}}\eta_1) \\ \times |\xi_2+\eta_2|^{s_2} \widehat{\tau_{a_2}\Psi_2}(2^{-\tilde{j_2}}\xi_2)\widehat{\tau_{b_2}\Psi_2}(2^{-\tilde{j_2}}\eta_2).$$

By the same reasoning as in the $\Pi_{1,1}$ case, we may, without loss of generality, equate \tilde{j}_1 with j_1 and disregard the sum in $\tilde{j}_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$. Also, for ease of notation, we rewrite \tilde{j}_2 as simply j_2 . Thus, using the notation of functions introduced in Subsection 3.3.2, we obtain the following form for the multiplier associated to $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,3}$:

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b] N_1^1[j_1,a_1,b_1](\xi_1,\eta_1) N_2^3[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2).$$

Expanding the multiplier using (3.23) and (3.25), we see that $\Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{1,3}(f,g)(x)$ has the form

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b] \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} c^{s_1}[m_1]\widetilde{c^{s_2}}[m_2] \\ \times \left[(\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f) \cdot (S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Phi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} g) \right] (x).$$

We substitute this formulation back into (3.28), from which we obtain that $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,3}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{Nr^{*}}} \sum_{m_{1}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_{1}}} \sum_{m_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_{2}}} |c^{s_{1}}[m_{1}]|^{r^{*}} \left|\widetilde{c^{s_{2}}}[m_{2}]\right|^{r^{*}} \times \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{1}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_{1}}^{D^{-s_{1}}\tau_{a_{1}}+m_{1}}\Psi_{1}\Delta_{j_{2}}^{D^{-s_{2}}\tau_{a_{2}}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}D_{1}^{s_{1}}D_{2}^{s_{2}}f \right| \cdot [S_{j_{1}}^{\tau_{b_{1}}+m_{1}}\Phi_{1}\Delta_{j_{2}}^{\tau_{b_{2}}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}g] \right)^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}$$

where we have used the uniform bound on $C[j_1, j_2, a, b]$ and Minkowski's integral inequality (see Section B.2). Due to the decay of the coefficients $\widetilde{c^{s_2}}[m_2]$, namely $\widetilde{c^{s_\ell}}[m_\ell] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |m_\ell|)^{-n_\ell - s_\ell})$, the existence of some $\tilde{K} > 0$ for which the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece above was bounded by something of the form $(1 + |a| + |b| + |m_1|)^{\tilde{K}} \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}$ would imply that $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,3}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b,m\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \left(\frac{(1+|a|+|b|+|m_1|)^{\tilde{K}}}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N(1+|m_1|)^K(1+|m_2|)^{n_2+s_2}} \right)^{r^*} \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}$$

For N, K > 0 sufficiently large, the sum in $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $m_1 \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_1}$ converges, while the sum in $m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_2}$ converges due to the hypothesis in Theorem 1.4 that $s_2 > \max\{0, n_2(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$ (that is, this hypothesis guarantees that $(n_2 + s_2)r^* > n_2$). With the sum in $a, b, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ above converging, we would obtain $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{1,3}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} \lesssim \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}$, thus completing the $\Pi_{1,3}$ case. To analyze the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm term above, we begin by using (3.5) for the operator $S_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1+m_1}\Phi_1}$ (obtaining a bound independent of $j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$), followed by an application of Hölder's inequality on the ℓ^1 -norm in $j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, which gives the following bound for the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece:

$$(1+|b_{1}|+|m_{1}|)^{n_{1}+1} \times \left\| \left[\sum_{j_{1}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_{1}}^{D^{-s_{1}}\tau_{a_{1}+m_{1}}\Psi_{1}} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{D^{-s_{2}}\tau_{a_{2}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}} D_{1}^{s_{1}} D_{2}^{s_{2}} f \right|^{2} \right) \left(\sum_{j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \mathcal{M}_{n_{1}}^{1} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{\tau_{b_{2}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}} g \right|^{2} \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}}$$

After pulling the second ℓ^2 -norm in $j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ outside the sum in $j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$, an application of Hölder's inequality on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm yields an upper bound for the original $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ norm term of the form

$$(1+|b_{1}|+|m_{1}|)^{n_{1}+1} \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \mathcal{M}_{n_{1}}^{1} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{\tau_{b_{2}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}} g \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}}$$
$$\times \left\| \left(\sum_{j_{1},j_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_{1}}^{D^{-s_{1}}\tau_{a_{1}+m_{1}}\Psi_{1}} \Delta_{j_{2}}^{D^{-s_{2}}\tau_{a_{2}+m_{2}}\Psi_{2}} D_{1}^{s_{1}} D_{2}^{s_{2}} f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}}$$

We complete the $\Pi_{1,3}$ case with an application of the weighted Fefferman-Stein inequality (3.7) on the $L^q(w)$ -norm piece, followed by an application of Lemma 3.11 on both pieces, noting that we iterate norms on the $L^q(w)$ -norm piece (see Remark 3.2.1).

Finally, we consider the last case, which relates to $\Pi_{3,3}$. From the paraproduct representation for $\Pi_{3,3}$ given in Subsection 3.3.1, we see that $D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} \Pi_{3,3}$ is a bilinear multiplier operator with the following associated multiplier:

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b] \\ \times \left[|\xi_1+\eta_1|^{s_1} \widehat{\tau_{a_1}\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}\xi_1)\widehat{\tau_{b_1}\Psi_1}(2^{-j_1}\eta_1) \right] \cdot \left[|\xi_2+\eta_2|^{s_2} \widehat{\tau_{a_2}\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}\xi_2)\widehat{\tau_{b_2}\Psi_2}(2^{-j_2}\eta_2) \right].$$

Again switching to notation using functions from Subsection 3.3.2, we may express the multiplier as follows:

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b] N_1^3[j_1,a_1,b_1](\xi_1,\eta_1) N_2^3[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2) N_1^3[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2) N_1^3[j_1,a_1,b_1](\xi_1,\eta_1) N_2^3[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2) N_1^3[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2) N_2^3[j_2,a_2,b_2](\xi_2,\eta_2) N_2^3[j_2,a_2](\xi_2,h_2) N_2^3[j_2,h_2](\xi_2,h_2) N_2^3[j_2,h_2](\xi_2,h_2) N_2^3[j_2,h_2](\xi_2,h_2) N_2^3[j_2,h_2](\xi_2,h_2) N_2^3[j_2,h_2](\xi_2,h_2](\xi_2,h_$$

By (3.25), we see that $D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{3,3}(f,g)(x)$ has the form

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j_1j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j_1,j_2,a,b] \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} \widetilde{c^{s_1}}[m_1]\widetilde{c^{s_2}}[m_2] \\ \times \left[(\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f) \cdot (\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} g) \right] (x).$$

Therefore, by the uniform bound on $C[j_1, j_2, a, b]$ and Minkowski's integral inequality (see Section B.2), we see that we may bound $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{3,3}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^{Nr^*}} \sum_{m_1\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_1}} \sum_{m_2\in\mathbb{Z}^{n_2}} \left|\widetilde{c^{s_1}}[m_1]\right|^{r^*} \left|\widetilde{c^{s_2}}[m_2]\right|^{r^*} \times \left\|\sum_{j_1,j_2\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\left[\Delta_{j_1}^{D^{-s_1}\tau_{a_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{D^{-s_2}\tau_{a_2}+m_2\Psi_2} D_1^{s_1} D_2^{s_2} f\right] \cdot \left[\Delta_{j_1}^{\tau_{b_1}+m_1\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\tau_{b_2}+m_2\Psi_2} g\right]\right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}.$$

If we could bound the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece above by $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}$, this would imply that $\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{3,3}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b,m\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \left(\frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N(1+|m_1|)^{n_1+s_1}(1+|m_2|)^{n_2+s_2}}\right)^{r^*} \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}.$$

For N sufficiently large, the sum in $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ converges, and as reasoned in the $\Pi_{1,3}$ case, the sum in $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ converges due to the hypotheses on s_ℓ , $\ell = 1, 2$, in the statement of Theorem 1.4, which guarantee $(n_\ell + s_\ell)r^* > n_\ell$. With all sums converging, we would obtain

$$\|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}\Pi_{3,3}(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} \lesssim \|D_1^{s_1}D_2^{s_2}f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*},$$

which completes not only the $\Pi_{3,3}$ case, but also the proof of the theorem. In considering the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm term above, we begin with two applications of Hölder's inequality, first on the ℓ^1 -norm in $j_1, j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, then on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm, which gives the following bound for the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece:

An application of Lemma 3.11 on each piece then concludes the estimate for $\Pi_{3,3}$.

3.4 Proof of weighted fractional Leibniz rules associated to Coifman-Meyer multipliers

In this section, we present the proof of Theorem 1.3, broken up as follows. In Subsection 3.4.1, we establish an appropriate paraproduct decomposition for the bilinear multiplier operator T_{σ} , similar to the work done in Subsection 3.3.1 to determine a biparaproduct decomposition. Subsection 3.4.2 deals with the proof of the homogeneous estimates (1.4), while Subsection 3.4.3 considers the inhomogeneous estimates (1.5).

Some boundedness results relating to Coifman-Meyer multiplier operators were mentioned in Subsection 3.1.1. Before beginning the proof of Theorem 1.3, we state specifically one such result for weighted Lebesgue spaces which will be useful in proving both the homogeneous and inhomogeneous estimates:

Theorem 3.16. Let $\sigma(\xi, \eta), \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, satisfy (3.1) for $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\alpha + \beta| \leq 2n+1$, and

consider $1 < p, q \le \infty$ and $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$. If $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then for all $f \in L^p(v)$ and $g \in L^q(w)$,

$$\|T_{\sigma}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)},$$

where the implicit constant depends on p, q, $[v]_{A_p}$, $[w]_{A_q}$, and σ .

For a proof of Theorem 3.16, see Grafakos-Martell [29, Corollary 8.2] or Lerner et al. [45, Corollary 3.9], both of which give estimates in weighted Lebesgue spaces for the more general class of bilinear Calderón-Zygmund operators. Note that the statements of the corollaries mentioned do not include the cases $p = \infty$ or $q = \infty$. However, keeping in mind that $L^{\infty}(w) = L^{\infty}$ for any Muckenhoupt weight w, it is easily seen in the succinct proof of [29, Corollary 8.2] that the operators involved are also bounded from $L^{p}(v) \times L^{\infty}$ to $L^{p}(v)$ and from $L^{\infty} \times L^{p}(v)$ to $L^{p}(v)$ for $v \in A_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ with 1 , as stated in Theorem 3.16.

Throughout the following sections, we will require auxiliary functions $\Psi, \Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Specifically, fix $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (A.5) and (A.6), and define $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via (A.7). Additionally, we will require auxiliary functions $\psi, \phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as in (A.9) and (A.10), so that $\Psi = \psi \Psi$ and $\Phi = \phi \Phi$.

3.4.1 Paraproduct decomposition

Let σ be a Coifman-Meyer multiplier, as defined in Definition 3.1. By (A.6), we have

$$T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sigma(\xi,\eta) \left(\sum_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}\eta) \right) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi+\eta)} d\xi d\eta$$
$$=: \Pi_1(f,g)(x) + \Pi_2(f,g)(x) + \Pi_3(f,g)(x),$$

where the Π pieces are bilinear multiplier operators given by

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{1}(f,g)(x) &= \sum_{\substack{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}\\k$$

Technically, Π_3 is a multiplier operator whose associated multiplier has the form

$$\sum_{\delta=-2}^{2} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma(\xi, \eta) \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j-\delta}\eta) \right].$$

However, keeping track of this extra finite sum in δ throughout the proof does not affect the results, but merely changes some of the constants obtained in inequalities. Since we are not tracking the specific values of such constants, we will, without loss of generality, consider only the case $\delta = 0$. Note that, due to the supports of $\widehat{\Psi}$ and $\widehat{\Phi}$, the integrand in the formula for $\Pi_1(f,g)$ is supported where $|\eta| \leq \frac{1}{2} |\xi|$, the integrand for $\Pi_2(f,g)$ is supported where $|\xi| \leq \frac{1}{2} |\eta|$, and the integrand for $\Pi_3(f,g)$ is supported where $|\xi| \sim |\eta|$.

It will suffice to prove the desired boundedness result for each Π piece above, and due to the fact that the Π_1 and Π_2 cases are handled with very similar arguments, we will restrict our analysis to the Π_1 and Π_3 cases (see Subsection 3.3.1 for an example relating to the proof of biparameter estimates which justifies considering only a few cases). We will first establish a paraproduct representation for $\Pi_1(f, g)$. Using that $\Psi = \psi \Psi$ and $\Phi = \phi \Phi$, we see that the multiplier associated with Π_1 may be expressed as

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\sigma[j](2^{-j}\xi,2^{-j}\eta)\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi_1)\widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta),$$

where $\sigma[j](\xi,\eta) := \sigma(2^{j}\xi, 2^{j}\eta)\Gamma_{1}(\xi,\eta)$ with $\Gamma_{1}(\xi,\eta) = \widehat{\psi}(\xi)\widehat{\phi}(\eta)$. At this point, we follow through with much of the same type of arguments as used in Subsection 3.3.1, so we will omit the exact details here. To give an idea of how things proceed, we would next verify that $\sigma[j]$ and its derivatives are bounded uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, due to the support of Γ_{1} and the fact that σ is a Coifman-Meyer multiplier. Then, we would consider the Fourier series expansion of a periodic extension of the compactly supported $\sigma[j]$, using the Fourier series coefficients $\{c[j, a, b]\}_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}$ to define another family of coefficients for some fixed $N \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large (the exact size of which will be specified in Subsections 3.4.2 and 3.4.3), given by $\mathcal{C}[j, a, b] \coloneqq (1 + |a| + |b|)^{N} c[j, a, b]$ and satisfying $|\mathcal{C}[j, a, b]| \lesssim 1$ uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}$. Finally, by substituting the Fourier series expansion of $\sigma[j]$ back into the multiplier for Π_{1} , we arrive at the following paraproduct representation:

$$\Pi_1(f,g)(x) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][\Delta_j^{\tau_a\Psi}f](x)[S_j^{\tau_b\Phi}g](x)$$

Obtaining a paraproduct representation for $\Pi_3(f,g)$ follows the same steps, with the notable difference being the use of $\Gamma_3(\xi,\eta) = \widehat{\psi}(\xi)\widehat{\psi}(\eta)$ in place of Γ_1 . In this case, we obtain the following paraproduct representation:

$$\Pi_3(f,g)(x) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][\Delta_j^{\tau_a\Psi}f](x)[\Delta_j^{\tau_b\Psi}g](x),$$

where the coefficients C[j, a, b] are defined slightly differently, but are still bounded uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

For both Subsections 3.4.2 and 3.4.3, let p, q, r, s, and the weights v and w be as in the statement of Theorem 1.3. Note that $v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}} \in A_{\max\{p,q\}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see Lemma B.2 with $\theta_1 = \frac{r}{p}$ and $\theta_2 = \frac{r}{q}$), and as before, set $r^* = \min\{1, r\}$.

3.4.2 Homogeneous estimates

We begin in the same way as in Subsection 3.3.3, noting that

$$\begin{split} \|D^{s}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \\ \lesssim \|D^{s}\Pi_{1}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} + \|D^{s}\Pi_{2}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} + \|D^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}. \end{split}$$

Our goal is to verify the desired result for each of the Π pieces above (or more precisely, for the Π_1 and Π_3 pieces, as justified in Subsection 3.4.1). We will first study the Π_1 piece. Since $D^s\Pi_1$ is itself a bilinear multiplier operator, we may consider its associated multiplier o_1 , given by

$$o_{1}(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] |\xi+\eta|^{s} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta)$$
$$= \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \frac{|\xi+\eta|^{s}}{|\xi|^{s}} \left(\widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) |\xi|^{s}\right) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

Thus, we see that $D^s \Pi_1(f,g)(x) = T_{o_1}(f,g)(x) = T_{\tilde{o}_1}(D^s f,g)(x)$, where

$$\widetilde{o}_{1}(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \frac{|\xi+\eta|^{s}}{|\xi|^{s}} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Phi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

In fact, it can be verified that \tilde{o}_1 satisfies (3.1) for all multi-indices $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ (using techniques similar to those used to prove Lemma B.1), so an application of Theorem 3.16 yields that

$$\|D^{s}\Pi_{1}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} = \|T_{\tilde{o_{1}}}(D^{s}f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \|D^{s}f\|_{l^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \,,$$

thus completing the Π_1 case. Note that the restriction on s in the statement of Theorem 1.3 was not needed for the study of Π_1 .

We now move on to the Π_3 case. Following the reasoning in the Π_1 case, it can be seen

that $D^s\Pi_3(f,g) = T_{\widetilde{o}_3}(D^sf,g)$, where

$$\widetilde{o}_{3}(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \frac{|\xi+\eta|^{s}}{|\xi|^{s}} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

In the instances where s > 2n+1 or $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$, it may be verified that \tilde{o}_3 , like \tilde{o}_1 above, satisfies the hypotheses on the multiplier in Theorem 3.16, so that an application of said theorem yields the desired result just as in the Π_1 case. More specifically, the hypotheses on the multiplier require that (3.1) be satisfied for $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\alpha + \beta| \leq 2n + 1$. Recall that in the Π_3 case, $|\xi| \sim |\eta|$ within the support of the multiplier \tilde{o}_3 . Thus, taking derivatives of the piece $|\xi + \eta|^s$ in \tilde{o}_3 may prove problematic while checking whether the multiplier satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 3.16. However, for s > 2n+1, not enough derivatives need to be taken for a singularity to develop (since we only need to check $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ with $|\alpha + \beta| \leq 2n + 1$), and for $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$, no singularity develops no matter how many derivatives are taken. For the remainder of the subsection, we deal with Π_3 in the general case $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$. We split our analysis into three cases: p and q finite, $q = \infty$, and $p = \infty$.

Case 1: $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$, $1 < p, q < \infty$. The reasoning for this case follows very closely to that of Subsection 3.3.2, so we will omit some of the details which have already been carefully laid out in that subsection. Note that we may rewrite \tilde{o}_3 as

$$\widetilde{o}_{3}(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] N^{3}[j,a,b](\xi,\eta),$$

where

$$N^{3}[j,a,b](\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \frac{|\xi+\eta|^{s}}{|\xi|^{s}} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

$$(3.29)$$

For $\widehat{\varphi} = \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-6} \cdot)$, it is easily verified that $\widehat{\varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi + \eta)) = 1$ for all $(\xi, \eta) \in \operatorname{supp}(N^3[j, a, b])$.

With this in mind, we may express $N^3[j, a, b]$ as

$$N^{3}[j, a, b](\xi, \eta) = \frac{|\xi + \eta|^{s}}{|\xi|^{s}} \widehat{\varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi + \eta)) \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$$

= $[|2^{-j}(\xi + \eta)|^{s} \widehat{\varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi + \eta))] [|2^{-j}\xi|^{-s} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)] \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$
= $\mathcal{F}[D^{s}\varphi](2^{-j}(\xi + \eta))\mathcal{F}[D^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$

Due to the compact support of $\mathcal{F}[D^s\varphi]$, say within $H = [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}]^n$ with h sufficiently large, we consider the Fourier series expansion of a periodic extension of $\mathcal{F}[D^s\varphi]$, obtaining

$$\mathcal{F}[D^{s}\varphi](2^{-j}\omega) = \left[\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \widetilde{c}^{s}[m] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}2^{-j}\omega \cdot m}\right] \chi_{H}(2^{-j}\omega),$$

where the Fourier series coefficients are given by

$$\widetilde{c}^{s}[m] = \frac{1}{h^{n}} \int_{H} |\zeta|^{s} \varphi(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h} \zeta \cdot m} d\zeta,$$

with $\tilde{c}^s[m] = \mathcal{O}((1+|m|)^{-n-s})$ (see Grafakos-Oh [30, Lemma 1]). We substitute this Fourier series expansion for $\mathcal{F}[D^s\varphi]$ back into the formula above for $N^3[j, a, b]$, keeping in mind property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform, to obtain a final representation given by

$$N^{3}[j,a,b](\xi,\eta) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \widetilde{c}^{s}[m] \mathcal{F}[D^{-s}\tau_{a+m}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \mathcal{F}[\tau_{b+m}\Psi](2^{-j}\eta).$$

With this identity for the multiplier \tilde{o}_3 , we see that $D^s\Pi_3(f,g) = T_{\tilde{o}_3}(D^sf,g)$ has the form

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \widetilde{c^s}[m] \left[(\Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_{a+m}\Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_{b+m}\Psi} g) \right](x).$$

We may now consider $\|D^s\Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}$. Using the fact that the coefficients $\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]$ are

bounded uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we see that $\|D^s \Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is controlled by

$$\sum_{a,b,m\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{|\widetilde{c^s}[m]|^{r^*}}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^{Nr^*}} \left\| \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| [\Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_{a+m}\Psi} D^s f] \cdot [\Delta_j^{\tau_{b+m}\Psi} g] \right| \right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$$

Consider just the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm piece above. Two applications of Hölder's inequality, first on the ℓ^1 -norm in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, then on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm, imply that the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm term above is bounded by

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_{a+m}\Psi} D^s f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_{b+m}\Psi} g \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}$$

Applications of Lemma 3.11 on each weighted norm piece then imply that $\|D^s\Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ itself is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b,m\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \left(\frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N(1+|m|)^{n+s}}\right)^{r^*} \|D^s f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}.$$

For N sufficiently large, the sum in $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ converges, and the sum in $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ converges due to the hypothesis that $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$ in the statement of Theorem 1.3. Thus, $\|D^s \Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} \lesssim \|D^s f\|_{L^p(v)}^{r^*} \|g\|_{L^q(w)}^{r^*}$, which concludes case 1 for Π_3 . **Case 2:** $q = \infty, p = r, 1 . In this case, we desire to show that, for <math>v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|D^s \Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^p(v)} \lesssim \|D^s f\|_{L^p(v)} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

We begin by applying Lemma 3.10 to obtain

$$\|D^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g)\|_{L^{p}(v)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{k}^{\Psi} D^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}.$$
(3.30)

Fix $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $\Delta_k^{\Psi} D^s \Pi_3(f,g)$ corresponds with $T_{\widetilde{o}_3[k]}(D^s f,g)$, where

$$\widetilde{o}_{3}[k](\xi,\eta) = \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] N^{3}[j,a,b](\xi,\eta)$$

with $N^3[j, a, b]$ as defined in (3.29). It is easily verified that, due to the support of $\widehat{\Psi}$, the summation over $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ needs only run over $j \ge k-3$. With this in mind, and expanding $N^3[j, a, b]$ using its definition, we see that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{o_{3}}[k](\xi,\eta) \\ &= \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \sum_{j \geq k-3} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \frac{|\xi+\eta|^{s}}{|\xi|^{s}} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= \left[2^{ks} \left| 2^{-k}(\xi+\eta) \right|^{s} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \right] \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \\ &\times \sum_{j \geq k-3} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \left[2^{-js} \left| 2^{-j}\xi \right|^{-s} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \right] \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= 2^{ks} \widehat{D^{s}\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \\ &\times \sum_{j \geq k-3} 2^{-js} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \mathcal{F}[D^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta). \end{split}$$

With this representation in mind for the multiplier $\tilde{o}_3[k]$, we see that $|\Delta_k^{\Psi} D^s \Pi_3(f,g)(x)| = |T_{\tilde{o}_3[k]}(D^s f,g)(x)|$ is bounded by

$$2^{ks} \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j \ge k-3} 2^{-js} |\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]| \cdot \left| \Delta_k^{D^s \Psi} \left[(\Delta_j^{D^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g) \right](x) \right|.$$

By an application of Hölder's inequality on the ℓ^1 -norm in $j \ge k-3$, we see that $\left|\Delta_k^{\Psi} D^s \Pi_3(f,g)(x)\right|$

is further bounded by

$$2^{ks} \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \left(\sum_{j \ge k-3} 2^{-2js}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left(\sum_{j \ge k-3} |\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]|^2 \cdot \left|\Delta_k^{D^s\Psi} \left[(\Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a\Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b\Psi} g) \right] \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Using the facts that the coefficients C[j, a, b] are uniformly bounded and $\sum_{j \ge k-3} (2^{-2s})^j \sim 2^{-2sk}$, we obtain

$$\left|\Delta_{k}^{\Psi}D^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g)(x)\right| \lesssim \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \left(\sum_{j\geq k-3} \left|\Delta_{k}^{D^{s}\Psi}\left[\left(\Delta_{j}^{D^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi}D^{s}f\right)\cdot\left(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g\right)\right]\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Substituting back into (3.30) and applying the triangle inequality for Lebesgue space norms and Minkowski's integral inequality (see Section B.2), we see that $\|D^s\Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^p(v)}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \left\| \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_k^{D^s\Psi} \left[(\Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a\Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b\Psi} g) \right] \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)},$$

If we were able to bound the $L^p(v)$ -norm piece above by something of the form $||D^s f||_{L^p(v)} ||g||_{L^{\infty}}$, the case would be complete, since the sum in $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ converges for sufficiently large N. First, we apply Lemma 3.12 with $\{T_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} = \{\Delta_k^{D^s\Psi}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ and r = 2, which is possible since (3.14) holds with r = 2 by Lemma 3.9, implying that the $L^p(v)$ -norm piece is bounded by

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| (\Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} D^s f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} D^s f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} D^s f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} D^s f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{T^{-s}} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{D^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} D^s f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{T^{-s}} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \Delta_j^{T^{-s}} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \Delta_j^{T^{-s}} g \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\|_{L^\infty(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \Delta_j^{T^{-s}} g \right\|_{L^\infty(v)} \le \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}$$

Finally, we may bound the supremum above by $\|g\|_{L^\infty}$ since

$$\left\|\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g\right\|_{L^{\infty}} = \left\|\left[2^{jn}\tau_{b}\Psi(2^{j}\cdot)\right]*g\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \left\|2^{jn}\tau_{b}\Psi(2^{j}\cdot)\right\|_{L^{1}}\left\|g\right\|_{L^{\infty}} = \left\|\Psi\right\|_{L^{1}}\left\|g\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \sim \left\|g\right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(3.31)

where we have used Hölder's inequality and we note that the above string of inequalities is independent of $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, and we bound the $L^p(v)$ -norm piece by $\|D^s f\|_{L^p(v)}$ using Lemma 3.11, thus concluding this case.

Case 3: $p = \infty$, q = r, $1 < q < \infty$. In this last case, we desire to show that, for $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|D^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g)\|_{L^{q}(w)} \lesssim \|D^{s}f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)}.$$

We follow the exact procedure from case 2 (replacing $L^{p}(v)$ with $L^{q}(w)$) until we see that we may complete the case by verifying

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| (\Delta_j^{D^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^q(w)} \lesssim \| D^s f \|_{L^\infty} \| g \|_{L^q(w)} \,.$$

Similar to the arguments made in case 2, we have

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| (\Delta_j^{D^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} D^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^q(w)} \leq \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{D^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} D^s f \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^q(w)}$$

We bound the $L^q(w)$ -norm piece by $\|g\|_{L^q(w)}$ using Lemma 3.11, and we bound the supremum by $\|D^s f\|_{L^{\infty}}$, using the fact that, independent of $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\begin{split} \left| \Delta_{j}^{D^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi} D^{s}f(x) \right| &= \left| [2^{jn}D^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi(2^{j}\cdot)] * D^{s}f(x) \right| \\ &\leq \left\| 2^{jn}D^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi(2^{j}\cdot) \right\|_{L^{1}} \|D^{s}f\|_{L^{\infty}} = \left\| D^{-s}\Psi \right\|_{L^{1}} \|D^{s}f\|_{L^{\infty}} \,. \end{split}$$

Finally, the case and the proof of the homogeneous estimates are concluded by noting that $\|D^{-s}\Psi\|_{L^1} < \infty$ since, in view of the support of $\widehat{\Psi}$, $\widehat{D^{-s}\Psi} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

3.4.3 Inhomogeneous estimates

In this final subsection, we seek to prove the inhomogeneous estimates given by (1.5). As in Subsection 3.4.2, we begin by noting that

$$\begin{split} \|J^{s}(T_{\sigma}(f,g))\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \\ \lesssim \|J^{s}\Pi_{1}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} + \|J^{s}\Pi_{2}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} + \|J^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}, \end{split}$$

and our goal reduces to verifying the desired result for the Π_1 (which also represents the Π_2 piece) and Π_3 pieces. We begin with the Π_1 piece, whose treatment will be very similar to the Π_1 piece in Subsection 3.4.2. $J^s\Pi_1$ is a bilinear multiplier operator, whose associated multiplier o'_1 is given by

$$o_1'(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b](1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\tau_a \Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_b \Phi}(2^{-j}\eta)$$

We see that $J^s\Pi_1(f,g)(x) = T_{\widetilde{o_1}'}(J^sf,g)(x)$, where

$$\widetilde{o_1}'(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} \widehat{\tau_a \Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_b \Phi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

Again, we may apply Theorem 3.16 to obtain the desired estimates in the Π_1 case, for it can be verified that $\tilde{o_1}'$ satisfies (3.1) for any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ (using techniques similar to those used to prove Lemma B.1). Theorem 3.16 then yields

$$\|J^{s}\Pi_{1}(f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} = \|T_{\widetilde{o_{1}}'}(J^{s}f,g)\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim \|J^{s}f\|_{l^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)}.$$

As in the homogeneous case, the restriction on s in the statement of Theorem 1.3 was not needed with the Π_1 piece.

We now consider the Π_3 case. Similar to the calculations in the Π_1 case, it can be reasoned

that $J^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g) = T_{\widetilde{o}_{3'}}(J^{s}f,g)$, where

$$\widetilde{o_3}'(\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} \widehat{\tau_a \Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_b \Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

If s > 2n + 1 or $s \in 2\mathbb{N}_0$, then similar to the $\tilde{o_1}'$ case, we can show that $\tilde{o_3}'$ satisfies the hypotheses on the multiplier in Theorem 3.16, so an application of this theorem takes care of these values of s. Thus, it remains to analyze Π_3 in the general case $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$, which we split further into three separate cases, just as in the proof of the homogeneous results. In each case, it will be necessary to decompose $\tilde{o_3}'$ as follows:

$$\widetilde{o_3}'(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^N} \left[\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b](\xi,\eta) + \widetilde{o_3}^-[a,b](\xi,\eta) \right],$$

where

$$\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b](\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_a\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_b\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta),$$
$$\widetilde{o_3}^-[a,b](\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} \sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_a\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_b\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

Since

$$J^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g) = T_{\tilde{o}_{3}'}(J^{s}f,g) = \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^{2}+|b|^{2})^{N}} \left[T_{\tilde{o}_{3}}+[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) + T_{\tilde{o}_{3}}-[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right],$$

we see that $\|J^s\Pi_3(f,g)\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*}$ is bounded by

$$\sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|a|^2+|b|^2)^{Nr^*}} \left[\left\| T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]}(J^sf,g) \right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} + \left\| T_{\widetilde{o_3}^-[a,b]}(J^sf,g) \right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^*} \right].$$

If we are able to obtain bounds of the form

$$\left\| T_{\widetilde{o_3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^s f,g) \right\|_{L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim P^+(|a|,|b|) \left\| J^s f \right\|_{L^p(v)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^q(w)},$$

$$\left\| T_{\widetilde{o}_{3}^{-}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})} \lesssim P^{-}(|a|,|b|) \left\| J^{s}f \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{q}(w)}$$

where P^+ and P^- are polynomial functions, the result would be complete by taking N sufficiently large to counteract the polynomial growth and ensure convergence in $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

Finally, before breaking into separate cases, define $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via $\widehat{\varphi} \coloneqq \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-7} \cdot)$ (so that $\widehat{\varphi}$ is identically 1 on $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 8\}$ and is supported within $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 32\}$). Also, define the multiplier operator J_j^t for $j \in \mathbb{N}_0, t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via

$$\widehat{J_j^t f}(\xi) \coloneqq (2^{-2j} + |\xi|^2)^{\frac{t}{2}} \widehat{f}(\xi).$$

Case 1: $\frac{1}{2} < r < \infty$, $1 < p, q < \infty$. For this case, we will find that $P^+ = P^- \equiv 1$. We first treat $\tilde{o_3}^+[a,b](\xi,\eta)$. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, it is easily verified that $\hat{\varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi+\eta)) = 1$ within the support of $\hat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\hat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$, so

$$\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b](\xi,\eta) = \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi+\eta))\widehat{\tau_a\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_b\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

Consider the identity

$$\frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} = \frac{(2^{-2j}+|2^{-j}(\xi+\eta)|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(2^{-2j}+|2^{-j}\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}},$$

along with the fact $\widehat{\Psi}\equiv\widehat{\psi}\widehat{\Psi},$ which yield

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{o_{3}}^{+}[a,b](\xi,\eta) &= \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \left[(2^{-2j} + \left| 2^{-j}(\xi+\eta) \right|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi+\eta)) \right] \\ &\times \left[(2^{-2j} + \left| 2^{-j}\xi \right|^2)^{-\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \right] \widehat{\tau_a \Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_b \Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \widehat{J_j^s \varphi}(2^{-j}(\xi+\eta)) \widehat{J_j^{-s} \psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_a \Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_b \Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \end{split}$$

Since both $\widehat{J_j^s \varphi}$ and $\widehat{J_j^{-s} \psi}$ are compactly supported, we may consider the Fourier series expansions of periodic extensions of each. Suppose h is large enough so that each function

is supported within $H = [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}]^n$, then

$$\widehat{J_j^s \varphi}(2^{-j}\omega) = \left[\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \widetilde{c^s}[m, j] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h} 2^{-j} \omega \cdot m} \right] \chi_H(2^{-j}\omega),$$
$$\widehat{J_j^{-s} \psi}(2^{-j}\omega) = \left[\sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}^n} c^{-s}[\mu, j] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h} 2^{-j} \omega \cdot \mu} \right] \chi_H(2^{-j}\omega),$$

where

$$\widetilde{c}^{s}[m,j] = \frac{1}{h^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (2^{-2j} + |\zeta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\varphi}(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}\zeta \cdot m} d\zeta,$$
$$c^{-s}[\mu,j] = \frac{1}{h^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (2^{-2j} + |\zeta|^{2})^{-\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\psi}(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}\zeta \cdot \mu} d\zeta.$$

With these Fourier series coefficients in mind, define

$$\widetilde{b^s}[m] \coloneqq \sup_{j \ge 0} \left| \widetilde{c^s}[m, j] \right| \quad \text{ and } \quad b^{-s}[\mu] \coloneqq \sup_{j \ge 0} \left| c^{-s}[\mu, j] \right|$$

We note decay properties associated with these coefficients given by $\tilde{b}^s[m] = \mathcal{O}((1+|m|)^{-n-s})$ (Grafakos-Oh [30, Lemma 2]) and $b^{-s}[\mu] = \mathcal{O}((1+|\mu|)^{-K})$ for any K > 0 (Grafakos-Oh [30, Lemma 3]). Replacing $\widehat{J_j^s \varphi}$ and $\widehat{J_j^{-s} \psi}$ with their Fourier series representations and using property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform, we see that

$$\widetilde{o}_{3}^{*+}[a,b](\xi,\eta)$$

$$=\sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \left[\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \widetilde{c}^{s}[m,j] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\hbar}2^{-j}(\xi+\eta)\cdot m}\right] \left[\sum_{\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{-s}[\mu,j] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\hbar}2^{-j}\xi\cdot \mu}\right] \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$$

$$=\sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \widetilde{c}^{s}[m,j] c^{-s}[\mu,j] \mathcal{F}[\tau_{a+m+\mu}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \mathcal{F}[\tau_{b+m}\Psi](2^{-j}\eta).$$

Using this representation for the multiplier $\tilde{o_3}^+[a,b]$, we have

$$T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]}(J^s f,g)(x) = \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \widetilde{c^s}[m,j]c^{-s}[\mu,j] \left[\left(\Delta_j^{\tau_{a+m+\mu}\Psi} J^s f\right) \cdot \left(\Delta_j^{\tau_{b+m}\Psi} g\right) \right](x).$$

Taking absolute values, and using the fact that $\mathcal{C}[j, a, b]$ are bounded uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$, along with the formulas given above for $\tilde{b^s}[m]$ and $b^{-s}[\mu]$, we see that

$$\left| T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]}(J^s f,g)(x) \right| \lesssim \sum_{m,\mu \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \widetilde{b^s}[m] b^{-s}[\mu] \sum_{j \ge 0} \left| \left[(\Delta_j^{\tau_{a+m+\mu}\Psi} J^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_{b+m}\Psi} g) \right](x) \right|$$

To wrap things up with $\tilde{o}_3^+[a,b]$, we have

$$\begin{split} T_{\widetilde{o_{3}}^{*}+[a,b]}(f,g) \Big\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} &\leq \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\widetilde{b^{s}}[m]^{r^{*}}b^{-s}[\mu]^{r^{*}} \left\|\sum_{j\geq0}\left|[\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}+m+\mu\Psi}J^{s}f]\cdot[\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}+m\Psi}g]\right|\Big\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} \\ &\leq \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\widetilde{b^{s}}[m]^{r^{*}}b^{-s}[\mu]^{r^{*}} \left\|\left(\sum_{j\geq0}\left|\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}+m+\mu\Psi}J^{s}f\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}} \left\|\left(\sum_{j\geq0}\left|\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}+m\Psi}g\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\widetilde{b^{s}}[m]^{r^{*}}b^{-s}[\mu]^{r^{*}} \left\|J^{s}f\right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}} \\ &\lesssim \left\|J^{s}f\right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}}, \end{split}$$

where in the second inequality we have applied Hölder's inequality twice (first on the ℓ^1 -norm in $j \ge 0$, then on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm), in the third inequality we have used Lemma 3.11, and in the last inequality we have used the decay properties of $\tilde{b^s}[m]$ and $b^{-s}[\mu]$ (where for $\tilde{b^s}[m]$ we require the hypothesis that $s > \max\{0, n(\frac{1}{r} - 1)\}$ for convergence, and for $b^{-s}[\mu]$ we use $b^{-s}[\mu] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |\mu|)^{-K})$ with K sufficiently large).

We now consider $\widetilde{o_3}^{-}[a, b]$. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ with j < 0, it is easily verified that $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi + \eta) = \widehat{\varphi}(\xi) = 1$ within the support of $\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$, so

$$\widetilde{o_{3}}^{-}[a,b](\xi,\eta) = \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}}\widehat{\varphi}(\xi+\eta)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)\sum_{j<0}\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$$
$$=\widehat{J^{s}\varphi}(\xi+\eta)\widehat{J^{-s}\varphi}(\xi)\sum_{j<0}\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$
(3.32)

Since $\widehat{J^s\varphi}$ and $\widehat{J^{-s\varphi}}$ are compactly supported, say within $H = \left[-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}\right]$ where h is large enough

to contain the support of both functions, we may consider the Fourier series expansions of periodic extensions of both functions:

$$\widehat{J^{s}\varphi}(\omega) = \left[\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}\omega \cdot m}\right] \chi_{H}(\omega), \qquad \widehat{J^{-s}\varphi}(\omega) = \left[\sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{-s}[\mu] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}\omega \cdot \mu}\right] \chi_{H}(\omega),$$

where

$$c^{s}[m] = \frac{1}{h^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1 + |\zeta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\varphi}(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h} \zeta \cdot m} \, d\zeta, \qquad c^{-s}[\mu] = \frac{1}{h^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1 + |\zeta|^{2})^{-\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\varphi}(\zeta) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h} \zeta \cdot \mu} \, d\zeta,$$

and $c^{s}[m] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |m|)^{-K}), c^{-s}[\mu] = \mathcal{O}((1 + |\mu|)^{-K})$ for any K > 0 by (A.1) (replace $m, \mu \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}$ by continuous variables so we regard c^{s}, c^{-s} as continuous functions defined on \mathbb{R}^{n} ; then $c^{s}, c^{-s} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ are the inverse Fourier transforms of the smooth and compactly supported functions $(1 + |\cdot|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}\widehat{\varphi}, (1 + |\cdot|^{2})^{-\frac{s}{2}}\widehat{\varphi} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$. We replace $\widehat{J^{s}\varphi}$ and $\widehat{J^{-s}\varphi}$ with their Fourier series expansions and use property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform to obtain

$$\widetilde{o_{3}}^{-}[a,b](\xi,\eta) = \left[\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\hbar}(\xi+\eta)\cdot m}\right] \left[\sum_{\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{-s}[\mu] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\hbar}\xi\cdot\mu}\right] \sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$$
$$= \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m] c^{-s}[\mu] \sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \mathcal{F}[\tau_{a+2^{j}(m+\mu)}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \mathcal{F}[\tau_{b+2^{j}m}\Psi](2^{-j}\eta).$$

With this representation for the multiplier $\tilde{o_3}^{-}[a, b]$, we have

$$T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{-}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g)(x) = \sum_{m,\mu \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m]c^{-s}[\mu] \sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \left[\left(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a+2^{j}(m+\mu)}\Psi} J^{s}f\right) \cdot \left(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b+2^{j}m}\Psi}g\right) \right](x).$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{-}[a,b]}(f,g) \right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} \\ &\leq \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} |c^{s}[m]|^{r^{*}} \left| c^{-s}[\mu] \right|^{r^{*}} \left\| \sum_{j<0} \left| [\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a+2j}(m+\mu)\Psi} J^{s}f] \cdot [\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b+2j}m\Psi}g] \right| \right\|_{L^{r}(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})}^{r^{*}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} |c^{s}[m]|^{r^{*}} \left| c^{-s}[\mu] \right|^{r^{*}} \left\| \left(\sum_{j<0} \left| \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a+2j}(m+\mu)\Psi} J^{s}f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}} \left\| \left(\sum_{j<0} \left| \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b+2j}m\Psi}g \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m,\mu\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} |c^{s}[m]|^{r^{*}} \left| c^{-s}[\mu] \right|^{r^{*}} \left\| J^{s}f \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| J^{s}f \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{r^{*}} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{r^{*}} \end{split}$$

where in the first inequality we have used the fact that the coefficients C[j, a, b] are bounded uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, in the second inequality we have applied Hölder's inequality twice (first on the ℓ^1 -norm in j > 0, then on the $L^r(v^{\frac{r}{p}}w^{\frac{r}{q}})$ -norm), in the third inequality we have used Lemma 3.11 on each piece, and in the final inequality we have used the decay properties of $c^s[m]$ and $c^{-s}[\mu]$, thus concluding our analysis of $\tilde{o_3}^{-}[a, b]$ and completing case 1.

Case 2: $q = \infty$, p = r, $1 . We begin by considering <math>\tilde{o_3}^+[a, b]$, in which case our goal is to show that, for $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\| T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]}(J^s f,g) \right\|_{L^p(v)} \lesssim P^+(|a|,|b|) \left\| J^s f \right\|_{L^p(v)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

where P^+ is a polynomial function. An application of Lemma 3.10 gives

$$\left\| T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{k}^{\Psi} T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}.$$
(3.33)

Fix $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, then we see that $\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]}(J^s f,g)$ corresponds with $T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[k,a,b]}(J^s f,g)$, where

$$\widetilde{o_3}^+[k,a,b](\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_a\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_b\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta).$$

Due to the support of $\widehat{\Psi}$, it is easily verified that we may adjust the summation in $\widetilde{o_3}^+[k, a, b]$ to run over $j \ge \max\{0, k-3\}$.

We now analyze $\tilde{o_3}^+[k, a, b]$, first for the case $k \ge 3$, so that $\max\{0, k-3\} = k-3$, and

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{o_{3}}^{+}[k,a,b](\xi,\eta) \\ &= \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}}\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta))\sum_{j\geq k-3}\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= \left[2^{ks}\left|(2^{-2k}+\left|2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)\right|^{2}\right|^{\frac{s}{2}}\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta))\right] \\ &\quad \times \sum_{j\geq k-3}\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\left[2^{-js}(2^{-2j}+\left|2^{-j}\xi\right|^{2})^{-\frac{s}{2}}\widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\right]\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= 2^{ks}\widehat{J_{k}^{s}\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta))\sum_{j\geq k-3}2^{-js}\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\mathcal{F}[J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta). \end{split}$$

With this representation for the multiplier $\tilde{o}_3^+[k, a, b]$, and since $\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\tilde{o}_3^+[a, b]} = T_{\tilde{o}_3^+[k, a, b]}$, we then obtain

$$\left|\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\widetilde{o}_3^+[a,b]}(J^s f,g)(x)\right| \le 2^{ks} \sum_{j\ge k-3} 2^{-js} \left|\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\right| \left|\Delta_k^{J_k^s \Psi} \left[\left(\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} J^s f\right) \cdot \left(\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g\right) \right](x)\right|.$$

Through an application of Hölder's inequality on ℓ^1 -norm in $j \ge k-3$ and by recalling that $\mathcal{C}[j, a, b]$ is bounded uniformly in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$, we see that

$$\left|\Delta_{k}^{\Psi}T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g)(x)\right| \lesssim 2^{ks} \left(\sum_{j\geq k-3} 2^{-2js}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{j\geq k-3} \left|\Delta_{k}^{J_{k}^{s}\Psi}\left[\left(\Delta_{j}^{J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi}J^{s}f\right) \cdot \left(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g\right)\right](x)\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Further, we have $\sum_{j \ge k-3} 2^{-2js} \sim 2^{-2ks}$, so that

$$\left|\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\widetilde{o_3}^*[a,b]}(J^s f,g)(x)\right| \lesssim \left(\sum_{j\geq k-3} \left|\Delta_k^{J_k^s \Psi} \left[(\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} J^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g) \right](x) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \forall k\geq 3.$$

Next, we analyze $\tilde{o_3}^+[k, a, b]$ for k < 3, in which case $\max\{0, k - 3\} = 0$. For k < 3, it is easily verified that $\hat{\varphi}$ is identically 1 within the support of $\widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}\cdot)$, so

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{o_{3}}^{+}[k,a,b](\xi,\eta) \\ &= \frac{(1+|\xi+\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}}{(1+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}}} \widehat{\varphi}(\xi+\eta) \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= \left[(1+|\xi+\eta|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\varphi}(\xi+\eta) \right] \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \\ &\qquad \times \sum_{j\geq 0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \left[2^{-js}(2^{-2j}+|2^{-j}\xi|^{2})^{-\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\tau_{a}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \right] \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta) \\ &= \widehat{J^{s}\varphi}(\xi+\eta) \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-k}(\xi+\eta)) \sum_{j\geq 0} 2^{-js} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b] \mathcal{F}[J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{b}\Psi}(2^{-j}\eta). \end{split}$$

Since $\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]} = T_{\widetilde{o_3}^+[k,a,b]}$, we have

$$\left|\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\tilde{o}_3^{+}[a,b]}(J^s f,g)(x)\right| \leq \sum_{j\geq 0} 2^{-js} \left|\mathcal{C}[j,a,b]\right| \left|S_0^{J^s\varphi} \Delta_k^{\Psi} \left[(\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s}\tau_a\Psi} J^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b\Psi} g) \right](x) \right|.$$

By applying Hölder's inequality on the ℓ^1 -norm in $j \ge 0$, using the uniform bound on $\mathcal{C}[j, a, b]$ in $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and using that $\sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-2js} \sim 1$, we obtain

$$\left|\Delta_k^{\Psi} T_{\tilde{o_3}^+[a,b]}(J^s f,g)(x)\right| \lesssim \left(\sum_{j\geq 0} \left|S_0^{J^s\varphi} \Delta_k^{\Psi} \left[(\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s}\tau_a\Psi} J^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b\Psi} g) \right](x)\right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \forall k < 3.$$

We now combine results from the $k \ge 3$ case and the k < 3 case to finish our analysis of

 $\widetilde{o_3}^+[a,b]$. Returning our attention to (3.33), we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_{\tilde{o3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{k\geq 3} \left| \Delta_{k}^{\Psi} T_{\tilde{o3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} + \left\| \left(\sum_{k\leq 2} \left| \Delta_{k}^{\Psi} T_{\tilde{o3}^{+}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{k\geq 3} \sum_{j\geq k-3} \left| \Delta_{k}^{J_{k}^{s}\Psi} \left[(\Delta_{j}^{J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi} J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi} g) \right] \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ &+ \left\| \left(\sum_{k\leq 2} \sum_{j\geq 0} \left| S_{0}^{J^{s}\varphi} \Delta_{k}^{\Psi} \left[(\Delta_{j}^{J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi} J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi} g) \right] \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}, \end{split}$$

where in the first inequality, we have used the triangle inequality twice, first on the ℓ^2 -norm, then on the $L^p(v)$ -norm. To handle the two summands following the final inequality above, we will use a few lemmas introduced in Subsection 3.2.2. We begin with an application of Lemma 3.15 (with u = 0 and r = 2) to see that the first summand is bounded by some constant (independent of $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$) multiplied by

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \ge 0} \left| \left(\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} J^s f \right) \cdot \left(\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(v)}.$$

$$(3.34)$$

For the second summand, we apply Lemma 3.12 with $\{T_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} = \{S_0^{J^s\varphi}\Delta_k^{\Psi}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}, \{f_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} = \{(\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s}\tau_a\Psi}J^sf) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b\Psi}g)\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}_0}$, and r = 2 to obtain that the summand is also bounded by some constant (independent of $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^n$) multiplied by (3.34). To apply Lemma 3.12, we must verify that $\{S_0^{J^s\varphi}\Delta_k^{\Psi}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ satisfies (3.14) with r = 2. For $\Theta \in L^2(\omega)$ and $\omega \in A_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we see that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| S_0^{J^s \varphi} \Delta_k^{\Psi} \Theta \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^2(\omega)} = \left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_k^{\Psi} (S_0^{J^s \varphi} \Theta) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^2(\omega)} \lesssim \left\| S_0^{J^s \varphi} \Theta \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}$$

by Lemma 3.9. Finally, $S_0^{J^s\varphi}$ is a bounded operator on $L^2(\omega)$ (verified as follows), so that

 $\{S_0^{J^s\varphi}\Delta_k^{\Psi}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ satisfies (3.14) as desired. Indeed, we actually have that $S_0^{J^s\varphi}$ is a bounded operator on $L^{\rho}(\nu)$ for any s > 0, $1 < \rho \leq \infty$, and $\nu \in A_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, since $|(J^s\varphi) * \Theta(x)| \leq |\mathcal{M}(\Theta)(x)|$ by (3.4) and \mathcal{M} is a bounded operator on $L^{\rho}(\nu)$.

Having bounded both summands by a term of the form (3.34), we continue from the string on inequalities above to conclude the $\tilde{o_3}^+[a,b]$ case:

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_{\widetilde{o}_{3}^{+}[a,b]}(f,g) \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j\geq 0} \left| (\Delta_{j}^{J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi}J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ & \leq \sup_{j\geq 0} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j\geq 0} \left| \Delta_{j}^{J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi}J^{s}f \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{p}(v)}, \end{split}$$

where the supremum is bounded by $||g||_{L^{\infty}}$ due to (3.31) and the $L^{p}(v)$ -norm piece is bounded by $||J^{s}f||_{L^{p}(v)}$ due to Lemma 3.14 (and all implicit constants are independent of $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}$).

We now move on to the consider the $\tilde{o}_3^{-}[a, b]$ case, for which we must verify that, for $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\| T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{-}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \lesssim P^{-}(|a|,|b|) \left\| J^{s}f \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

where P^- is a polynomial function. Using (3.32), we obtain

$$T_{\tilde{o}_{3}^{-}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g)(x) = S_{0}^{J^{s}\varphi} \left[\sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}\Psi}S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g)] \right](x).$$

We note that, by the reasoning following (3.34), both $S_0^{J^s\varphi}$ and $S_0^{J^{-s\varphi}}$ are bounded operators on $L^p(v)$. Further, the symbol $\sum_{j<0} C[j,a,b] \widehat{\tau_a \Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_b \Psi}(2^{-j}\eta)$ satisfies (3.1) for $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ such that $|\alpha + \beta| \leq 2n + 1$ with constants $C_{a,b} \leq (1 + |a|)^{2n+1}(1 + |b|)^{2n+1}C'$, which may be seen by considering property (A.3.3) of the Fourier transform and techniques similar to those used in the proof of Lemma B.1. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_{\tilde{o}\tilde{3}^{-}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} &= \left\| S_{0}^{J^{s}\varphi} \left[\sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}\Psi}S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g)] \right] \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}\Psi}S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g)] \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \\ &\lesssim (1+|a|)^{2n+1}(1+|b|)^{2n+1} \left\| S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f \right\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\lesssim (1+|a|)^{2n+1}(1+|b|)^{2n+1} \|J^{s}f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}}, \end{split}$$

where in the second line we have used the boundedness of $S_0^{J^s\varphi}$ on $L^p(v)$, in the third line we have used the uniform boundedness of $\mathcal{C}[j, a, b]$ and applied Theorem 3.16, and in the last line we have used the boundedness of $S_0^{J^{-s}\varphi}$ on $L^p(v)$. This then concludes our analysis of $\widetilde{O}_3^{-}[a, b]$ and subsequently case 2.

Case 3: $p = \infty, q = r, 1 < q < \infty$. In this final case, we must show that, for $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|J^{s}\Pi_{3}(f,g)\|_{L^{q}(w)} \lesssim \|J^{s}f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)},$$

In the $\tilde{o}_3^+[a,b]$ case, we follow the exact calculations from case 2 until the final set of inequalities, replacing $L^p(v)$ -norms with $L^q(w)$ -norms. A slight alteration to the last chain of inequalities yields

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_{\widetilde{o_3}^* + [a,b]}(f,g) \right\|_{L^q(w)} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \ge 0} \left| (\Delta_j^{J_j^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} J^s f) \cdot (\Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g) \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^q(w)} \\ & \le \sup_{j \ge 0} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{J_j^{-s} \tau_a \Psi} J^s f \right\|_{L^\infty} \right\} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \ge 0} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_b \Psi} g \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^q(w)}, \end{split}$$

where the $L^{q}(w)$ -norm piece is bounded by $\|g\|_{L^{q}(w)}$ due to Lemma 3.14 and the supremum is bounded by $\|J^{s}f\|_{L^{\infty}}$ (justified as follows), and all implicit constants are independent of $a,b\in\mathbb{Z}^n.$ By Young's inequality, we have

$$\left\|\Delta_{j}^{J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi}J^{s}f\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \left\|2^{jn}J_{j}^{-s}\tau_{a}\Psi(2^{j}\cdot)\right\|_{L^{1}}\left\|J^{s}f\right\|_{L^{\infty}} = \left\|J_{j}^{-s}\Psi\right\|_{L^{1}}\left\|J^{s}f\right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

so that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{j\geq 0} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_j^{J_j^{-s}\tau_a \Psi} J^s f \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \right\} &\leq \sup_{j\geq 0} \left\{ \left\| J_j^{-s} \Psi \right\|_{L^1} \right\} \| J^s f \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sup_{j\geq 0} \left| J_j^{-s} \Psi(x) \right| \, dx \right) \| J^s f \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{dx}{(1+|x|)^K} \right) \| J^s f \|_{L^{\infty}} \end{split}$$

for any K > 0 (see Grafakos-Oh [30, Lemma 3]). Taking K large enough ensures that the integral in the final line is finite.

All that remains is to consider the $\tilde{o}_3^-[a, b]$ case. Again, we follow the calculations from case 2 until the final set of inequalities, then conclude with

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_{\tilde{o}\tilde{\mathbf{3}}^{-}[a,b]}(J^{s}f,g) \right\|_{L^{q}(w)} &= \left\| S_{0}^{J^{s}\varphi} \left[\sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}\Psi}S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g)] \right] \right\|_{L^{q}(w)} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \sum_{j<0} \mathcal{C}[j,a,b][(\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{a}\Psi}S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f) \cdot (\Delta_{j}^{\tau_{b}\Psi}g)] \right\|_{L^{q}(w)} \\ &\lesssim (1+|a|)^{2n+1}(1+|b|)^{2n+1} \left\| S_{0}^{J^{-s}\varphi}J^{s}f \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \\ &\lesssim (1+|a|)^{2n+1}(1+|b|)^{2n+1} \|J^{s}f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{q}(w)} \,, \end{split}$$

where in the second and last lines we have used the boundedness of $S_0^{J^s\varphi}$ and $S_0^{J^{-s}\varphi}$ on $L^q(w)$ and $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, respectively, and in the third line we have applied Theorem 3.16 (with the same justification as given in case 2 at that step). This wraps up our analysis on $\tilde{o}_3^{-}[a,b]$, thus concluding case 3 and completing all inhomogeneous estimates.

Bibliography

- R. Aulaskari, J. Xiao, and Zhao R. H. On subspaces and subsets of BMOA and UBC. Analysis, 15(2):101–121, 1995.
- [2] H. Bahouri, J.-Y. Chemin, and R. Danchin. Fourier analysis and nonlinear partial differential equations, volume 343 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [3] A. Bényi. Bilinear pseudodifferential operators with forbidden symbols on Lipschitz and Besov spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 284(1):97–103, 2003.
- [4] Á. Bényi, F. Bernicot, D. Maldonado, V. Naibo, and R. H. Torres. On the Hörmander classes of bilinear pseudodifferential operators II. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 62(6):1733– 1764, 2013.
- [5] A. Bényi, D. Maldonado, V. Naibo, and R. H. Torres. On the Hörmander classes of bilinear pseudodifferential operators. *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 67(3):341– 364, 2010.
- [6] A. Bényi, A. R. Nahmod, and R. H. Torres. Sobolev space estimates and symbolic calculus for bilinear pseudodifferential operators. J. Geom. Anal., 16(3):431–453, 2006.
- [7] Å. Bényi and R. H. Torres. Symbolic calculus and the transposes of bilinear pseudodifferential operators. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 28(5-6):1161–1181, 2003.
- [8] A. Bényi and R. H. Torres. Almost orthogonality and a class of bounded bilinear pseudodifferential operators. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 11(1):1–11, 2004.
- [9] J. Bourgain and D. Li. On an endpoint Kato-Ponce inequality. Differential Integral Equations, 27(11-12):1037–1072, 2014.

- [10] J. Brummer and V. Naibo. Weighted fractional Leibniz-type rules for bilinear multiplier operators. *Potential Anal.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s11118-018-9703-9.
- [11] J. Brummer and V. Naibo. Bilinear operators with homogeneous symbols, smooth molecules, and Kato-Ponce inequalities. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 146(3):1217–1230, 2018.
- [12] D. Chae. On the well-posedness of the Euler equations in the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 55(5):654–678, 2002.
- [13] J. Chen and G. Lu. Hörmander type theorems for multi-linear and multi-parameter Fourier multiplier operators with limited smoothness. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 101:98–112, 2014.
- [14] M. Christ and M. Weinstein. Dispersion of small amplitude solutions of the generalized Korteweg-de Vries equation. J. Funct. Anal., 100(1):87–109, 1991.
- [15] R. Coifman and Y. Meyer. Au delà des opérateurs pseudo-différentiels, volume 57 of Astérisque. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 1978. With an English summary.
- [16] D. Cruz-Uribe, J. M. Martell, and C. Pérez. Extrapolation from A_{∞} weights and applications. J. Funct. Anal., 213(2):412–439, 2004.
- [17] D. Cruz-Uribe and V. Naibo. Kato-Ponce inequalities on weighted and variable Lebesgue spaces. *Differential Integral Equations*, 29(9-10):801–836, 2016.
- [18] G. David and J.-L. Journé. A boundedness criterion for generalized Calderón-Zygmund operators. Ann. of Math. (2), 120(2):371–397, 1984.
- [19] Y. Ding, Y. Han, G. Lu, and X. Wu. Boundedness of singular integrals on multiparameter weighted Hardy spaces H^p_w ($\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m$). Potential Anal., 37(1):31–56, 2012.
- [20] J. Duoandikoetxea. Fourier analysis, volume 29 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001. Translated and revised from the 1995 Spanish original by David Cruz-Uribe.

- [21] M. Essén, S. Janson, L. Peng, and J. Xiao. Q spaces of several real variables. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 49(2):575–615, 2000.
- [22] C. Fefferman and E. M. Stein. Some maximal inequalities. Amer. J. Math., 93:107–115, 1971.
- [23] R. Fefferman and E. M. Stein. Singular integrals on product spaces. Adv. in Math., 45(2):117–143, 1982.
- [24] M. Frazier and B. Jawerth. Decomposition of Besov spaces. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 34(4):777–799, 1985.
- [25] M. Frazier and B. Jawerth. A discrete transform and decompositions of distribution spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 93(1):34–170, 1990.
- [26] L. Grafakos. Classical Fourier analysis, volume 249 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, third edition, 2014.
- [27] L. Grafakos. Modern Fourier analysis, volume 250 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, third edition, 2014.
- [28] L. Grafakos, D. Maldonado, and V. Naibo. A remark on an endpoint Kato-Ponce inequality. *Differential Integral Equations*, 27(5-6):415–424, 2014.
- [29] L. Grafakos and J. Martell. Extrapolation of weighted norm inequalities for multivariable operators and applications. J. Geom. Anal., 14(1):19–46, 2004.
- [30] L. Grafakos and S. Oh. The Kato-Ponce inequality. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 39(6):1128–1157, 2014.
- [31] L. Grafakos and R. H. Torres. Pseudodifferential operators with homogeneous symbols. Michigan Math. J., 46(2):261–269, 1999.
- [32] L. Grafakos and R. H. Torres. Maximal operator and weighted norm inequalities for multilinear singular integrals. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 51(5):1261–1276, 2002.

- [33] L. Grafakos and R. H. Torres. Multilinear Calderón-Zygmund theory. Adv. Math., 165(1):124–164, 2002.
- [34] A. Gulisashvili and M. Kon. Exact smoothing properties of Schrödinger semigroups. Amer. J. Math., 118(6):1215–1248, 1996.
- [35] J. Hart, R. H. Torres, and X. Wu. Smoothing properties of bilinear operators and Leibniz-type rules in Lebesgue and mixed Lebesgue spaces. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* https://doi.org/10.1090/tran/7312.
- [36] J. Herbert and V. Naibo. Bilinear pseudodifferential operators with symbols in Besov spaces. J. Pseudo-Differ. Oper. Appl., 5(2):231–254, 2014.
- [37] J. Herbert and V. Naibo. Besov spaces, symbolic calculus, and boundedness of bilinear pseudodifferential operators. In *Harmonic analysis, partial differential equations, complex analysis, Banach spaces, and operator theory. Vol. 1*, volume 4 of Assoc. Women Math. Ser., pages 275–305. Springer, [Cham], 2016.
- [38] J.-L. Journé. Two problems of Calderón-Zygmund theory on product-spaces. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 38(1):111–132, 1988.
- [39] T. Kato and G. Ponce. Commutator estimates and the Euler and Navier-Stokes equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 41(7):891–907, 1988.
- [40] C. Kenig. On the local and global well-posedness theory for the KP-I equation. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 21(6):827–838, 2004.
- [41] C. Kenig, G. Ponce, and L. Vega. Well-posedness and scattering results for the generalized Korteweg-de Vries equation via the contraction principle. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 46(4):527–620, 1993.
- [42] K. Koezuka and N. Tomita. Bilinear pseudo-differential operators with symbols in BS^m_{1,1} on Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 24(1):309–319, 2018.

- [43] D. Kurtz. Littlewood-Paley and multiplier theorems on weighted L^p spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 259(1):235–254, 1980.
- [44] M. Lacey and J. Metcalfe. Paraproducts in one and several parameters. Forum Math., 19(2):325–351, 2007.
- [45] A. Lerner, S. Ombrosi, C. Pérez, R. H. Torres, and R. Trujillo-González. New maximal functions and multiple weights for the multilinear Calderón-Zygmund theory. Adv. Math., 220(4):1222–1264, 2009.
- [46] N. Michalowski, D. Rule, and W. Staubach. Multilinear pseudodifferential operators beyond Calderón-Zygmund theory. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 414(1):149–165, 2014.
- [47] A. Miyachi and N. Tomita. Bilinear pseudo-differential operators with exotic symbols. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble). https://arxiv.org/abs/1801.06744.
- [48] A. Miyachi and N. Tomita. Calderón-Vaillancourt-type theorem for bilinear operators. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 62(4):1165–1201, 2013.
- [49] A. Miyachi and N. Tomita. Bilinear pseudo-differential operators with exotic symbols, II. Preprint, 2018. https://arxiv.org/abs/1801.06745.
- [50] C. Muscalu, J. Pipher, T. Tao, and C. Thiele. Bi-parameter paraproducts. Acta Math., 193(2):269–296, 2004.
- [51] C. Muscalu, J. Pipher, T. Tao, and C. Thiele. Multi-parameter paraproducts. *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.*, 22(3):963–976, 2006.
- [52] C. Muscalu and W. Schlag. Classical and multilinear harmonic analysis. Vol. II, volume 138 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.
- [53] V. Naibo. On the bilinear Hörmander classes in the scales of Triebel-Lizorkin and Besov spaces. J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 21(5):1077–1104, 2015.

- [54] V. Naibo. On the L[∞] × L[∞] → BMO mapping property for certain bilinear pseudodifferential operators. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 143(12):5323–5336, 2015.
- [55] V. Naibo and A. Thomson. Bilinear Hörmander classes of critical order and Leibniz-type rules in Besov and local Hardy spaces. *Preprint*, 2017.
- [56] V. Naibo and A. Thomson. Coifman-Meyer multipliers: Leibniz-type rules and applications to scattering of solutions to PDEs. *Preprint*, 2018.
- [57] B. H. Qui. Weighted Besov and Triebel spaces: interpolation by the real method. *Hiroshima Math. J.*, 12(3):581–605, 1982.
- [58] S. Rodríguez-López and W. Staubach. Estimates for rough Fourier integral and pseudodifferential operators and applications to the boundedness of multilinear operators. J. Funct. Anal., 264(10):2356–2385, 2013.
- [59] T. Runst and W. Sickel. Sobolev spaces of fractional order, Nemytskij operators, and nonlinear partial differential equations, volume 3 of De Gruyter Series in Nonlinear Analysis and Applications. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1996.
- [60] V. Rychkov. Littlewood-Paley theory and function spaces with A_p^{loc} weights. *Math.* Nachr., 224:145–180, 2001.
- [61] Y. Sawano, D. Yang, and W. Yuan. New applications of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 363(1):73–85, 2010.
- [62] R. Strichartz. Multipliers on fractional Sobolev spaces. J. Math. Mech., 16:1031–1060, 1967.
- [63] H. Triebel. Theory of function spaces. II, volume 84 of Monographs in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1992.
- [64] H. Triebel. Theory of function spaces. III, volume 100 of Monographs in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.

- [65] H. Triebel. Theory of function spaces. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2010. Reprint of 1983 edition [MR0730762], Also published in 1983 by Birkhäuser Verlag [MR0781540].
- [66] J. Xiao. Homothetic variant of fractional Sobolev space with application to Navier-Stokes system. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ., 4(3):227–245, 2007.
- [67] J. Xiao. Homothetic variant of fractional Sobolev space with application to Navier-Stokes system revisited. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ., 11(2):167–181, 2014.
- [68] D. Yang and W. Yuan. A new class of function spaces connecting Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and Q spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 255(10):2760–2809, 2008.
- [69] D. Yang and W. Yuan. New Besov-type spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces including Q spaces. Math. Z., 265(2):451–480, 2010.

Appendix A

A Glossary for Notation

A.1 Frequently used notation

For the following quick definitions, let $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$:

\mathbb{Z}	set of integers
\mathbb{N}	set of positive integers
\mathbb{N}_0	set of non-negative integers
\mathbb{R}	set of real numbers
\mathbb{C}	set of complex numbers
x	$\sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \dots + x_n^2}$
$ \alpha $	$\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \dots + \alpha_n$
x^{α}	$x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \dots x_n^{\alpha_n}$
$\partial_{x_j}^k f(x)$	the k-th partial derivative of $f(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ with respect to x_j
$\partial^{\alpha} f(x)$	$\partial_{x_1}^{\alpha_1}\partial_{x_2}^{\alpha_2}\dots\partial_{x_n}^{\alpha_n}f(x)$
k!	$k(k-1)\dots 2\cdot 1$ for $k\in\mathbb{N}$ (and $0!=1$)
$\alpha!$	$\alpha_1! \cdot \alpha_2! \dots \alpha_n!$
$\binom{\alpha}{\beta}$	$\frac{\alpha!}{\beta!(\alpha-\beta)!}$ for multi-indices $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$
B(x,r)	the Euclidean ball of radius $r > 0$ centered at x
S^n the *n*-dimensional unit sphere; the boundary of $B(0,1) \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$

- $\langle f, g \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) \overline{g(x)} \, dx$
- $\tau_u f(x) \quad f(x+u) \text{ for any } u \in \mathbb{R}^n$
- $a \lesssim b$ $a \leq Cb$, where C > 0 may depend on some parameters, but not on functions or parameters being tracked
- $a \sim b$ $a \lesssim b$ and $b \lesssim a$

A.2 Function spaces

For more detailed background and results relating to the following function spaces, see for example Grafakos [27, Chapters 1-3]:

Space of smooth functions. The space $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the set of complex-valued infinitely differentiable functions defined on \mathbb{R}^n .

Lebesgue spaces. For $0 , we define the <math>L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm of a function f (which is actually a quasi-norm if p < 1) via

$$\|f\|_{L^p} \coloneqq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

where dx denotes the standard *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure, and we define the $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ norm via

$$||f||_{L^{\infty}} \coloneqq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)| = \inf\{K > 0 : d_K(f) = 0\}$$

where $d_K(f)$ denotes the standard Lebesgue measure of $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |f(x)| > K\}$. We then denote $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to be the space of all functions with finite $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -norm, where we consider two functions equal if they differ on a set of Lebesgue measure zero. By virtue of being a norm, it is well known that the triangle inequality holds for $1 \le p \le \infty$, implying for $f, g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ that $||f + g||_{L^p} \le ||f||_{L^p} + ||g||_{L^p}$.

By replacing \mathbb{R}^n with \mathbb{Z} and the standard Lebesgue measure with the counting measure in the definition for $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ above, we obtain the Lebesgue sequence space ℓ^p . Specifically, this space consists of all sequences $\{x_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset \mathbb{C}$ with finite ℓ^p -norm, defined for 0via

$$\|\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^p} \coloneqq \left(\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} |x_n|^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

and for $p = \infty$ via

$$\|\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{\infty}} \coloneqq \sup_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} |x_n|.$$

Schwartz class. The space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the set of functions in $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ which decrease rapidly at infinity. Specifically, $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if for every $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$,

$$\rho_{\alpha,\beta}(f) \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left| x^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} f(x) \right| < \infty.$$

The set $\{\rho_{\alpha,\beta}\}_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0^n}$ form a collection of seminorms on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ through which we may define a notion of convergence within $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $\{f_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \subset \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we say that the sequence f_j converges to $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if $\rho_{\alpha,\beta}(f_j - f) \xrightarrow[j\to\infty]{} 0$ for every $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$. An equivalent characterization of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ may be given as follows: $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there exists some constant $\widetilde{C}_{\alpha,N} > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|\partial^{\alpha} f(x)| \le \frac{\widetilde{C}_{\alpha,N}}{(1+|x|)^N}.$$
(A.1)

Thus, the Schwartz class is the collection of all smooth functions which decay faster than the reciprocal of any polynomial at infinity. We give a few examples of Schwartz class functions below.

- Any smooth function with compact support lies in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, since such functions vanish at infinity.
- The function $e^{-|x|^2}$ is in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, despite not being compactly supported.
- Suppose $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. It is easily verified that $\partial^{\alpha} f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for any multi-index $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ and that $\mathcal{P}f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for any polynomial function \mathcal{P} defined on \mathbb{R}^n . Further, by the Leibniz rule for differentiation, $fg \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n+m})$ for any $g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^m)$.

Finally, we verify a useful property about Schwartz class functions. Given $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we show that

$$|\tau_u f(x)| \le \widetilde{C}_{0,N} \left(\frac{1+|u|}{1+|x|}\right)^N.$$
 (A.2)

Since $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we see that

$$|\tau_u f(x)| = |f(x+u)| \le \frac{\hat{C}_{0,N}}{(1+|x+u|)^N}.$$

We need only show that $\frac{1+|u|}{1+|x|}$ is a majorant of $\frac{1}{1+|x+u|}$. Indeed, by the triangle inequality, we see that $1+|x| \le 1+|x+u|+|u| \le (1+|u|)(1+|x+u|)$ so that

$$\frac{1}{1+|x+u|} = \frac{1+|u|}{(1+|u|)(1+|x+u|)} \le \frac{1+|u|}{1+|x|}.$$

Space of tempered distributions. The space $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the dual of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, that is, the space of all continuous linear functionals on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $T \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we denote its action on a given test function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via $T(\varphi)$. Convergence in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined as expected for the dual of a function space: for $\{T_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \subset \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $T_j \xrightarrow{j\to\infty} T$ if $T \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $T_j(\varphi) \xrightarrow{j\to\infty} T(\varphi)$ for every $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We give a few examples of distributions below, defined for $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$:

- The Dirac mass at a point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is denoted $\delta_{x_0} \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and defined as $\delta_{x_0}(\varphi) := \varphi(x_0)$.
- Any $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, can be identified with a tempered distribution $T_f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by defining $T_f(\varphi) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)\varphi(x) dx$.
- Any finite Borel measure μ can be identified with a tempered distribution $T_{\mu} \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by defining $T_{\mu}(\varphi) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) \, d\mu(x)$.

We make the following definitions associated to a tempered distribution $T \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ acting on a test function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$:

- Define a notion of derivatives for tempered distributions via $[\partial^{\alpha}T](\varphi) \coloneqq (-1)^{|\alpha|}T(\partial^{\alpha}\varphi)$ for any multi-index $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}$.
- Define a notion of the Fourier transform for tempered distributions via $\widehat{T}(\varphi) \coloneqq T(\widehat{\varphi})$ and $[\mathcal{F}^{-1}T](\varphi) \coloneqq T(\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi).$

Sobolev spaces. For $0 and <math>s \in \mathbb{R}$, the spaces $\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denote the homogeneous and inhomogeneous Sobolev spaces, respectively, where the corresponding function space norms (or quasi-norms, if p < 1) are defined via

$$||f||_{\dot{W}^{s,p}} \coloneqq ||D^s f||_{L^p}$$
 and $||f||_{W^{s,p}} \coloneqq ||J^s f||_{L^p}$.

Through certain parallels involving the Sobolev function space norms, we may think of the operators D^s and J^s as taking s derivatives of a function. Specifically, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$, it is well-known that $f \in \dot{W}^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $\sum_{|\alpha|=k} \|\partial^{\alpha}f\|_{L^p} < \infty$ (so that all k-th order derivatives are in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$), while $f \in W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $\sum_{|\alpha|\leq k} \|\partial^{\alpha}f\|_{L^p} < \infty$ (so that all derivatives up to order k are in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$).

Hardy spaces. Let $0 and <math>\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) dx \neq 0$. The space $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the Hardy space, having function space norm given by

$$\left\|f\right\|_{H^p} \coloneqq \left\|\sup_{t>0} |\varphi_t * f|\right\|_{L^p},$$

where $\varphi_t(x) := t^{-n}\varphi(x/t)$. We note that different choices of $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ yield equivalent norms and that $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for 1 .

Space of bounded mean oscillation. The space $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the space of all locally integrable functions for which the supremum of their mean oscillations over cubes in \mathbb{R}^n is finite, measured via

$$\|f\|_{BMO} \coloneqq \sup_{Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q |f(x) - f_Q| \, dx < \infty,$$

where |Q| denotes the volume of Q and f_Q is the average of f on the cube Q, that is

 $f_Q \coloneqq \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q |f(x)| dx$. We also note that $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is the dual vector space of the Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

A.3 Fourier analysis background

Fourier coefficients and series. Suppose that $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ is periodic of period h, that is to say f(x) = f(x + h) for any $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Define the Fourier series expansion of f by $\sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}} c[a] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}ax}$, where $\{c[a]\}_{a \in \mathbb{Z}}$ are the corresponding Fourier series coefficients, defined by

$$c[a] = \frac{1}{h} \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} f(y) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}ay} \, dy.$$

Now suppose that f is a continuous compactly-supported function defined on \mathbb{R}^n , say with compact support inside $H = \left[-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}\right]^n$ for some h > 0 large enough. By extending f periodically and iterating the formula for the Fourier series expansion of a function defined on \mathbb{R} given above, we obtain the following pointwise equality:

$$f(x) = \left(\sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}^n} c[a] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h} a \cdot x}\right) \chi_H(x),$$

where

$$c[a] = \frac{1}{h^n} \int_H f(y) e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{h}a \cdot y} \, dy.$$

Fourier transform on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For a function $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, define its Fourier transform by

$$\widehat{f}(\xi) = \mathcal{F}[f](\xi) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) e^{-2\pi i \xi \cdot x} dx.$$

The definition of the Fourier transform is extended to $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by duality (see Section A.2). Note that \mathcal{F} is a bijection on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and an isometry on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover,

$$f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d\xi, \quad \forall f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Many other convenient properties hold for the Fourier transform as well, listed below for $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$:

- (A.3.1) $\mathcal{F}[af+bg] = a\widehat{f} + b\widehat{g}$ for constants $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$
- (A.3.3) $\widehat{\tau_u f}(\xi) = e^{2\pi i u \cdot \xi} \widehat{f}(\xi)$ for any $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$

(A.3.2) $\mathcal{F}[f * g] = \widehat{f} \cdot \widehat{g}$

(A.3.4)
$$\mathcal{F}[f(\frac{1}{t}\cdot)](\xi) = t^n \widehat{f}(t\xi)$$
 for any $t > 0$

(A.3.5) $\frac{\partial \hat{f}}{\partial \xi_j}(\xi) = -2\pi i \mathcal{F}[x_j f(x)](\xi) \text{ for } 1 \le j \le n, \text{ which implies } \partial^{\alpha} \hat{f}(\xi) = (-2\pi i)^{|\alpha|} \mathcal{F}[(\cdot)^{\alpha} f](\xi)$ for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$

(A.3.6)
$$\mathcal{F}[\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j}](\xi) = 2\pi i \xi_j \widehat{f}(\xi)$$
 for $1 \le j \le n$, which implies $\widehat{\partial^{\alpha} f}(\xi) = (2\pi i)^{|\alpha|} \xi^{\alpha} \widehat{f}(\xi)$

For further Fourier analysis background information, including proofs of many of the statements above, see for example Duoandikoetxea [20, Chapter 1] or Grafakos [26, Chapters 2 and 3].

A.4 Auxiliary functions and associated operators

While determining paraproduct decompositions in various situations throughout the manuscript, certain operators will frequently appear, which we define as follows. Given $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ whose Fourier transform is supported in an annulus, we define the family of operators $\{\Delta_j^{\Psi}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ by

$$\widehat{\Delta_j^{\Psi} f}(\xi) \coloneqq \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(A.3)

where $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Similarly, for $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ whose Fourier transform does not vanish at the origin and is supported in a ball centered at the origin, we define the family of operators $\{S_j^{\Phi}\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ by

$$\widehat{S_j^{\Phi}f}(\xi) \coloneqq \widehat{\Phi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(A.4)

The operator Δ_j^{Ψ} acts to effectively zero out all but a specific band of frequencies of order 2^j of the function to which it is applied, while S_j^{Φ} isolates all frequencies of order below 2^j .

Specific instances of auxiliary functions $\Psi, \Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying the support conditions mentioned above will also be useful throughout proofs in the manuscript. Fix a real-valued $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Psi}) \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} < |\xi| < 2\},\tag{A.5}$$

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) = 1, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}.$$
(A.6)

Having fixed such a Ψ , we define $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via

$$\widehat{\Phi}(\xi) \coloneqq \begin{cases} 1, & \xi = 0, \\ \sum_{j < -2} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi), & \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}. \end{cases}$$
(A.7)

Obtaining Ψ satisfying (A.5) and (A.6) can be done in a straightforward manner. For example, take any real-valued $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ which is non-negative, radial, decreasing, and for which $\varphi|_{B(0,\frac{1}{2})} \equiv 1$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subseteq B(0,1)$. By defining

$$\widehat{\Psi}(\xi) \coloneqq \varphi(\xi/2) - \varphi(\xi),$$

it is easily verified that Ψ satisfies (A.5) and (A.6). Further, it may be verified that Φ , as defined in (A.7), has a Fourier transform which does not vanish at the origin and is supported in a ball centered at the origin:

$$\widehat{\Phi}\Big|_{B(0,\frac{1}{16})} \equiv 1, \qquad \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Phi}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < \frac{1}{4}\}.$$
(A.8)

We will also require functions $\psi, \phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ relating to Ψ and Φ as defined above satisfying

$$\left. \widehat{\psi} \right|_{\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Psi})} \equiv 1, \qquad \left. \widehat{\phi} \right|_{\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\Phi})} \equiv 1,$$
(A.9)

and satisfying

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} < |\xi| < 2\}, \quad \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\phi}) \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < \frac{1}{4}\}.$$
(A.10)

A.5 Pseudodifferential operator background

We give a few specific examples of symbols and the bilinear pseudodifferential operators with which they are associated, all of which may be verified using properties in Section A.3:

- If σ is independent of both ξ and η , that is, $\sigma(x,\xi,\eta) = \sigma(x)$, then $T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) = \sigma(x)f(x)g(x)$. Of particular note is the symbol $\sigma \equiv 1$, for which $T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) = f(x)g(x)$. In discussing Leibniz-type rule results relating to bilinear pseudodifferential operators, we can often obtain results more reminiscent to (1.1) and (1.2) by considering the symbol $\sigma \equiv 1$, so that $T_{\sigma}(f,g)$ appears as pointwise multiplication.
- If σ is a multiplier of the form $\sigma(\xi, \eta) = \xi^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta}$ for multi-indices $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$, then

$$T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{|\alpha+\beta|}} (\partial^{\alpha} f)(x) (\partial^{\beta} g)(x).$$

That is, products of derivatives of functions may be expressed via bilinear pseudodifferential operators with the right choice of symbol.

• Combining the previous two examples, we note that if σ is of the form

$$\sigma(x,\xi,\eta) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} K_{\alpha,\beta}(x)\xi^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta},$$

where the sum is taken over some finite set of multi-indices, then

$$T_{\sigma}(f,g)(x) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \frac{K_{\alpha,\beta}(x)}{(2\pi i)^{|\alpha+\beta|}} (\partial^{\alpha} f)(x) (\partial^{\beta} g)(x).$$

Remark A.5.1. Definition 1.1 is naturally motivated by the analogous definition for linear pseudodifferential operators which act on a single function, as we examine in this remark. For $m(x,\xi)$ a complex-valued, smooth function defined for $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the linear pseudodifferential operator associated to m is defined via

$$T_m(f)(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m(x,\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The following identity holds for $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$:

$$T_m(fg)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m(x,\xi) \widehat{fg}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m(x,\xi) [\widehat{f} * \widehat{g}](\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d\xi$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m(x,\xi) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \widehat{f}(\xi - \eta) \widehat{g}(\eta) d\eta \right] e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} m(x,\xi + \eta) \widehat{f}(\xi) \widehat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot (\xi + \eta)} d\xi d\eta,$$

where in the second equality we have used property (A.3.2) of the Fourier transform, and in the last equality we did a change of variables $\xi \mapsto \xi + \eta$. Thus, we may recover the action of any linear pseudodifferential operator acting on a product of functions using an appropriate bilinear pseudodifferential operator: $T_m(fg) = T_\sigma(f,g)$ where $\sigma(x,\xi,\eta) := m(x,\xi+\eta)$.

A.6 Littlewood-Paley theory background

We briefly introduce Littlewood-Paley theory, from which many techniques and results will be useful throughout discussions of our main results. Littlewood-Paley theory is built upon the idea of decomposing a function into a sum of functions with localized frequencies using the operators Δ_j^{Ψ} defined in (A.3). One way to obtain such a localization is by considering square functions:

DEFINITION A.1. The square function associated with a family of Littlewood-Paley operators $\{\Delta_j^{\Psi}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is defined by

$$f \mapsto \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left|\Delta_j^{\Psi} f\right|^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

Another aspect of Littlewood-Paley theory concerns itself with relating the size of a

function to the strength of the frequencies from which it is built. For functions in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there is a straightforward relationship:

Theorem A.2 (Plancherel theorem). The Fourier transform is an isometry on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, that is, for any $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|f\|_{L^2} = \|\widehat{f}\|_{L^2}.$$

However, for functions in general $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, no such simple isometry holds. The following theorem serves as somewhat of an analog for $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functions, relating the sizes of a function and its corresponding square function as in Definition A.1:

Theorem A.3 (Littlewood-Paley theorem). Let $1 and <math>\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (A.5). Then for any $f \in L^p$,

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{\Psi} f \right|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^p} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p} \,.$$

If in addition Ψ satisfies (A.6), then the reverse inequality is true, that is,

$$\|f\|_{L^p} \lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{\Psi} f \right|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^p}$$

Theorem A.3 serves as a basis for many square function-type estimates we will find useful in proving results throughout the manuscript. For more extensive background on Littlewood-Paley theory, including a proof of this result, see for example Duoandikoetxea [20, Chapter 8] or Grafakos [26, Chapter 6].

Appendix B

Useful Results

B.1 Proofs of various lemmas

Lemma B.1. Let $\sigma \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, and let $\theta \in S(\mathbb{R})$ be real-valued satisfying (2.5). Then $\sigma^1, \sigma^2 \in \dot{BS}_{1,1}^m$, where

$$\sigma^1(x,\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sigma(x,\xi,\eta) \theta\left(\frac{|\eta|}{|\xi|}\right) \quad and \quad \sigma^2(x,\xi,\eta) \coloneqq \sigma(x,\xi,\eta) \theta\left(\frac{|\xi|}{|\eta|}\right).$$

Proof. We consider only the σ^1 case, as the σ^2 case follows analogously. Fix $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$. We wish to show that

$$\left|\partial_x^{\gamma}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}\sigma^1(x,\xi,\eta)\right| \lesssim \frac{1}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha+\beta|-|\gamma|-m}}, \quad \forall (x,\xi,\eta) \neq (0,0,0).$$

where the implicit constant may depend on the multi-indices involved. Due to (2.5), θ is constant on $B(0, \frac{1}{2}) \cup (\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0, 2))$, so the result clearly holds within $\{(x, \xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{3n} : \frac{|\eta|}{|\xi|} < \frac{1}{2}$ or $\frac{|\eta|}{|\xi|} > 2\}$. Thus, we restrict our attention to $\{(x, \xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{3n} : \frac{1}{2} |\xi| \le |\eta| \le 2 |\xi|\}$, a region wherein $|\xi| \sim |\eta|$. By an application of the Leibniz rule for differentiation, we see that $\partial_x^{\gamma} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} \sigma^1(x, \xi, \eta)$ may be expressed as a linear combination of terms of the form

$$\partial_x^{\gamma} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_1} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta_1} \sigma(x,\xi,\eta) \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta_2} \tau(\xi,\eta), \qquad \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \alpha, \beta_1 + \beta_2 = \beta,$$

where $\tau(\xi, \eta) \coloneqq \theta(\frac{|\eta|}{|\xi|})$. Note that $\tau(\lambda\xi, \lambda\eta) = \tau(\xi, \eta)$ for any $\lambda > 0$, which implies that for any $\alpha_2, \beta_2 \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$,

$$\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_2}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta_2}\tau(\xi,\eta)=\lambda^{|\alpha_2+\beta_2|}[\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_2}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta_2}\tau](\lambda\xi,\lambda\eta),\qquad\forall\lambda>0.$$

Taking $\lambda = |(\xi, \eta)|^{-1}$, we then have

$$\begin{split} \left|\partial_x^{\gamma}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta}\sigma^{1}(x,\xi,\eta)\right| &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}=\alpha\\\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\beta}} \left|\partial_x^{\gamma}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_{1}}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta_{1}}\sigma(x,\xi,\eta)\right| \frac{\left|\left[\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta_{2}}\tau\right]\left(\frac{(\xi,\eta)}{|(\xi,\eta)|}\right)\right|}{|(\xi,\eta)|^{|\alpha_{2}+\beta_{2}|}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}=\alpha\\\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\beta}} \frac{1}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha_{1}+\beta_{2}|-|\gamma|-m}} \frac{\left|\left[\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}}\partial_{\eta}^{\beta_{2}}\tau\right]\left(\frac{(\xi,\eta)}{|(\xi,\eta)|}\right)\right|}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha_{2}+\beta_{2}|}} \\ &\sim \frac{1}{(|\xi|+|\eta|)^{|\alpha+\beta|-|\gamma|-m}}, \end{split}$$

where in the second line we have used (2.3) and the fact that $|(\xi,\eta)| \sim |\xi| + |\eta|$, and in the last line we have used the fact that $\tau(\xi,\eta)$ is smooth away from the ξ - and η -axes by definition, and therefore, $\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta_2} \tau$ is bounded on the compact subset of the unit sphere $\{(\xi,\eta) \in S^{2n-1} : \frac{1}{2} |\xi| \leq |\eta| \leq 2 |\xi|\}$, the closure of which is disjoint from the ξ - and η -axes.

Lemma B.2. Let $v \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $w \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for some $1 < p, q < \infty$ with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r}$. Then $v^{\theta_1}w^{\theta_2} \in A_{\max\{p,q\}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for any $0 < \theta_1, \theta_2 < 1$ with $\theta_1 + \theta_2 = 1$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we suppose $p \ge q$. By standard nesting properties of Muckenhoupt weights, $w \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see, for example, Grafakos [26]). To satisfy Definition 3.7, we desire to show that

$$\sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} v(x)^{\theta_{1}} w(x)^{\theta_{2}} dx \right) \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} (v(x)^{\theta_{1}} w(x)^{\theta_{2}})^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} dx \right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Consider the first piece in parentheses, which by an application of Hölder's inequality (see Section B.2) and the fact that $\theta_1 + \theta_2 = 1$ yields

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} v(x)^{\theta_{1}} w(x)^{\theta_{2}} \, dx &\leq \frac{1}{|Q|^{\theta_{1}+\theta_{2}}} \left(\int_{Q} (v(x)^{\theta_{1}})^{\frac{1}{\theta_{1}}} \, dx \right)^{\theta_{1}} \left(\int_{Q} (w(x)^{\theta_{2}})^{\frac{1}{\theta_{2}}} \, dx \right)^{\theta_{2}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} v(x) \, dx \right)^{\theta_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} w(x) \, dx \right)^{\theta_{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Similar calculations on the second piece in parentheses give

$$\left(\frac{1}{|Q|}\int_{Q} (v(x)^{\theta_{1}}w(x)^{\theta_{2}})^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} dx\right)^{p-1} \le \left(\frac{1}{|Q|}\int_{Q} v(x)^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} dx\right)^{(p-1)\theta_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|}\int_{Q} w(x)^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} dx\right)^{(p-1)\theta_{2}} dx$$

Finally, we obtain the desired result by noting that v and w are both in $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof of Lemma 3.9. For part (a), see Rychkov [60, Proposition 1.9] (see also Kurtz [43]); part (b) is a consequence of part (a), Lemma 3.13, and a duality argument (see also Fefferman-Stein [23, pp. 128–129]).

Proof of Lemma 3.10. Part (a) follows from the facts that if $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ has integral 1 and $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then $|f| \leq \sup_{t>0} \left| \frac{1}{t^n} \Phi(\frac{\cdot}{t}) * f \right|$ pointwise, and

$$\left\|\sup_{t>0} \left|\frac{1}{t^n} \Phi\left(\frac{\cdot}{t}\right) * f\right|\right\|_{L^p(w)} \sim \left\|\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\Delta_k^{\Psi} f\right|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^p(w)}$$

for $0 and <math>w \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see Qui [57, Theorem 1.4] for such norm equivalence). Part (b) was proved in Ding et al. [19, Theorem 3.5] for 0 ; the case <math>p > 1follows from the latter along with an extrapolation result on A_{∞} weights (see Cruz-Uribe-Martell-Pérez [16, Theorem 2.1] with $p_0 = p$ for any 0 and the family of functions $<math>\mathscr{F} = \left\{ f, \left(\sum_{j_1, j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{j_1}^{\Psi_1} \Delta_{j_2}^{\Psi_2} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\}_{f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Proof of Lemma 3.11. For part (a), see Cruz-Uribe-Naibo[17, Theorem 2.1]; part (b) is a

consequence of part (a) and Lemma 3.13.

Proof of Lemma 3.12. The case p = r is easily verified:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_k(f_j)|^2 \right)^{\frac{r}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\|_{L^r(w)}^r &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_k(f_j)(x)|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right]^r w(x) \, dx \\ &= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_k(f_j)|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^r(w)}^r \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| f_j \right\|_{L^r(w)}^r \\ &= \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |f_j|^r \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\|_{L^r(w)}^r, \end{aligned}$$

where in the third inequality we have used (3.14), which is independent of f_j . The $p \neq r$ case follows from the latter case and extrapolation (see, for example, Duoandikoetxea [20, Theorem 7.8]).

Proof of Lemma 3.13. This is an immediate consequence of Lemma 3.12 with an iteration of norms. We have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(\sum_{j_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_{j_1}^1 T_{j_2}^2(f)|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w)}^p &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n_2}} \left\| \left(\sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_{j_2}^2 f(\cdot, x_2)|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1}, w(\cdot, x_2))}^p dx_2 \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n_1}} \left\| \left(\sum_{j_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} |T_{j_2}^2 f(x_1, \cdot)|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n_2}, w(x_1, \cdot))}^p dx_1 \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n_1}} \| f(x_1, \cdot) \|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n_2}, w(x_1, \cdot))}^p dx_1 \\ &= \| f \|_{L^p(w)} \,, \end{split}$$

where in the first line we have applied Lemma 3.12 with r = 2 (which is applicable due to

(3.15) and the fact that $w(\cdot, x_2) \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_1})$ uniformly in $x_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_2}$, and in the third line we have used (3.16), noting again that $w(x_1, \cdot) \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^{n_2})$ uniformly in $x_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1}$.

Proof of Lemma 3.14. As reasoned in (A.10), consider $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (A.5) and such that $\widehat{\psi}\widehat{\Psi} = \widehat{\Psi}$. For $s \in \mathbb{R}, j \in \mathbb{N}$, and $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u}J_{j}^{s}\Psi}f(x) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{2\pi i (2^{-j}\xi) \cdot u} (2^{-2j} + \left|2^{-j}\xi\right|^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \widehat{J_{j}^{s}\psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\tau_{u}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi, \end{split}$$

where $\widehat{J_j^s \psi}(\xi) = (2^{-2j} + |\xi|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} \widehat{\psi}(\xi)$. Let $\{c^s[m, j]\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$ be the Fourier series coefficients of the periodic extension of $\widehat{J_j^s \psi} \chi_H$, where $H = [-\frac{h}{2}, \frac{h}{2}]^n$ with h large enough so that $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subset H$. By Grafakos-Oh [30, Lemma 3], it follows that $\sup_{j \ge 0} |c^s[m, j]| = \mathcal{O}((1 + |m|)^{-K})$ for any $K \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, we get

$$\begin{split} \left| \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u}J_{j}^{s}\Psi}f(x) \right| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m,j] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{h}(2^{-j}\xi) \cdot m} \right) \widehat{\tau_{u}\Psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m,j] \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathcal{F}[\tau_{u+\frac{m}{h}}\Psi](2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} c^{s}[m,j] \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u+\frac{m}{h}}\Psi}f(x) \right| \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|m|)^{K}} \left| \Delta_{j}^{\tau_{u+\frac{m}{h}}\Psi}f(x) \right|, \end{split}$$

where we have used property (A.3.3) from Section A.3 in the second equality. Therefore,

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_u J_j^s \Psi} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|m|)^K} \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_j^{\tau_{u+\frac{m}{h}} \Psi} f \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^p(w)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p(w)} \,,$$

where we have applied the triangle inequality for weighted Lebesgue spaces, Lemma 3.11, and assumed K > n to ensure convergence in the sum in $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

Proof of Lemma 3.15. We merely apply Lemma 3.12, noting that (3.14) holds by Lemma 3.14.

B.2 Known results

Theorem B.3 (Hölder's inequality). Let $1 \leq p, q \leq \infty$ satisfy $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. The for all $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $g \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$||fg||_{L^1} \le ||f||_{L^p} \, ||g||_{L^q}.$$

Theorem B.4 (Young's inequality). Let $1 \le p, q, r \le \infty$ satisfy $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1 + \frac{1}{r}$. Then for all $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $g \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

$$\|f * g\|_{L^r} \le \|f\|_{L^p} \, \|g\|_{L^q} \, .$$

Theorem B.5 (Minkowski's integral inequality). Let $0 < p_1, p_2 < \infty$, and suppose (S_1, μ_1) and (S_2, μ_2) are two σ -finite measure spaces with $F : S_1 \times S_2 \to \mathbb{R}$ measurable. Then

$$\left(\int_{S_2} \left|\int_{S_1} F(x,y)^{p_1} d\mu_1(x)\right|^{\frac{p_2}{p_1}} d\mu_2(y)\right)^{\frac{1}{p_2}} \le \left[\int_{S_1} \left(\int_{S_2} |F(x,y)|^{p_2} d\mu_2(y)\right)^{\frac{p_1}{p_2}} d\mu_1(x)\right]^{\frac{1}{p_1}}$$